
saferbromley 

partnership 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

To: Members of the  
 

safersafersafersaferbromley partnershipbromley partnershipbromley partnershipbromley partnership    

STRATEGIC GROUP 

 Councillor Tim Stevens J.P. (Chairman) 
 Stephanie Roberts, (Borough Police Commander) (Vice-Chairman) 

 

 Rob Clarke, (London Probation Service) 
James Cleverly, (Police and Crime Commitee, Greater London Authority) 
Nigel Davies, (LBB Director, Environmental Services) 
Clive Davison, (LBB Assistant Director, Public Protection) 
Sarah Denton, (Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime) 
Selene Grandison, (SE London Probation Service) 
Andrew Holcombe, (Borough Commander, Fire Services) 
Colin Maclean, (Community Links Bromley) 
Ulanta Messeter, (Magistrates Court) 
Paula Morrison, (Assistant Director, Public Health) 
Colin Newman, (LBB Head of Community Safety) 
Jo Oakley, (Deputy Borough Commander) 
Howard Oldstein, (The Glades) 
Doug Patterson, (LBB Chief Executive) 
Lulu Pearce, (Ethnic Communities Programme Manager) 
Tracy Pidgeon, (London Ambulance Service) 
Gill Rose, (Federation of Bromley Housing Associations) 
Jamie Roumph, (Affinity Sutton) 
Paula Tucker, (UK Border Agency) 
Non Voting Members: Councillor Reg Adams and Councillor Julian Benington 

 
 A meeting of the Safer Bromley Partnership Strategic Group will be held at 

Committee Rooms, Bromley Civic Centre on THURSDAY 28 JUNE 2012 at 10.00 
am  

 
A G E N D A 

 

1  
  

CONFIRMATION OF CHAIRMAN 2012/13  

2  
  

INTRODUCTIONS / APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

Contact for this Agenda: Kerry Nicholls 

Tel: 020 8313 4602 
E-mail: kerry.nicholls@bromley.gov.uk 
London Borough of Bromley 
21 June 2012 



 
 

3  
  

MINUTES OF LAST MEETING / MATTERS ARISING (Pages 5 - 12) 

4  
  

CHAIRMAN'S UPDATE (VERBAL REPORT)  

5  
  

BOROUGH COMMANDER UPDATE (VERBAL REPORT)  

6  
  

PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT REPORT (FULL YEAR - 2011-2012) (Pages 13 - 
24) 
 

7  
  

PERFORMANCE TARGETS 2012/2013 (Pages 25 - 26) 

8  
  

A MULTI-AGENCY APPROACH TO TACKLING GANGS IN BROMLEY (PART 1) 
(Pages 27 - 28) 
 

9  
  

TACKLING TROUBLED FAMILIES PROGRAMME (Pages 29 - 34) 

10  
  

ARSON REDUCTION STRATEGY BROMLEY BOROUGH 2012 (Pages 35 - 38) 

11  
  

PUTTING VICTIMS FIRST - MORE EFFECTIVE RESPONSES TO ANTI-SOCIAL 
BEHAVIOUR (Pages 39 - 100) 
 

12  
  

PAYBACK - PROBATION UPDATE (VERBAL REPORT)  

13  REPORTS FROM SUB-GROUPS  

 (Drug Action Team, Youth Offending Team, Bromley Community Engagement Forum, 
Arson Sub-Group and Operational Tasking)  
 

14  
  

MAYOR'S OFFICE FOR POLICING AND CRIME GRANT 2012/2013 (Pages 101 - 
122) 
 

15  
  

COMMUNICATIONS UPDATE (VERBAL REPORT)  

16  
  

INFORMATION ITEMS  

a LBB PUBLIC PROTECTION AND SAFETY PORTFOLIO PLAN 2012/2013 
(Pages 123 - 130) 
 

b NEWS SHOPPER SAFER BROMLEY PARTNERSHIP 'WRAP' (Pages 131 
- 132) 
 

c BCEF YOUTH OUTREACH DAY REPORT (Pages 133 - 136) 

d BOROUGH COMMANDER NEWSLETTER (Pages 137 - 144) 

17  
  

ANY OTHER BUSINESS  



 
 
 

18  DATE AND TIME OF NEXT MEETING  

 10.00am, Thursday 27th September 2012 
10.00am, Thursday 13th December 2012 
10.00am, Thursday 21st March 2013 
  

19  LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 AS AMENDED BY THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT 
(ACCESS TO INFORMATION) (VARIATION) ORDER 2006, AND THE FREEDOM 
OF INFORMATION ACT 2000  

 The Chairman to move that the Press and public be excluded during consideration of 
the items of business listed below as it is likely in view of the nature of the business to 
be transacted or the nature of the proceedings that if members of the Press and public 
were present there would be disclosure to them of exempt information.  
 

Items of Business Schedule 12A Description 

20  A MULTI-AGENCY APPROACH TO 
TACKLING GANGS IN BROMLEY (PART 
2 - EXEMPT) (Pages 145 - 184) 

Information relating to the financial or 
business affairs of any particular 
person (including the authority holding 
that information)  

 
  



This page is left intentionally blank



1 
 

 
SAFER BROMLEY PARTNERSHIP STRATEGIC GROUP 

 
Minutes of the meeting held at 10.00 am on 8 March 2012 

 
 

Present: 
 

Councillor Tim Stevens J.P. (Chairman) 
 

Stephanie Roberts, (Borough Police Commander) (Vice-Chairman) 
 

 

Councillor Julian Benington 
 

Rob Clarke, (London Probation Service) 
James Cleverly, (Police and Crime Committee, Greater London Authority) 
Nigel Davies, (LBB Director, Environmental Services) 
Clive Davison, (LBB Assistant Director, Public Protection) 
Andrew Holcombe, (Borough Commander, Fire Services) 
Paula Morrison, (Assistant Director, Public Health) 
Colin Newman, (LBB Head of Community Safety) 
Jo Oakley, (Deputy Borough Commander) 
Howard Oldstein, (The Glades) 
Lulu Pearce, (Ethnic Communities Programme Manager) 
Sarah Walker, (Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime) 
 

 
Also Present: 

 
Councillor Kate Lymer 
Jane Belding, (Bromley Mentoring Programme) 
Susie Clark, (LBB Communications Officer) 
Diane Diamond, (Community Links Bromley) 
Paul King, (LBB Head of Bromley Youth Support Programme) 
Paul Lehane, (LBB Head of Food Safety, Occupational Safety and Licensing) 
Jim McGowan, (Head of Environmental Protection) 
Conal Percy, (London Ambulance Service) 
Dave Prebble, (Metropolitan Police) 
Ian Smith, (Bromley Community Engagement Forum) 
Rob Vale, (LBB Head of Trading Standards) 
Kay Weiss, (LBB Assistant Director, Safeguarding and Social Care 
Kiran Zafar, (Affinity Sutton) 
 

 

1   INTRODUCTIONS / APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 

Action 

Apologies were received from Councillor Reg Adams, Councillor 
Douglas Auld, Sue Cooper (Affinity Sutton), Colin MacLean 
(Community Links), Tracy Pidgeon (London Ambulance Service), 
Pratheepan Jeyapragasam (LBB Crime Analyst), Gill Rose 
(Federation of Bromley Housing Associations) and Elayne Stewart 
(Youth Offending Team). 
 

 

2   MINUTES OF LAST MEETING: 15TH DECEMBER 2011/ 
MATTERS ARISING 
 

Action 

The notes of the last meeting held on 15th December 2011 were  

Agenda Item 3

Page 5



Safer Bromley Partnership Strategic Group 
8 March 2012 
 

2 

received. 
 
It was AGREED that the minutes be approved. 
 

3   CHAIRMAN'S UPDATE 
 

Action 

The Chairman welcomed the new Borough Commander, Chief 
Superintendent Stephanie Roberts and the new Deputy Borough 
Commander, Jo Oakley to the Safer Bromley Partnership. 
The Chairman was pleased to announce that a full programme of 
youth diversion activities would be delivered across the Borough for 
a 6 week period in the summer, with each ward visited at least once.  
The programme of activities would deliver a positive message to 
young people around staying safe and being good citizens, and the 
Chairman encouraged partners to get involved.   
The Chairman also confirmed that a skating and BMX facility would 
be introduced to Tubbenden Recreation Ground and, following 
representation by Safer Neighbourhood Teams to their local Safer 
Neighbourhood Panels, additional CCTV cameras would be 
installed in Petts Wood and Beckenham.   
 
It was AGREED that the update be noted. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
All 
Partners 

4   BOROUGH COMMANDER'S UPDATE 
 

Action 

The Borough Commander noted that a number of changes had 
recently taken place in the Metropolitan Police, including the 
appointment of a new Commissioner, Bernard Hogan-Howe, and a 
new Deputy Commissioner, Craig Mackey who would work to 
deliver ‘Total Policing’ across London.  This new approach to 
tackling crime would work to deliver total war on criminals, total 
victim care and total professionalism of the Police Service.  Crime 
prevention work would also continue to be prioritised. 
Work continued on the investigation launched following the public 
disorder on 8th August 2011.  91 people had now been convicted 
and 29 had been convicted and sentenced.  An inquiry had also 
been launched following the recent incidence of 4 people 
absconding from Bethlem Royal Hospital. 
 
It was AGREED that the update be noted. 
 

 

5   PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT REPORT (2011/2012) 
 

Action 

Consideration was given to the performance monitoring report for 
Qtr 3, 2011/12 which reported progress against 4 key indicators. 
Progress against Performance Indicator 1: Reduction in Number of 
Violent Crimes showed that offences related to Violent Crimes 
represented 21% of the Total Notifiable Offences in Q3, with a 
reduction of 34 offences compared to the same period in 2010/11. 
Performance Indicator 2: Reduction in Numbers of Property Crimes 

 

Page 6



Safer Bromley Partnership Strategic Group 
8 March 2012 

 

3 
 

within Bromley showed that offences related to property crimes 
represented 66% of the Total Notifiable Offences in Q3, with an 
increase of 160 offences compared to the same period last year.  
This included an increase of 65 burglaries, 33 robberies and 70 
thefts, which accounted for a large proportion of the increase.  
Progress against Performance Indicator 3: Reduction in Levels of 
Recorded Anti-Social Behaviour showed a reduction of 991 
incidents of Anti-Social Behaviour reported compared to the same 
period in 2010/11, which represented a 22% reduction. 
Performance Indicator 4: Increased Confidence in the Fact that 
Bromley is a Safe Place showed an increase of 24% in respondents 
who agreed with the indicator ‘To what extent do you agree that the 
police and local council are dealing with the ASB and crime issues 
that matter in this area’ compared with the same period in 2010/11. 
In considering the increase in property crimes, the Deputy Borough 
Commander confirmed that three operations were currently being 
delivered across the Borough to target burglary and robbery and 
that arrests had been made.  Work was also being undertaken 
around crime prevention, including proactive work undertaken by 
Safer Neighbourhood Teams.  The Safer Bromley Van, a scheme 
providing free home security to victims of crime and vulnerable 
people in Bromley, had a 100% success rate with no users 
experiencing revictimisation and Councillor Julian Benington 
suggested the van be used to promote crime prevention at large 
events, including the Biggin Hill festival. 
 
It was AGREED that the Performance Management Report for 
Qtr 3, 2011/12 be noted. 
 

6   TACKLING GANGS AND TROUBLED FAMILIES INITIATIVES 
 

Action 

The Partnership considered the work that was being undertaken to 
tackle the harm caused by gang membership and activity within the 
Borough. 
In November 2008, the Mayor had launched ‘Time for Action’, a 
long term strategy to prevent and reduce youth violence in the 
capital.  Six key areas of work had been identified, which included 
projects to reduce offending, raise attainment, build a sense of self 
respect and responsibility and give young Londoners the 
opportunity to participate in high quality sport and cultural activities.  
Operation Trident had recently been refocused to target gang 
violence. 
A new cross-Government programme had also been announced on 
15th December 2011 to tackle ‘troubled families’.  The Assistant 
Director, (Safeguarding and Social Care) confirmed that £448m 
would be available over three years to support Local Authorities and 
partner agencies with this work. Initial indications from the 
Government suggested 490 families in Bromley met this criterion.  
The Government funding would need to be match-funded by local 
authorities and would follow a Payment by Results model where the 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 7



Safer Bromley Partnership Strategic Group 
8 March 2012 
 

4 

Government would pay up to 40% of local authorities’ costs where 
families were supported successfully.  An expression of interest had 
been submitted by the Local Authority with regards to the new 
programme, and the Borough’s delivery model was currently being 
developed by a multi-agency group.  The Assistant Director, Public 
Health highlighted the need to ensure work to tackle health issues 
was included as part of the programme. 
The Chairman requested that members of the Partnership provide 
details of the work undertaken by their agencies to tackle 
problematic behaviour of young people to the next meeting of the 
Partnership, and asked that Officers contact neighbouring boroughs 
to support development of a cross-Borough approach to targeting 
gang violence. 
 
It was AGREED that: 
 
1) The information contained within the report and the positive 

activity highlighted be noted; 
 
2) The work being undertaken to tackle problematic behaviour 

of young people be noted; 
 
3) A full analytical report on Gang Issues in Bromley be 

presented at the next meeting of the Safer Bromley 
Partnership. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
All 
Partners 
 
CN 

7   SAFER BROMLEY "CLEAN UP" 
 

Action 

The Head of Community Safety reported that the Safer Bromley 
Partnership had led a multi-agency “clean-up operation on 17th 
January 2012 in the Mountfield Estate, which had cleared 92 square 
metres of graffiti and removed 6,260 kg of rubbish.   
The Chairman thanked all partners who had been involved and 
noted that a further clean-up operation was planned for March 2012. 
 
It was AGREED that: 
 
1) Partners be thanked for their work and commitment to the 

clean-up operation. 
 
2) The work undertaken in Cray Valley East be noted. 
 

 

8   SUPPORT GROUP UPDATES 
 

Action 

Bromley Mentoring Programme – Jane Belding introduced the 
mentoring scheme which recruited, matched and managed 
volunteer mentors with young people across the Borough who had 
been identified as being at risk of developing criminal or anti-social 
behaviour.  There were now 83 mentors within the scheme, with 20 
mentors recruited since January 2012. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 8



Safer Bromley Partnership Strategic Group 
8 March 2012 

 

5 
 

Drug Action Team – Dave Prebble reported that the new drug 
treatment centre had opened in February 2012 and was working 
well.  Work was being undertaken to identify drug users within 
integrated offender management.  The Assistant Director, Public 
Health reported that the Drug Related Deaths Panel was looking at 
how it could contribute to positive outcomes for people receiving 
drug treatment. 
 
Youth Offending Team – The Chairman congratulated the Youth 
Offending Service on the outstanding result achieved following the 
inspection of the service in November 2011 by her Majesty’s 
Inspectors of Probation.  The service was performing very highly, 
with outcomes related to safeguarding, risk of harm to others and 
likelihood of reoffending well above the national and regional 
average.  The Head of Bromley Youth Support Programme thanked 
the Chairman and was pleased to note that the Public Protection 
and Safety PDS Committee would be considering a funding 
proposal at its meeting on 13th March 2012 for a project targeting 
young people who would not engage with education.  This project 
would give young people access to inspirational speakers and work 
experience placements with an element of restorative justice.  A 
support fund would also be available to resolve barriers into 
education and training, such as the need for appropriate clothing. 
 
Bromley Community Engagement Forum Report – Ian Smith 
reported that a successful age exchange event had taken place on 
25th February 2012 at the Priory School.  A Youth Conference was 
planned for 23rd March 2012 at the Education Development Centre.  
Year 8 pupils would be brought together from schools across the 
Borough to consider issues around cyber bullying, mutual respect 
and alcohol awareness, and partners were invited to become 
involved.  The annual general meeting of the Bromley Community 
Engagement Forum would be at 7.00pm on 11th July 2012 at 
Bromley Town Football Club.  A funding bid for 2012/13 had 
recently been submitted to the Mayor’s Office for Policing and 
Crime, and work had been undertaken to develop Bromley 
Community Engagement Forum’s partnership model to ensure the 
processes of engagement and scrutiny were undertaken effectively. 
 
Arson Sub Group Report – Andy Holcombe reported that where 
fires were identified as being deliberate, notification was now being 
given to Community Safety Officers to review what action needed to 
be taken to reduce the likelihood of further deliberate fires on the 
same site.  A programme for young people which included 
consequential learning would be launched in April 2012 and the 
London Fire Brigade was working with the Youth Offending Team 
and Safer Neighbourhood Teams to identify young people who 
would benefit from joining the programme.  Following the successful 
development of the ‘Crossfire’ project by London Borough of 
Croydon, a similar pilot project would shortly be delivered to Year 11 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
All 
Partners 

Page 9



Safer Bromley Partnership Strategic Group 
8 March 2012 
 

6 

students at Charles Darwin School with referrals made to the 
Bromley Mentoring Programme where appropriate. 
 
Operational Tasking – The Deputy Borough Commander reported 
that a number of operations were currently underway.  This included 
Operation Valiant which had targeted gang activity over a three day 
period, and Operation Condor which had brought together Trading 
Standards, Licensing Officers and the Police to carry out checks on 
licensed premises.  There had also been a number of successful 
convictions in relation to burglary and robbery offences committed in 
the Borough.  
 
It was AGREED the update be noted. 
 

9   SAFER BROMLEY PARTNERSHIP FUNDING 2012/13 
 

Action 

The Head of Community Safety provided an update on the Safer 
Bromley Partnership funding application to the Greater London 
Authority for the Community Safety Fund for 2012/13.  The 
proposals for expenditure incorporated a range of services including 
the Anti Social Behaviour Team, Domestic Abuse Strategy 
Coordinator and contributions to the work of the Drug Action Team. 
 
It was AGREED that: 
 
1) The letter from Council Officers setting out the claim for 

funding from the Greater London Authority be noted; 
 

2) Further funding updates be provided to the Safer Bromley 
Partnership. 

 

 

10   OUTCOME OF CCTV TENDER 
 

Action 

The Head of Environmental Protection reported that the 
procurement of the CCTV tender process had been undertaken in 
partnership with London Borough of Lewisham and that a saving of 
nearly 20% had been realised on the expected cost of the contract.  
The new contract would start on 1st April 2012. 
 
It was AGREED that the update be noted. 
 

 

11   SAFEGUARDING OLDER PEOPLE 
 

Action 

The Head of Trading Standards reported that the Attic Theatre Co. 
would be performing Ma Kelly’s Doorstep, a free theatre production 
for older audiences about bogus doorstep callers and how Bromley 
residents could protect themselves against scams during the week 
commencing 13th March 2012 at four locations across the Borough.  
It was hoped that a further event would be held in Biggin Hill later in 
the year.  Trading Standards was also continuing work with banks 

 

Page 10



Safer Bromley Partnership Strategic Group 
8 March 2012 

 

7 
 

and building societies through the new protocol to protect older and 
more vulnerable residents from scams.  
 
It was AGREED that the update be noted. 
 

12   COMMUNICATIONS UPDATE 
 

Action 

Susie Clark provided an update on the Safer Bromley News, the 
electronic newsletter showcasing the work of the Safer Bromley 
Partnership.  The Spring 2012 edition had recently been published, 
and the deadline for stories for the Summer 2012 edition was Easter 
2012.  A 4 page wraparound sheet would be published with the 
News Shopper in June 2012 to promote the excellent work 
undertaken by the Safer Bromley Partnership, and partners were 
encouraged to submit their good news stories by the end of April 
2012. 
 
It was AGREED the update be noted. 
 

 
 
 
All 
Partners 
 
All 
Partners 
 

13   SAFER BROMLEY AWARDS DE-BRIEF 
 

Action 

The Safer Bromley Awards were held on Thursday 2nd February 
2012.  Five winners in the three categories, Community Champions, 
Above and Beyond, and Working Together were presented with 
trophies by the Chairman and the Borough Commander.   
The Chairman thanked all partners who had been involved in the 
awards and suggested that a young people’s award be introduced 
at next year’s Safer Bromley Awards.  There was also potential to 
include the ‘Best Bar None’ awards for licensed premises in the 
event. 
 
It was AGREED that: 
 
1) The update be noted; 
 
2) A formal ‘survey’ of stakeholders be undertaken to validate 

the event; 
 
3) That the Chairman be requested to write a letter of formal 

thanks to Ward Security for providing sponsorship of the 
event; 

 
4) That the list of winners in each category be noted. 
 

 

14   INFORMATION ITEMS 
 

Action 

(a) The Bromley Tryangle Pilot Project was introduced.  Tryangle 
would provide two parallel services designed to reduce the 
occurrence of domestic abuse by working with perpetrators of 
domestic abuse and providing support to their partners or ex-

 

Page 11



Safer Bromley Partnership Strategic Group 
8 March 2012 
 

8 

partners.  The pilot project would run from April to July 2012 and 
would be subject to external evaluation. 

 
(b) The Safer Bromley Partnership Newsletter – Spring 2012 had 

recently been published and partner organisations were 
encouraged to contribute news items. 

 
(c) The minutes from the meeting of Bromley Community 

Engagement Forum held on 30th November 2011 had been 
circulated for information. 

 
It was AGREED the information items be noted. 
 

15   ANY OTHER BUSINESS 
 

Action 

(a) James Cleverly confirmed that the Metropolitan Policing 
Authority had now been replaced with the Mayor’s Office for 
Policing and Crime, which would be scrutinised by the London 
Assembly through the Police and Crime Committee.  Two 
community road shows had already been undertaken in 
Kingston and Hounslow and further road shows would be held 
following the London Mayoral and Assembly elections on 3rd 
May 2012. 

 
(b) Andy Holcombe informed partners that a partnership day would 

be held at Biggin Hill airport on 10th June 2012, and that 16 
teams (including 8 from the private sector and 8 from the public 
sector) were being sought to participate in a fire engine pull.  
Partners were invited to become involved in the event. 

 
(c) The Chairman thanked the members of the Partnership for their 

hard work during the year. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
All 
Partners 

16   MEETING DATES 2012/13 
 

Action 

All meetings start at 10.00am unless otherwise notified. 
 
10.00am, Thursday 28th June 2012 
10.00am, Thursday 27th September 2012 
10.00am, Thursday 13th December 2012 
10.00am, Thursday 21st March 2013 
 

 

 
The Meeting ended at 12.01 pm 
 
 
 

Chairman 
 

Page 12



 

 1

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1 SUMMARY 
 

 
1.1 This report is presented in order to update the Safer Bromley Partnership on the performance 

achieved against the targets set in the last year Community Safety plan 2011/12. The report 
provides the latest performance monitoring data to 31st March 2012 (Quarter 4) 

 
 
2 RECOMMENDATION 
 

2.1 The Strategic Group is asked to 
 

• Note the performance information contained within the report. 
 

• Note issues experienced within the last year’s performance monitoring regime and 
endorse the position at year end.  

 
2.2 The targets that the performance monitoring regime was based on for 2011/2012 focused on 

delivery of four key performance issues. 
 

Performance Indicator 1 Reduction in number of violent crimes within Bromley 
 
Performance Indicator 2 Reduction in number of property crimes within Bromley 
 
Performance Indicator 3 Reduction in levels of recorded Anti Social Behaviour 
 
Performance Indicator4 Increased confidence in the fact that Bromley is a safe place 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Meeting:   Safer Bromley Partnership Strategic Group 
 
Date:    28th June 2012 
 
Subject:   Performance Review 2011/2012 
 
Author:  Pratheepan Jeyapragasam, Crime Analyst 
  pratheepan.jeyapragasam@bromley.gov.uk     
 

Agenda Item 6

Page 13



 

 2

3 BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 

3.1 This report provides an update of performance at the end of Quarter 4 in the delivery year 
2011/2012. The performance picture across the range of Partnership activity continues to be 
healthy with the majority of targets being set for 2011/12.  
 

3.2 In the year 2011/12, there were 21903 total number of offences reported in the Borough, this 
represented a reduction of 127(���� 1%) offences compared with previous year 2010/11  There 
were 20,127 Anti Social Behaviour (ASB) calls/incidents reported to the Council and Police, 
this represented a reduction of 4147(���� 17%) ASB calls/incidents compared with previous year 
2010/11. 
 

3.3 A summary of the “portfolio” of offences and Anti Social Behaviour that are included within 
these overarching targets are provided at Appendix 1.  Reporting on individual crime types and 
detail of individual operations will only be made as a routine if achievement against set targets 
is not being made or, in some cases, where the measurable rates of individual offences or 
types of offending are significantly different from expected trends and predicted patterns etc.  
The management of these operational level issues will be dealt with outside of the Strategic 
Group at the combined Police/Partnership Tactical Tasking and Coordination Group chaired 
by the borough Superintendent. 

 
Performance Review 2011/2012 
 
3.4 Significant progress has been made in relation to reducing crime and disorder in 

Bromley.  This is reflected not only in the previous year’s performance figures but 
also over the previous five years. The following charts provide an indication of the 
trends in crime in Bromley over the past five years.  

 

LAST 5 YEARS COMPARISON

21903

22030
23783

25195 26375

0

5000

10000

15000

20000

25000

30000

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012

 

Page 14



 

 3

Performance Indicator 1- Reduction in Numbers of Violent Crimes Within Bromley 
 

3.5 Offences related to Violent Crimes represent 20% (1,069) of the Total Notifiable Offences in 
the period of Quarter 4 this year. 
 

Violent Crimes Comparision

1000

1050

1100

1150

1200

1250

1300

Q1

2010/11

Q2

2010/11

Q3

2010/11

Q4

2010/11

Q1

2011/12

Q2

2011/12

Q3

2011/12

Q4

2011/12

 

 
3.6 During the January –March 2012 there were 1,069 Total Violent Offences reported to the 

Police, this represented a reduction of 76(���� 7%) offences compared with the same period in 
the previous year.  This includes a reduction of offences in Harassment. 
 

Performance Indicator 2- Reduction in Numbers of Property Crimes Within Bromley 
 

3.7 Total offences to property crimes represent 67% of the Total Notifiable Offences in the period 
of Quarter 4 this year.  This is an increase of 1% compared with previous quarter (Q3).  
 

Property Crimes comparision

3200

3300

3400

3500

3600

3700

Q1

2010/11

Q2

2010/11

Q3

2010/11

Q4

2010/11

Q1

2011/12

Q2

2011/12

Q3

2011/12

Q4

2011/12

  

Page 15



 

 4

3.8 During the January to March 2012 there were 3,580 Total Property related Offences reported 
to the Police, this represented an increased of 33 (����1%) offences compared with the same 
period in the previous year.  
 

3.9 During this reporting period the borough experienced 1,043 Burglaries, 147 Robberies, 1,786 
Theft & Handling and 604 offences of Criminal Damage. Compared with the same period in 
the previous year Burglaries were increased by 32% (252 offences).  Robberies, Theft & 
Handling and Criminal Damages were decreased by 15% (25 offences), 6% (116 offences) 
and 11% (78 offences) respectively.  

 
Anti-Social Behaviour 

 

Total Anti Social Behaviour

3000

3500

4000

4500

5000

5500

6000

6500

Oct- Dec 10 Jan- Mar 11 Apr- Jun 11 Jul – Sep 11 Oct- Dec 11 Jan- Mar 12

 

 

 Jan- Mar 11 Apr- Jun 11 Jul – Sep 11 Oct- Dec 11 Jan- Mar 12 

Noise & Nuisance 881 1290 1418 891 809 

Graffiti 1269 945 1190 961 581 

Fly Tipping 
Investigation 154 153 158 105 123 

ASB to Council 115 181 111 116 134 

ASB to Police 2584 2965 3223 2497 2276 

Total ABS 5003 5534 6100 4570 3923 

 
3.10 During the reporting period, the borough has experienced a reduction of 1,080 (22%) incidents 

of ASB reported when compared with the same period last year. 
 

Page 16



 

 5

Total Noise& Nuisance

600

800

1000

1200

1400

1600

Apr-Jun 10 Jul-Sep 10 Oct-Dec 10 Jan-Mar 11 Apr-Jun 11 Jul-Sep 11 Oct-Dec 11 Jan-Mar 12

 

 

3.11 As can be seen from the figure above, during the reporting period, the borough has 
experienced a reduction of 72 incidents of Noise and Nuisance ASB reported when compared 
with the same period last year. Domestic Noise incidents were mainly contributed for this 
reduction. 
 

Total Fly Tipping

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

180

Apr- Jun 10 Jul- Sep 10 Oct- Dec 10 Jan- Mar 11 Apr- Jun 11 Jul- Sep 11 Oct- Dec 11 Jan- Mar 12

 

 

3.12 As can be seen from the figure above, during the reporting period, the borough has 
experienced a reduction of 31 incidents of Fly Tipping ASB reported when compared with the 
same period last year. 
 
 

 

 

Page 17



 

 6

Graffiti Calls

0

500

1000

1500

2000

Apr- Jun

10

Jul- Sep

10

Oct-

Dec 10

Jan-

Mar 11

Apr- Jun

11

Jul- Sep

11

Oct -

Dec 11

Jan-

Mar 12

 

 
3.13 As can be seen from the figure above, during the reporting period, the borough has 

experienced a reduction of 688 incidents of Graffiti ASB reported when compared with the 
same period last year. It is noted that there were some changes to recording for Graffiti and a 
quicker response time was introduced.  In addition, there was an increase in proactive work 
based on community feedback.  In 2012/2013 it is proposed that allocation of work be more 
focused on hot spot locations and intelligence relating to Grafftii and environmental cleansing.  
 

Total ASB calls to Police

1500

2000

2500

3000

3500

4000

Apr- Jun

10

Jul- Sep

10

Oct- Dec

10

Jan- Mar

11

Apr- Jun

11

Jul- Sep

11

Oct- Dec

11

Jan - Mar

12

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 18



 

 7

3.14 During this reporting period a reduction of 308 incidents reported to police regarding ASB 
compared with the same period last year. 
 

Total ASB to Council

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

180

200

Apr- Jun 10 Jul- Sep 10 Oct- Dec 10 Jan- Mar 11 Apr- Jun 11 Jul- Sep 11 Oct - Dec 11 Jan- Mar 12

 
 

3.15 In January to March 2012 the borough experienced an increase of 19 incidents of ASB 
reported when compared with the same period last year.  This is due in the main to several 
reasons One is an increase in the use of the Matrix reporting system as the training in the 
Matrix is rolled out to LBB Departments, Housing Associations and other bodies, in addition 
there is a greater Public awareness of the unit and members of the public contact the unit 
direct thirdly the unit is more proactive in problem solving complaints of ASB which in turn 
results in more referrals.  This upward trend looks set to continue for the above reasons; in 
addition the MPS have adopted the Matrix system and will in turn be making more referrals to 
the Anti Social Behaviour Unit as the two systems become integrated.  
 

Page 19



 

 8

Increased confidence in the fact that Bromley is a safe place 
 

 
 
3.16 As shown above, there was a slight decrease (1%) between Q4 last year and Q4 previous year in relation to the confidence levels. 

  
 

P
age 20



 

 9

 

P
age 21



 

 10

 

P
age 22



 

 11

 
APPENDIX 1 
 
Performance Indicator Portfolios: 
 

Violence Portfolio 

Offences Supporting Measures 
Violence with Injury Domestic Violence 

Common Assault Domestic Violence Sanction Detection Rate 

Harassment Domestic Violence Arrest Rate 

Threats/ Conspiracy to Kill Serious Youth Violence 

Blackmail Knife Enabled Crime 

Kidnapping/ False Imprisonment Knife Enabled Crime Sanctioned Det. Rate 

 Gun Crime 

 Gun Crime Sanctioned Det. Rate 

 Most Serious Violence 

 Most Serious Violence Sanctioned Det. Rate 

 
 

Property Portfolio 

Offences: 
Personal Robbery 

Commercial Robbery 

Total Robbery 

Residential Burglary 

Non-Residential Burglary 

Theft/Taking Motor Vehicles 

Theft From Motor Vehicles 

Theft From Shops 

Theft From Person 

Theft of Pedal Cycles 

Other Theft 

Criminal Damage 
 

Anti Social Behaviour Portfolio 

ASB: 
Noise & Nuisance 

ASB to Council 

Fly Tipping 

ASB to Police 

Graffiti 
 

Page 23



Page 24

This page is left intentionally blank



 

 1

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1 SUMMARY 
 

1.1 This report provides proposals for performance monitoring targets within the year 2012/2013.  
Having considered a report relating to performance in 2011/2012, the Partnership is asked to 
agree the performance measurement targets proposed for 2012/2013. 

 
2 RECOMMENDATION 
 

2.1 The Strategic Group is asked to adopt the following performance targets for the year 
2012/2013 (April to March): 
 

Performance Indicator 1   Reduction in number of violent crimes within Bromley by 2% 
 
Performance Indicator 2   Reduction in number of property crimes within Bromley by 2% 
 
Performance Indicator 3   Reduction in levels of recorded Anti Social Behaviour by 10% 
 
Performance Indicator4   Increase confidence that Bromley is a safe place 

 (Question 74AB) to 55% 
 

3 BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 

3.1 The Partnership has already considered a paper in relation to performance against set 
targets in 2011/2012.  It was agreed in 2011 that the performance management of activity in 
the Safer Bromley Partnership would be simplified to just four key performance indicators.  
Further detailed reporting would be offered to the Strategic Group in the event of major 
deviations from the set targets. 

 
3.2 For the period 2012/2013, it is proposed that the Partnership set a relatively modest 

reduction target in relation to Violent Offences (proposed reduction target is 2%) and 
Property Offences (proposed reduction target is 2%).  In doing so, it is acknowledged that 
significant challenges were faced within the 2011/2012 period but coordinated action and 
targeted operations are proposed to make achievements in reducing criminal activity in the 
performance year 2012/2013. 

 

 
Meeting:   Safer Bromley Partnership Strategic Group 
 
Date:    28 June 2012 
 
Subject:   Performance Management Targets 2012/2013 
 
Author:  Colin Newman, Head of Community Safety 
  colin.newman@bromley.gov.uk 
 

Agenda Item 7

Page 25



 

 2

3.3 In relation to Anti-Social Behaviour and performance targets, it is noted that, at a London 
wide level, the work in relation to Anti-Social Behaviour will focus on establishing a baseline 
for future reduction targets.  At a local level, it is noted that, in Bromley, there was a17% 
reduction in 2011/12 compared with the previous year 2010/11.  Therefore, it is proposed 
that the target for Anti Social Behaviour in year 2012/13 will be a further 10% reduction. This 
will help the Partnership to measure levels of Anti-Social Behaviour and ensure continued 
progress in making Bromley safer. 

 
3.4 Finally, in terms of setting a target for Public Confidence and feeling safe, it is acknowledged 

that, in the past, the “Place Survey” included a suite of questions to members of the public 
which related to feelings of safety and assessment of whether certain behaviours were 
problematic (drug dealing, drinking, loud and aggressive behaviour etc.).  In addition, the 
Police public satisfaction surveys have routinely included a question asking respondents to 
rate how they perceive the Police and Council to be performing in relation to crime reduction. 
However, the “Place Survey” has been deleted and there are no proposed replacements at 
this time and, in addition, there are no current resources allocated in order to replicate a 
localised version of such a survey. As such, it is proposed that the Partnership rely on the 
question asked by the Metropolitan Police Service public survey in relation to measuring this 
target.  Following analysis the last eight quarters’ data, it is proposed to the Partnership that 
the Public Confidence target will be set as 55% for 2012/13.  The question that will be used is 
as follows: “To what extent do you agree that the police and local council are dealing with the 
ASB and crime issues that matter in this area?” 

 
 

Page 26



 

 1

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1 SUMMARY 
 

1.1 The attached Part 2 (exempt) report is the latest stage in the development of an assessment 
of the impact of gangs and gang membership on the borough.  This piece of work has been 
undertaken in order to identify a cross agency response to identify and minimise negative 
consequences of gang membership and activity within the borough.  Strategic Group 
members are reminded that the attached Part 2 (exempt) report should be treated as 
confidential and not distributed/circulated outside of the membership of the Strategic Group.  

 
2 RECOMMENDATION 
 

2.1 The Strategic Group is asked to read the attached Part 2 (exempt) report and provide 
feedback to Community Safety officers at the meeting of the Safer Bromley Partnership.  In 
particular, the Strategic Group is asked to  
 

o Comment on the information contained within the attached report. 
o Identify and submit any additional information or sources of information to assist the 

next stage of analysis. 
o Provide additional information to facilitate the next stage of the piece of work.  This will 

be to identify appropriate interventions that can be delivered to resist the development 
of gang activity within the borough. 

 
2 BACKGROUND INFORMATION 

 

2.1 The attached Part 2 (exempt) report represents the most up to date version of the research 
and presentation examining the issues created by gangs within the borough.  It is noted that, 
at present, the contents of the report are not to be distributed (without prior permission) 
outside of the membership of the Strategic Group of the Safer Bromley Partnership. 

 
 

 
Meeting:   Safer Bromley Partnership Strategic Group 
 
Date:    28 June 2012 
 
Subject:   A Multi Agency Approach to Tackling Gangs in Bromley 
 
Author:  Ruksana Mannan – Management Trainee (Community Safety) 
  ruksana.mannan@bromley.gov.uk 
 

Agenda Item 8

Page 27



Page 28

This page is left intentionally blank



1 

Briefing CS12008 
 

London Borough of Bromley 
 

PART 1 - PUBLIC 
 
 

Briefing for Care Services  
Policy Development and Scrutiny Committee  

19 June 2012 
 
 

TACKLING TROUBLED FAMILIES PROGRESS REPORT 
 

Contact Officer: Mark Thorn, Head of Referral and Assessment 
Tel:  020 8461 7578   E-mail:  mark.thorn@bromley.gov.uk 

Chief Officer: 

 
Kay Weiss, Assistant Director (Safeguarding and Social Care) 
Tel:  020 8313 4062   E-mail:  kay.weiss@bromley.gov.uk 

 

1. Summary 

1.1 This report sets out the basis for the London Borough of Bromley’s submission 
for inclusion in the Government’s Tackling Troubled Families Programme and 
provides an update on the grant funding arrangements. 

2. THE BRIEFING 

2.1 The CYP PDS received a briefing report in March 2012 describing the 
Government programme “Tackling Troubled Families”. This is a payment by 
results initiative focusing on local authorities supporting households who: 

• Are involved in crime and anti social behaviour (ASB) 
Households where a young person has a proven offence in the last 12 
months and / or where one or more family member has been subject to 
ASB intervention in the last 12 months. 

• Have children not in school, training or employment 
Households affected by truancy or exclusion from school where a young 
person has a history of school exclusions, is in a pupil referral unit or 15 % 
unauthorised absences in the last 3 terms. 

• Have an adult on out of work benefits  
Once the above criteria have been identified, those who are out of work 
and claiming benefits. 

• Cause high cost to the public purse 
Local discretion to add families meeting any 2 of the above criteria and 
where there is a cause for concern. These may include families subject to 
child protection plans where there is a risk a child may be accommodated, 
families subject to frequent police call outs, families where there are health 
problems such as emotional and mental health problems, drug and alcohol 
misuse and health problems caused by domestic abuse. 

Agenda Item 9

Page 29



2 

2.2 As part of the Troubled Families programme the Government has made 
available resources to incentivise and encourage local authorities and their 
partners to enhance existing services and develop new ways of working with 
families. This aim is to focus on lasting change, reduce overall costs and 
improve outcomes for families. 

2.3 Government’s estimates indicate that £9 billion is being spent annually on the 
120,000 most troubled families (based on Government data collected in 
October and November 2011).  A large proportion of this money is being spent 
on taking children into care (fostering, residential care, adoption and the cost of 
social workers) and also the significant criminal justice costs of children and 
adults committing crime.  The £9 billion also includes eviction costs and benefit 
payments, the cost of drug and alcohol dependency, specialist schooling (e.g. 
excluded pupils in Pupil Referral Units) and health costs. 

2.4 The Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG) indicate that 
Bromley has 490 families who fulfil the criteria applied through their analysis of 
data. 408 of these families are eligible for funding as it is assumed the local 
authority would be working with a significant number of these families in any 
event and this figure represents part of its match funding from existing 
resources.  

2.5 Grant Funding Arrangements 

2.5.1 In December 2011, it was announced that £448 million will be made available 
over the next 3 years, 2012/13 – 2014/15, together with contributions from 6 
Whitehall Departments including: the Department for Communities and Local 
Government, the Department for Education; the Department of Health; the 
Department for Work & Pensions, the Home Office; the Ministry of Justice.  
Each made a contribution to the programme by reprioritising their 
departmental spend.   

2.5.2 There is no requirement for the local authority to invest new funding or 
resources and it can use existing resources on which to develop the 
programme. 

2.5.3 The financial framework for the Tackling Troubled Families (TTF) programme 
payment by results scheme was previously unavailable; however, it was 
published at the end of March 2012 and clarifies how the funding will be 
delivered to local authorities.  This is a 3 year programme from 2012-2015. 

• £20,000 in February 2012 to set up data to identify work streams and 
families 

• £100,000 per year  towards coordination costs for the programme 

• £4,000 per family paid on a results basis to incentivise a focus on 
achieving outcomes. 

2.5.4 Following consultation the Department for Communities and Local 
Government have recognised that there will be up-front costs associated with 
restructuring services, taking on new staff or commissioning services. It is also 
anticipated that greater risks will taken in the earlier years of the programme. 
Therefore a proportion of the £4,000 payment by results funding will be paid 
upfront as an “attachment fee” for the number of families with whom we work 
and the rest paid once we have achieved positive outcomes for the family  

Page 30



3 

2.5.5 In order to be eligible for the grant funding the local authority had to submit it’s 
commitment to the programme by the 30 April 2010. This was reported to the 
Portfolio Holder at the end of April and a letter signed by the Chief Executive 
has been sent to the Troubled Families Unit confirming our commitment and 
enclosing our proposed delivery plan.  

2.5.6 The London Borough of Bromley has committed to working with the 490 
families. Of these 408 are eligible for funding under the Tackling Troubled 
Families programme. We intend working with one third of these in the first 
year totalling 163 families and receive funding for 136 families from the 408 
eligible for funding in 2012/13.  

2.5.7 According to the financial framework for 2012/13 LB Bromley should receive 
80% of the payment by results (£4,000 per family) as an attachment payment. 
If eligible a further £800 per family will be available through completion of 
payment by results. The table below shows how the attachment fee will 
reduce over the three years with eligibility for payment by results increasing 
for each of these years. 

Total funding available per family = £4000  

Year 
% of payment offered as 
upfront attachment fee 

% of payment offered as a results- 
based payment in arrears 

2012/13  80% 20% 

2013/14  60% 40% 

2014/15  40% 60% 

 

2.5.8 The grant funding available to Bromley over the 3 years (2012-15) is based on 
a sliding scale attachment fee and maximum reward at £4,000 per family:  

2012/13 

Attachment (80%) £3,200 x 136 Families £435,200 
Maximum Reward  (20%) x 136 Families £108,800 
Coordinator Grant  £100,000 
Total  £644,000 

2013/14 

Attachment (60%) £2,400 x 136 Families £326,400 
Maximum Reward  (40%) x 136 Families £217,600 
Coordinator Grant  £100,000 
Total  £644,000 

 

2014/15 

Attachment (40%)  £1,600 x 136 Families £217,600 
Maximum Reward (60%) x 136 Families £326,400 
Coordinator Grant  £100,000 
Total  £644,000 

Total over 3 years: £1,932,000 

2.5.9 The Council will be able to collect a payment for each eligible family if they 
achieve the results set out in the table below.  

Page 31



4 

 
Result 

Attachment Fee Results Payment Total 

They achieve all 3 of the education 
and crime/ASB measures set out 
below where relevant:  
 
1. Each child in the family has had 
fewer than 3 fixed exclusions and less 
than 15% of unauthorised absences in 
the last 3 school terms; and  
 
2. A 60% reduction in anti‐social 

behaviour across the family in the last 
6 months; and  
 
3. Offending rate by all minors in the 
family reduced by at least a 33% in 
the last 6 months.  

£3,200 per family  £700 per family  £4,000 per family  

If they do not enter work, but achieve 
the ‘progress to work’ (one adult in the 
family has either volunteered for the 
Work Programme or attached to the 
ESF provision in the last 6 months).  

£100 per family   

OR  

At least one adult in the family has 
moved off out‐of‐work benefits into 

continuous employment in the last 6 
months (and is not on the ESF 
Provision or Work Programme to 
avoid double‐payment).  

£3,200 per family  £800 per family  £4,000 per family  

DCLG (2012) 

2.6 Implementation in Bromley 

2.6.1 The Troubled Families programme will be coordinated through the Bromley 
Children Project but delivered through a number of work streams. These will 
be cross cutting across council departments, partner agencies and the 
voluntary sector and agencies and require an integrated approach to working 
with partners. This will ensure a multi-agency approach to families with multi 
faceted problems, build on systems and structures already in place and further 
develop innovative interventions with troubled families. 

2.6.2 A troubled families strategic steering group has been set up and is working 
with partners to develop the following work streams: 

• Link to the European Social Fund (ESF) 
This will ensure troubled families are referred to the ESF Families with 
Multiple Problems initiative that is supporting families where an adult is out 
of work. The scheme allows for the local authority to refer adults to the 
scheme through the Council’s Employment and Skills Team. Clearly these 
two programmes represent a multi-agency partnership agenda and it is 
anticipated that the ESF Families with Multiple Problems scheme will 
provide the employment support element to families within the Tackling 
Troubled Families Programme. 

 

Page 32



5 

• Link to Early Intervention Services 
Targeting families identified as vulnerable who may be included or at risk 
of being identified as a troubled family. These may include families 
requiring a Common Assessment Framework and lead professional 
coordination and those referred to children’s social care that do not meet 
the threshold for statutory social work services but require support from the 
Bromley Children Project (BCP) or commissioned services from the 
voluntary sector. The focus of work would be around supporting families 
and parenting particularly where there are younger children. 

• Integrated youth services with a focus on school attendance and 
NEET’s  
Through its parenting support work and other resources, the Bromley 
Children Project already focuses on improving and maintaining school 
attendance for children under 11 through is links with schools. This work 
stream will explore and implement ways to resource similar intervention for 
over 11s and the links to the Integrated Youth Service work to support and 
turn round those young people who are not in school or NEET.  

There will continue to be close liaison with schools, the Behaviour Support 
Service and Education Welfare Services. Bromley Children Project will 
continue to sit on the area youth panel and develop further links between 
statutory social services and targeted youth support around NEETS. 

• Safer Bromley Partnership and YOT with focus on youth offending 
and anti social behaviour 
Target, support and track young people and their families coming to the 
attention of the Safer Bromley Partnership and Youth Offending Team to 
measure outcomes for anti social behaviour and NEET.  

• Integrated Social Care  
Target, support and track young people and their families subject to social 
care services and meet the outcome criteria for tackling troubled families. 

2.6.3 Having to commit to the programme by the 30 April 2012 in order to draw 
down the attachment funding means implementation will take immediate 
effect.  Families are being identified and partners are engaged in the 
programme through the steering group that has been meeting since February 
2012. 

2.6.4 Confirmation of the L B Bromley submission was accepted by the Tackling 
Troubled Families Unit on the 18th May leading to upfront grant funding being 
determined by the end of May 2012 and grant provision during June 2012. 

2.7 Resources and Staff 

2.7.1 Plans to spend the grant will require Executive approval which will include a 
breakdown of costs including the recruitment of a coordinator which will be 
funded from the coordinator element of the grant. The Coordinator will report 
to the Bromley Children Project Manager and the strategic steering group.  

2.7.2 The strategic steering group will monitor progress and outcomes and evaluate 
funding requests to improve service delivery. 

 

Page 33



6 

2.8 Risk Management 

2.8.1 Upfront attachment funding from the Tackling Troubled Families Unit (DCLG) 
provides an opportunity for Bromley to build on and further develop 
interventions with families who are troubled in the borough.  There is minimal 
risk to the Council as there is no requirement to invest new council funding or 
resources. Once paid the attachment fee cannot be reclaimed if the local 
authority does not meet its payment by results outcomes. There will be an 
expectation however that a local authority will carry forward to the next year 
any outcomes it has failed to achieve. 

2.8.2 Part of the coordinator grant will be used to target, track and measure 
outcomes which have to be reported to the Tackling Troubled Families Unit.  
As this is a cross cutting initiative involving a number of departments and 
agencies, there is a need to ensure partners remain committed and engaged 
in the development of the programme.  This will be achieved through the 
Tackling Troubled Families Steering Group and the Safer Bromley 
Partnership. 

2.8.3 Future funding of the attachment fee will be dependent upon results achieved 
this year and failure to deliver expected results may affect future funding by 
the Unit.  This can be mitigated by tracking more families than our expected 
target and recording activity via the Coordinator. Much of the activity 
highlighted in the work streams concerns families already known to 
departments within the Council and the Unit is allowing local discretion where 
a family meet the main outcome criteria and are a cause of concern.  This 
may include those children subject to child protection plans and at risk of 
being accommodated; where there are family health issues or regular police 
call outs to persistent offenders.  The challenge will be to ensure there is 
targeting and tracking of the identified families and an investment of resources 
where gaps in service provision are identified.  

 

 

 

 

Page 34



 

 

 

 

 

 

1 SUMMARY 
 

1.1 This report is presented in order to update the Strategic Group of the Safer Bromley Partnership of 
the work being undertaken in partnership with the London Fire Brigade in relation to Arson 
reduction in the borough. 

 

2 RECOMMENDATION 
 

2.1 The Strategic Group is asked to: 
 

• Consider the information contained within the attached report and the presentation by 
the Fire Brigade Borough Commander. 

 
 

 

Meeting:   Safer Bromley Partnership Strategic Group 

Date:    28th June 2012 

Subject:   Arson Reduction Strategy Bromley Borough 2012/2013 

Author:  Andrew Holcombe, Borough Commander, London Fire Brigade 
  andrew.holcombe@london-fire.gov.uk     
 

Agenda Item 10

Page 35



 

Arson Reduction Strategy Bromley Borough 2012/13 

 

 

Incident Response: 

Fire Incidents that are attended by the London Fire Brigade within Bromley that are 

classified as being of a deliberate nature, will generate the following actions: 

The LFB Officer in charge will fully  investigate the circumstances of the fire and 

determine the details surrounding the event. If necessary the specialist Fire 

Investigation team will be utilised to ensure information accuracy. 

Once it has been determined the fire is deliberate, an electronic form will be 

generated. This is called the: e-fit: Notification of deliberate/Fatal fire report. This 

form is automatically sent by the LFB to the Police for their further investigation.  

Simultaneously the e-fit is also sent to the LFB Community Safety Liaison Officer 

(LFB CSLO). They will review all incidents  and analyse the data for a number of 

factors such as: Ward Area/Incident type/Frequency/Possible Partner involvement 

and Tasking.  

When it is apparent support is required from a Borough Partner the LFB CSLO will 

contact the Ward Council Community Safety Officer . They will liaise with the 

necessary partner and ensure a robust follow up is conducted. 

Where there is a serious incident that requires immediate Police action, the LFB 

CSLO will also liaise with the Inspector responsible for that area. In Bromley  the 

area is divided: North West/North East/South West/South East.  

Quality Assurance and review: 

On a quarterly basis the LFB CSLO will Chair an Arson Sub Group meeting. Here 

the previous actions agreed by the partners will be reviewed and Incident data 

analysed. An Action Plan will be agreed identifying partners, to address any issues 

or to confirm tasks. 

Pro Active Systems to prevent Deliberate Fires: 

Visual Audits: 

Page 36



 

The Boroughs 5 front line Fire Engines will conduct a total of 120 visits a quarter. 

These visits will be planned by the LFB CSFO following a review of deliberate fire 

data. Each visit will focus on areas with increased arson activity for a rolling 12 

month period. Here the Fire Engine officer will identify possible arson targets, record 

the area of concern, and forward information to the Council Report it site. 

JFIS: 

The Juvenile Fire setters Intervention Scheme in Bexley works with all young people 
up to the age of 18 years who have demonstrated any type of fire play or fire setting 
behaviour; from curiosity fire-play in younger children to deliberate fire setting and 
arson in older teenagers.  
 
Trained JFIS advisors work in pairs with the young people  to re-address the fire 

setting behaviour through identifying its cause, looking at the consequences of such 

actions and providing fire safety education and advice to both the child and their 

parents/guardians 

LIFE (Local Fire Intervention Education) Initiative: 

The LFB within Bromley will conduct 3 LIFE courses for this financial year. Each 

course will cater for 17 young adults which gives a total of 51 for the year. This 

course is specifically designed to stop these young adults form engaging in Anti 

Social Behaviour, of which Arson plays a major role. 

Impact Factor:  

The LFB within Bromley will conduct 10 Impact Factor days in Secondary Schools 

for this financial year. These days will focus on year 8 and year 9 and will deliver to 

all pupils in the chosen year group. Again these days are specifically designed to 

stop youths engaging in Anti Social Behaviour, of which Arson plays a major role. 

Partners within the Arson Sub Group: 

Graham 
Elder 

Station 
Manager LFB 
CSLO 

Graham.elder@london-
fire.gov.uk 

0208 555 1200 
ex32611 
Mob: 07919290949 

Kevin Smith Met Police 
South West 
Inspector 

Kevin.R.Smith@met.pnn.police
.uk 

0208 284 8901 
Mob:07879487127 

Kevin Caroll Met Police 
North West 
Inspector 

Kevin.Caroll@met.pnn.police.u
k 

0208 284 8818 
Mob: 07919446421 

Page 37



 

Mark 
Whitten 

Met Police 
North East 
Inspector 

Mark.Whitten@met.pnn.police.
uk 

0208 284 8768 
Mob:07793384556 

Steve 
Landers 

Met Police 
South East 
Inspector 

Steve.Landers@met.pnn.polic
e.uk 

0208 284 8721 

Sue 
McVicker 

Bromley 
Community 
Safety Officer 

Sue.McVicker@bromley.gov.u
k 

Mob:07958745613 

Peter 
Warne 

Bromley 
Community 
Safety Officer 

peter.warne@bromley.gov.uk Mob:07951071259 

Amanda 
Davis 

Bromley 
Community 
Safety Officer 

 
Amanda.Davis@bromley.gov.u
k 

Mob:07951071258 

Bromley Arson Reduction Strategy Flow Chart 

 

 

Page 38



 

 1

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1 SUMMARY 
 

1.1 The attached White Paper “Putting Victims First – More Effective Responses to Anti-Social 
Behaviour” represents the response to the Home Office consultation launched in 2011.  The 
document sets out proposals to change legislation and improve the range of tools that police 
and other agencies have to tackle anti-social behaviour. 

 

2 RECOMMENDATION 
 

2.1 The Strategic Group is asked to read the attached White Paper and: 
 

o Comment on the information contained within the White Paper and proposals for 
further action. 

o Agree that a review be undertaken by the Head of Community Safety to assess 
current delivery mechanisms for reducing the levels and impact of anti-social 
behaviour in the borough (to report to Strategic Group meeting on 13 December 
2012). 

o Agree a formal sub-group of the Safer Bromley Partnership Strategic Group to 
oversee the review. 

 

2 BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 

2.1 The attached document represents the Government’s proposals to improve responses to anti 
social behaviour.  The introduction, from the Home Secretary, the Right Honourable Theresa 
May MP, states “We know that the current powers do not work as well as they should.  More 
than half of Anti Social Behaviour Orders are now breached at least once and those that get 
breached, are breached more than four times on average”.  The focus of the White Paper is 
on: 

 

o improving the understanding of the needs of victims, including those at high risk; 
o giving frontline professionals more freedom to do what they know works; 
o empowering communities to get involved in tackling anti-social behaviour, including 

by giving victims and communities the power to ensure action is taken to deal with 
persistent antisocial behaviour through a new ‘community trigger’; 

o making it easier to demonstrate in court the harm victims are suffering; 
o providing professionals with faster formal powers, intended to be more effective; 

including a faster eviction process for the most antisocial tenants. 

 

Meeting:   Safer Bromley Partnership Strategic Group 
 
Date:    28 June 2012 
 
Subject:   Putting Victims First – More Effective Responses to Anti Social 

Behaviour.  
 
Author:  Colin Newman – Head of Community Safety 
  colin.newman@bromley.gov.uk 
 

Agenda Item 11

Page 39



 

 2

o tackling underlying issues that drive antisocial behaviour, such as drink and drugs, 
mental health issues, troubled family backgrounds and irresponsible dog 
ownership 

 

2.2 The document asserts that “We know what victims of anti-social behaviour want to happen. 
First and foremost they want the behaviour to stop, and the perpetrators to be punished for 
what they’ve done. They want the authorities to take their problem seriously, to understand 
the impact on their lives and to protect them from further harm. They want the issue dealt 
with swiftly and they want it to stop happening”.  The proposals within the White Paper are 

summarised below: 
 

• Reducing the current six orders concerned with the behaviour of people, such as 
Anti Social Behaviour Orders to two: the Criminal Behaviour Order and a Crime 
Prevention Injunction.  The proposed Crime Prevention Injunction would be similar 
to existing ASBOs but, it is stated, would be available earlier, and be easier to use.  
There would be a lower standard of proof than for current ASBOs in obtaining a 
Crime Prevention Injunction or Criminal Behaviour Order. 

• The ten existing powers that deal with protecting places such as the Graffiti 
Defacement Removal Notice are replaced by two: the Community Protection Order 
and the Community Protection Notice. 

• The two current Police powers to move people on will be replaced by one 
Directions Power. The Directions Power will not require the prior designation of a 
dispersal zone in order to move people on. The White Paper suggests that this will 
reduce bureaucracy for the Police and allow a quicker response. 

 

2.3 These proposals are summarised in a chart format below (page 24 of the White Paper): 
 

 

Page 40



 

 3

2.4 In an alternative way of looking at the key changes proposed, the six new powers contained 
within the White Paper are summarised below: 

 

1. The Crime Prevention Injunction – this would be an injunction available to a wide range 
of agencies.  Proposals are that such an injunction could be used quickly to protect 
victims by dealing with anti-social behaviour by private tenants and owner occupiers, as 
well as social tenants.  

 

2. The Criminal Behaviour Order – This order would be available on conviction for any 
criminal offence which will allow courts to attach positive requirements to ensure 
perpetrators deal with the underlying issues driving their behaviour as well as including 
prohibitions to immediately protect victims.  

 

3. The Community Protection Notice – Aimed at dealing with particular anti-social 
behaviour impacting on a community’s quality of life (for example to deal with noise, litter 
or graffiti).  

 

4.  The Community Protection Order (public space) - A locally determined order which 
could impose controls on behaviour in public places, for example controlling drinking in 
public as well as preventing other behaviour which has an impact on quality of life.  

 

5. The Community Protection Order (closure) - Simplifying the current number of powers 
available to close premises that are a magnet for trouble.  

 

6.  The Direction Power - A simpler and less bureaucratic power to enable the police to 
disperse situations to protect victims without needing to go through a long and slow 
process to designate an area in advance. 

 
2.5 The White Paper does also draw links to other strategies including the Alcohol Strategy, Drug 

Strategy and the Tackling Troubled Families initiative.  Reference is also made to work to 
address mental health issues and to tackle anti-social behaviour caused by dog-related 
problems. 

 
2.6 At present, it is recommended that the Safer Bromley Partnership notes the proposals 

contained within the White Paper.  It is further proposed that a piece of work is commissioned 
to review current arrangements across the Partnership to identify and deal with concerns 
raised in relation to anti social behaviour and make proposals for future working. 

 

Page 41



Page 42

This page is left intentionally blank



PUTTING VICTIMS 

FIRST 

MORE EFFECTIVE 

RESPONSES TO  

ANTI-SOCIAL 

BEHAVIOUR

May 2012

Page 43



PUTTING VICTIMS FIRST –  

MORE EFFECTIVE RESPONSES TO ANTI-SOCIAL BEHAVIOUR

Presented to Parliament 

by the Secretary of  State for the Home Department

by Command of  Her Majesty

May 2012

Cm 8367   £16.00

Page 44



© Crown copyright 2012

You may re-use this information (excluding logos) free of charge in any format or medium, under the terms of the Open Government Licence.  

To view this licence, visit http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/ or e-mail: psi@nationalarchives.gsi.gov.uk. 

Where we have identi"ed any third party copyright information you will need to obtain permission from the copyright holders concerned. 

Any enquiries regarding this publication should be sent to us at public.enquiries@homeo#ce.gsi.gov.uk.

$is publication is available for download at www.o#cial-documents.gov.uk 

$is document is also available from our website at http://www.homeo#ce.gov.uk/publications/crime/antisocial-behaviour-responses/.

ISBN: 9780101836722

Printed in the UK by $e Stationery O#ce Limited

on behalf of the Controller of Her Majesty’s Stationery O#ce

ID P002493530  05/12  20857  19585

Printed on paper containing 75% recycled "bre content minimum.

Page 45



3PUTTING VICTIMS FIRST  MORE EFFECTIVE RESPONSES TO ANTI-SOCIAL BEHAVIOUR

Home Secretary Foreword

No one should have to accept graffiti on their walls, public drunkenness on their streets or harassment and 

intimidation on their own doorstep. But for too many communities in this country such crime and anti-social 

behaviour remains a fact of  everyday life. Despite years of  central Government initiatives, targets and top down 

plans, more than three million incidents of  anti-social behaviour are still recorded by the police each year, with 

many more likely to go unreported. And as recent tragic cases have shown, it is often the most vulnerable in our 

society who are at greatest risk. It’s clear that the old approach isn’t working; we need a new way of  dealing with 

this serious problem.

The mistake of  the past was to think that Government could fix the problem with a ‘one size fits all’ model. It 

cannot. Anti-social behaviour is a fundamentally local issue, one that looks and feels different in every area, in 

every neighbourhood and to every victim. The answers lie in local agencies that respond to the needs of  victims 

and communities. They should take the problem seriously, have the freedom to do what they know will make a 

difference, and have the right powers to act. 

I know that the police, local authorities and social landlords are doing a great deal to tackle anti-social behaviour 

– they need to maintain and accelerate their work, and focus more on the impact that anti-social behaviour has 

on victims. Government’s role should be to support these local agencies and to provide them with the powers 

they need to do this. We know that the current powers do not work as well as they should. More than half  of  

all Anti-Social Behaviour Orders (ASBOs) are now breached at least once and those that do get breached, are 

breached more than four times on average. 

As part of  our consultation in the past year we asked victims what they wanted to see happen. They told us three 

things. First, they want their problem to be taken seriously. Second, they want an efficient service and a quick 

response. And third, they want the problem to stop and for it not to happen again. The aim of  this White Paper 

is to help make that happen.

We want to empower victims and communities. Too often people in a local area are desperate to have the 

behaviour that’s blighting their neighbourhood dealt with, they just don’t know how to get the authorities to take 

action. Elected Police and Crime Commissioners and neighbourhood beat meetings will help, but we will support 

local communities by introducing a new Community Trigger to compel agencies to respond to persistent anti-

social behaviour. We are working with a number of  leading local areas, including Manchester, West Lindsey and 

Brighton & Hove to trial the trigger this year. 

We want to support the police and other agencies to understand better the impact anti-social behaviour can have 

on victims. That is why we have worked with eight local police forces to help them prioritise the highest-risk and 

most vulnerable victims. That work has highlighted to police officers the damage anti-social behaviour can cause 

to victims’ lives. 

We will introduce faster and more effective powers to stop the dangerous and yobbish behaviour of  those who 

make victims’ lives a misery. We will replace 19 complex existing powers with six simple new ones. The powers 

will include a new court order available on conviction that will stop the behaviour of  the most destructive 

individuals and will address the underlying causes of  that behaviour – addressing one of  the main failings 

of  the ASBO. There will be a new civil injunction that agencies can use immediately to protect victims and 

communities; simpler powers to close premises that are a magnet for trouble; and a more effective police power 

to stop anti-social behaviour in public places. We will also help speed up the eviction of  anti-social tenants to 

stop ‘nightmare neighbours’ who ruin the lives of  those around them.

Page 46



4 PUTTING VICTIMS FIRST  MORE EFFECTIVE RESPONSES TO ANTI-SOCIAL BEHAVIOUR

We will also do more to help the police and local agencies deal with anti-social behaviour informally. I strongly 

support police officers using their professional knowledge and experience to deal with a problem in the way 

they see fit. Our wider police reform programme is helping restore that discretion. To support the work of  local 

agencies, we will focus national resources on preventing the issues that drive much anti-social behaviour, such as 

binge drinking, drug use, mental health issues, troubled family backgrounds and irresponsible dog ownership.

Anti-social behaviour still ruins too many lives and still damages too many communities. It is time to start 

putting victims first and it is time to put a stop to anti-social behaviour.

The Rt Hon Theresa May MP

Home Secretary

May 2012

Page 47



5

Contents

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY ..................................................................................................................................................6

INTRODUCTION ...............................................................................................................................................................8

1. PUTTING VICTIMS FIRST: FOCUSING THE RESPONSE ON THE NEEDS OF VICTIMS ....10

 Helping agencies to identify and support high risk victims  .......................................................................................10

 Freeing up professionals to support victims quickly ...................................................................................................15

 Improving our understanding of  the needs of  victims ...............................................................................................16

2. EMPOWERING COMMUNITIES: PROTECTING VICTIMS  ..................................................................18

 Giving victims and communities the right to demand that agencies take action ....................................................18

 Demonstrating the harm caused to communities by anti-social behaviour .............................................................19

 Helping communities and businesses to tackle anti-social behaviour and protect victims ...................................21

 Giving victims and communities a say in neighbourhood justice ..............................................................................22

3. SWIFT EFFECTIVE ACTION: GIVING PROFESSIONALS THE TOOLS THEY NEED TO 

PROTECT VICTIMS....................................................................................................................................................23

 Dealing with anti-social individuals – protecting their victims ..................................................................................24

 Protecting communities – improving quality of  life ....................................................................................................26

 Evicting nightmare neighbours .......................................................................................................................................31

4.  LONG TERM SOLUTIONS: TACKLING THE DRIVERS OF ANTI-SOCIAL BEHAVIOUR ......34

 Tackling problem drinking ...............................................................................................................................................34

 Stopping illicit drug use ....................................................................................................................................................35

 Addressing the problems caused by troubled families ................................................................................................35

 Addressing mental health and other health needs ........................................................................................................36

 Tackling anti-social behaviour by encouraging responsible dog ownership .............................................................37

Annex A SUMMARY OF CONSULTATION RESPONSES .............................................................................40

Annex B SUMMARY OF NEW SIMPLIFIED POWERS ..................................................................................46

Annex C NEW POWERS – DETAILED PROPOSALS .....................................................................................48

Annex D OVERVIEW OF THE CONSULTATION PROCESS .......................................................................55

Page 48



6

Executive summary

The phrase ‘anti-social behaviour’ takes in a range of  nuisances, disorder and crimes which affects people’s 

lives on a daily basis: from vandalism and graffiti; to drunk or rowdy behaviour in public; to intimidation and 

harassment. All have huge impacts on the lives of  millions of  people in this country. None are acceptable. 

The Government is committed to stopping the pain, the fear, and the damage caused by anti-social behaviour. 

The starting point must be the impact that behaviour is having on victims.

We know what victims of  anti-social behaviour want to happen. First and foremost they want the behaviour to 

stop, and the perpetrators to be punished for what they’ve done. They want the authorities to take their problem 

seriously, to understand the impact on their lives and to protect them from further harm. They want the issue 

dealt with swiftly and they want it to stop happening. 

The mistake of  the past was to think that the Government could meet these demands with a ‘one size fits all’ 

model. Anti-social behaviour is a local problem, that looks and feels different in every area and to every victim.  

A single, central model is not appropriate for tackling this most local of  problems, although a strong message 

that it has to be taken seriously can come from the centre. Local agencies need to respond to the needs of  

victims, to work with the communities they serve, and to have the freedom to do what they know will make a 

difference. From November, directly elected Police and Crime Commissioners will play a key role.

The Government does have a vital role in supporting local agencies to meet this challenge and to ensure that 

agencies and the public have all the information and power they need to stop anti-social behaviour once and for 

all.

First and foremost, local agencies must focus their response to anti-social behaviour on the needs of  

victims and we will support them to do this by:

 Helping agencies to identify and support high risk victims, particularly through the work we have done 

with eight areas to ensure the police and their partners get it right the moment a call comes in and that they 

identify and manage high-risk victims effectively and take their problems seriously. The results have been 

encouraging, with forces showing an improved service to the victim and the start of  a shift in culture, with call 

handlers responding to the needs of  the victim, rather than just ticking boxes; 

 Giving frontline professionals more freedom, stopping telling experts how to do their jobs but supporting 

them to use their discretion and common sense, including using informal measures for example using 

restorative or reparative approaches, or Acceptable Behaviour Contracts where appropriate. The evidence 

suggests that these measures work for most perpetrators and provide faster relief  for victims. We will 

encourage agencies to make greater use of  them to deal with anti-social behaviour swiftly and effectively; and

 Improving our understanding of  the experiences of  victims, for example by improving the way anti-

social behaviour is measured in the Crime Survey for England & Wales1  – moving away from a measure based 

on perceptions to one based on people’s actual experience. This will provide a more accurate picture of  what 

is happening across the country, and a better understanding of  the impact that anti-social behaviour has on 

victims’ quality of  life.

1 The survey was previously called the British Crime Survey, and the name was changed from 1 April 2012 to better re"ect the coverage of the 

survey.

Page 49



7

Second, we want to support people and communities in establishing what is and isn’t acceptable locally 

and in holding agencies to account, and we want to help people feel more empowered to do that by:

 Giving victims and communities the power to ensure action is taken – too often some victims find themselves 

going round in circles trying to get agencies to deal with persistent anti-social behaviour. To address this we 

are introducing the Community Trigger, which will give victims and communities the right to require action 

to be taken where a persistent problem has not been addressed. We will be working with Manchester, West 

Lindsey and Brighton & Hove to trial the trigger this year; and

 Making it easier to demonstrate the harm caused to victims and communities by anti-social behaviour, for 

example through the new Community Harm Statements which will ensure that terrorised communities’ voices 

are heard in the court room and will inform agencies’ decisions on what action to take.

Third, we will ensure professionals have the powers they need to deal with the persistent anti-social 

behaviour which causes serious harm to victims or their community by: 

 Introducing faster, more effective formal powers. For those individuals who don’t respond to informal 

measures, or who are causing serious harm, we will replace 19 current tools with just six, to give frontline 

professionals a handful of  faster, more effective powers to replace the bloated and confusing toolkit they 

have now. The new powers will enhance agencies’ ability to deal with anti-social individuals and anti-social 

behaviour in public places. We will introduce:

– A civil injunction that agencies can use immediately to protect victims and communities before an individual 

causes serious harm;

– A new court order for the most anti-social individuals, available on conviction, that allows the courts to 

require them to stop their behaviour and address its underlying causes;

– Simpler powers to deal with ‘quality of  life’ crime and anti-social behaviour, and to close premises that are a 

magnet for trouble; and

– A more effective police power to stop anti-social behaviour in public places.

 Speeding up the eviction of  anti-social tenants – the threat of  eviction from rented housing is a very 

powerful incentive to stop ‘nightmare neighbours’ making the lives of  those around them a misery. However 

that threat is undermined by a process that can take many months or even years. We will provide a faster route 

to eviction for the most serious criminal or anti-social behaviour, to bring relief  to victims and communities 

more quickly.

Finally, we will focus on long term solutions to anti-social behaviour by addressing the issues that drive 

much of  it in the first place – binge drinking, drug use, mental health issues, troubled family backgrounds and 

irresponsible dog ownership.

Page 50



8

Introduction

Anti-social behaviour is a broad term used to describe the day-to-day incidents of  crime, nuisance2 and disorder 

that make many people’s lives in this country a misery – from litter and vandalism, to public drunkenness or 

aggressive dogs, to noisy or abusive neighbours. Such a wide range of  behaviours means that responsibility for 

dealing with anti-social behaviour is shared between a number of  agencies, particularly the police, councils and 

social landlords.

The last Government tried to tackle anti-social behaviour. Through more than ten separate pieces of  legislation, 

they introduced a raft of  new powers. However, this led to a variety of  very similar tools being developed to deal 

with slightly different problems, creating a bloated toolkit which is confusing for practitioners and the public 

alike. 

Many of  these same powers have proved over time to be slow and ineffective, and are now used less and less. 

For example the number of  Anti-Social Behaviour Orders (ASBOs) issued has declined to just 1,664 in 2010 

compared with 4,122 in 2005. And over half  of  ASBOs are breached at least once, with 42% of  these being 

breached more than once. In some local areas, the focus is still too much on “management” of  individuals 

causing anti-social behaviour, rather than working quickly to stop problems causing serious harm to victims. As 

Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of  Constabulary (HMIC) found, endless rounds of  partnership meetings and the 

resulting delays mean victims’ needs are not addressed quickly enough.

Despite all of  this activity, anti-social behaviour remains stubbornly high. In 2010/11, 3.2 million incidents of  

anti-social behaviour were recorded by the police – which is likely to still only be the tip of  the iceberg as many 

incidents are reported to other agencies or not at all3. It is understandable that problems go unreported given the 

lack of  prioritisation that some agencies give to anti-social behaviour. This has led to a situation where HMIC 

found that only half  of  the anti-social behaviour victims they surveyed felt the police and their partners were 

dealing with local anti-social behaviour effectively4. 

This Government is committed to significant reform of  how we deal with crime and anti-social behaviour.

We need to ensure that the approach to anti-social behaviour is changed, to put victims at the heart of  the 

response; not bureaucratic targets or pointless meetings. We want the response to be to locally driven, overseen 

by directly elected Police and Crime Commissioners. To improve the response we want to see:

 Agencies identifying vulnerable and repeat victims earlier, and responding at the first sign of  trouble, through 

better logging of  calls and managing of  cases;

 A simpler toolkit, with 19 powers reduced to just six, including an injunction which can be secured in a matter 

of  hours not months, to nip behaviour in the bud;

 Tough orders which can deal with anti-social behaviour if  it escalates into criminality, which are flexible 

enough to deal with a range of  yobbish behaviour including out of  control dogs, public drunkenness, mini-

motos and others; 

2 Here and throughout the document, we refer to the dictionary, rather than a speci#c legal, de#nition of ‘nuisance’. For example, we do not mean 

nuisance as de#ned in the Environmental Protection Act 1990.

3 2004/05 Crime Survey for England & Wales reported in Upson 2006 Home Of#ce report 21/06.

4 Policing anti-social behaviour: the public perspective. Research report prepared for HMIC by Ipsos MORI 2010.

Page 51



9

 The community getting involved in tackling anti-social behaviour, for example through inputting into a 

Community Harm Statement to highlight to the court the impact of  the behaviour on their daily lives; and

 Agencies held to account locally by directly elected Police and Crime Commissioners, and by victims through 

our new Community Trigger.

This White Paper also highlights the range of  work underway across Government to tackle the drivers of  anti-

social behaviour, including tackling binge drinking, drugs and irresponsible dog ownership, as well as dealing with 

mental health issues, and turning round the lives of  120,000 troubled families. It also summarises the response to 

last year’s Home Office consultation on new powers in detail in Annex A and provides detail on how we propose 

implementing the changes in chapter three and Annexes B and C. 

Page 52



10

1. Putting victims #r st: Focusing the 
response to anti-social behaviour 
on the needs of victims

1.1 This Government has clearly set out a new approach to crime, policing and community safety, one based 

on a fundamental shift from bureaucratic to democratic accountability through directly elected Police 

and Crime Commissioners, increased transparency, and increasing professional discretion. This chapter 

outlines how central Government and local agencies are overhauling the whole system of  dealing with 

anti-social behaviour (ASB) to put the needs of  victims first.

1.2 This marks a decisive shift from the top-down, directive approach of  the past. It makes no sense for 

officials in Whitehall to decide local ASB priorities, or whether and how agencies should respond to 

specific issues. Similarly, setting crude targets to reduce ASB or to respond to incidents in a specific time 

period has sometimes resulted in perverse outcomes, with agencies focusing on problems that were not 

a priority for those most in need of  help and protection. This has meant that some areas have failed 

to identify the needs of  victims and have not put the right actions in place to stop harmful behaviour 

quickly and effectively. 

1.3 In terms of  the behaviour itself, what is seen as ‘anti-social’ will vary from victim to victim, and 

neighbourhood to neighbourhood. The right response in each case will depend on a range of  factors, but 

most importantly, on the needs of  the victim and the impact the behaviour is having on their lives. As a 

result, solutions need to be jointly developed by local agencies, each with their own understanding of  the 

situation and context, working together with victims and communities. Frontline professionals must be 

free to use their judgment as to how best to meet the needs of  the victim and the community, rather than 

following a ‘one size fits all’ approach. 

1.4 There is, however, a vital role for central Government in supporting local areas and agencies to reduce 

ASB and protect victims. There is more that we can and should do to facilitate innovation, and to share 

examples of  what has (and hasn’t) worked so that others can learn from them. From November 2012, 

directly elected Police and Crime Commissioners will also be able to build upon our work in this area, 

sharing success and best practice within their force areas.

1.5  This chapter shares learning about the best ways to identify and support high risk victims and 

demonstrate the impact of  ASB on victims’ lives. It outlines what central Government is doing to 

free up professionals to support victims quickly and effectively, including use of  informal approaches 

like Acceptable Behaviour Contracts. It also outlines how we are improving our understanding of  the 

experiences of  victims by improving the way ASB is measured in the Crime Survey for England & Wales.

HELPING AGENCIES TO IDENTIFY AND SUPPORT HIGH RISK VICTIMS

1.6  Government has an important role in supporting and helping directly elected Police and Crime 

Commissioners and local agencies to work more effectively. We are doing this in a number of  ways, for 

example through supporting the Tilley Awards which recognise innovative local projects; launching a new 

‘Effective Practice’ hub on the Home Office website to help local agencies share ideas; and using new 

approaches to trialling new ways of  working. This section outlines effective ways to identify and support 

high risk victims of  ASB, to help ensure victims are identified early and protected quickly.

Identifying and supporting high risk victims: ASB call handling and case management trials 

1.7 Repeated or targeted ASB causes misery to people’s lives. And, as recent cases have shown, a response 

that dismisses concerns, passes the buck between agencies, or which doesn’t join up can have tragic 

consequences. The police and others need to get this right first time. However, a 2010 Her Majesty’s 

Page 53



11

Inspectorate of  Constabulary (HMIC) report showed that few forces had the right systems in place, and 

so this Government has trialled new ways to ensure that the right simple, practical measures are taken. 

This typifies our focus on moving away from headline-grabbing initiatives and instead on working with 

experts on the detail of  what works. 

1.8 We worked with eight police forces5 and their local partners, who volunteered to trial new ways of  

handling ASB calls from the public. The trials have tested ways of  identifying vulnerable victims earlier, 

and bringing agencies together to manage high-risk cases by introducing five principles, outlined in more 

detail in the box below. These principles were intended to focus agencies’ response on identifying and 

stopping harm to the victim or community, rather than on categorising the behaviour itself. To ensure 

the trials were genuinely ‘bottom-up’, the participants were given complete flexibility to implement the 

five principles in a way that suited their circumstances, and to adapt their approach during the trials in 

response to emerging issues or problems. 

1.9 The results from the forces have been encouraging, and the findings were published in a report in April 

20126. The participating forces have reported better identification of  vulnerable victims, closer working 

with other local agencies in dealing with those high-risk cases and an improved service to victims. 

However some have noted that there remains a tendency among some officers to underestimate the 

potential seriousness of  ASB. There is still more to do ensure that the police, local authorities and other 

agencies put the victim at the heart of  their response, but the new approach in the call handling trials – 

where the response is driven by an assessment of  harm to the victim, rather a box-ticking approach to 

categorisation – offers concrete steps towards doing so.

5 Avon and Somerset, Cambridgeshire, Leicestershire, Lincolnshire, Metropolitan Police Service, South Wales, Sussex, and West Mercia. 

6 Focus on the victims: Summary report on the ASB Call Handling trials: www.homeof#ce.gov.uk/publications/crime/asb-focus-on-the-victim

Page 54



12

Focus on the victim: a new approach to dealing with ASB cases

The call handling and case management trials focused on introducing five key principles into all of  the 

forces. These principles were based on a review of  local areas that were recognised as providing an 

excellent service to ASB victims, and what they were doing differently to the rest. 

1. Ha ving an effective call handling system for ASB incidents, that could log information from the first 

point of  contact so that repeat callers and flag up high-risk cases. 

2. Assessing  the potential risks to victims early on in the call handling process. 

3. Using  simple, ‘off-the-shelf ’ IT to share information between local agencies and enable a more joined-

up approach to protecting victims at risk. 

4. Ensuring  that all agencies dealing with ASB in an area have a shared set of  case-management principles. 

5. Acti vely engaging local people to identify issues which are causing the most harm to individuals and 

communities. 

In terms of  an effective call-handling system, although all forces have different approaches to gathering 

and managing information, it was striking how simple the procedural changes needed to be in order to be 

able to identify repeat and vulnerable victims. All call handlers need to do, is to find out from each caller:

 Who is doing it?

 What are they doing?

 Why are they doing it?

 Has this happened before?

 What effect is it having on you? 

These questions, or a version of  them, provide a simple and light touch approach to risk assessment, 

reducing bureaucracy and getting to the heart of  the issue quickly. For example, as reporting rates for ASB 

are low, many people are already a repeat victim the first time they call for help. In addition, some people 

are targeted because of  who they are, and the second question enables the call handler to find this out.

The other key thing that forces should do is ensure that all reports, whether to an officer on the beat, 

over the phone via 101 or 999, or to staff  in the police station, are logged so that the information can be 

shared and the right action taken. Without this, individuals may continue to report in different ways, with 

incorrect, ineffective or isolated action taken in response each time.

1.10 The Home Office will work with the Association of  Chief  Police Officers (ACPO) to encourage all 

43 forces in England and Wales to use the Home Office summary report and the eight trial reports to 

further develop their response to vulnerable and repeat victims of  anti-social behaviour. HMIC has also 

repeated its ASB inspection of  all 43 forces in England and Wales this year with the report due shortly. 

The inspection will focus particularly on the service to repeat and vulnerable victims of  ASB, which was 

highlighted again in the Inspectorate’s recent work on crime recording. For forces still not doing enough 

in this area, the call handling report provides valuable evidence and information on what has worked in 

other areas, and what hasn’t, to help them change culture and attitudes towards victims of  ASB.

Page 55



13

Case study: Putting the needs of victims at the heart of agency responses in Sussex

This case relates to targeted acts of  anti-social behaviour towards a group of  vulnerable elderly women 

aged 91, 82, and 65 who were all neighbours in a quiet road. The problems started when a group of  

five local youths walked past one of  the houses and damaged the roses that were growing in one of  the 

women’s garden, adjacent to the footpath. She challenged the youths, and asked them not to do that, 

because the roses were planted by her husband who had since passed away. The youths were abusive to 

her, and this incident was the catalyst to what followed in the days to come. The youths then returned over 

the next couple of  days, throwing things at the houses, causing damage to garden ornaments and causing 

further damage to flowers. 

One of  the youths also threatened to “set fire to the house”, and “burn the victim at the stake”. Local 

Neighbourhood Policing Team (NPT) officers quickly identified this as repeat victimisation of  vulnerable 

people and visited them all, an ASB risk assessment was completed which scored high, and officers began 

an investigation and put protective measures in place. The area was made a “directed patrol activity” to 

increase police activity at the key times. The following day, the youths returned again and caused further 

problems, but this time it resulted in one of  the victims suffering a heart attack, and another having chest 

pains. An ambulance subsequently attended and took one of  the victims to hospital. NPT officers arrived 

quickly at the scene and detained two suspects nearby who fitted the description and admitted to some 

involvement in the incident. Upon questioning, and realising the seriousness of  their behaviour they 

named the other three youths who had been involved.

There was clear evidence that the behaviour had been affecting the physical and mental wellbeing these 

residents who were terrified by what has been happening. One of  the victims had taped up her letter box 

and padlocked her gate due to fears for her safety.

A meeting was quickly arranged, attended by different agencies, and a number of  actions were agreed 

as part of  a safety plan. This included crime prevention advice, alarm systems, and fire retardant letter 

box protection. The five suspects, aged 14-16 years, were all arrested and interviewed, and were given 

conditional police bail to protect the victims. Three of  these suspects were subsequently charged with 

harassment (currently awaiting trial), and one received a final warning.

The swift intervention of  police in identifying this as a high risk case, supporting the victims, and 

identifying and dealing with the perpetrators, stopped any further incidents occurring and this matter 

escalating with more tragic consequences.

Local officers maintain regular contact with the victims, who recently sent a thank you card to all of  the 

officers involved for the help and support they had provided to them in dealing with the incidents.

Identifying and supporting high risk victims: supporting early risk assessments

1.11 In addition to the call handling trials, there has also been work in all forces to change the approach 

to recording ASB incidents. In the past ASB was categorised according to 14 separate categories (for 

example animal problems, abandoned vehicles, begging/vagrancy etc). This encouraged call handlers 

and response teams to focus on what the incident was, rather than the effect it was having on the victim. 

Page 56



14

In addition, HMIC recently looked at police recording of  ASB incidents7 and found that the recording 

of  crimes arising from ASB incidents varied between forces. A failure to identify crimes correctly, when 

coupled with a failure to identify vulnerable or repeat victims, can lead to victims not getting the response 

that their situation warrants, and continuing to suffer. 

1.12 To address this ACPO, along with the National Policing Improvement Agency (NPIA), led a review 

of  how ASB is categorised in 2010. Following that review, the recording of  ASB incidents has been 

simplified and the emphasis changed from categorisation of  incidents to identifying the impact of  the 

behaviour in order to identify vulnerable or high risk callers. Police forces should now be using just three 

categories – environmental, public nuisance and personal threat – making it easier to focus on the impact 

on the victim and decide on the appropriate response. 

1.13 This now means that, since April 2011, the principal aim of  the new system has been to ensure that all 

incidents are risk assessed at the earliest opportunity, leading to an appropriate response and making it 

easier to assign a lead agency to a case quickly. Along with the learning from the call handling trials, this 

new system will ensure that forces focus on the needs of  the victim at the outset.

Identifying and supporting high risk victims: ASB Multi-Agency Risk Assessment Conferences 

(MARACs)

1.14  As a number of  tragic cases have demonstrated, joined-up working across agencies and effective 

information sharing are vital to providing an effective response for victims. Too often, barriers between 

agencies (e.g. as a result of  different IT systems, poor information sharing or different locations) can 

result in un-coordinated action which doesn’t deal with the problem effectively or support the victim. The 

trials outlined above are one way to address these issues, as will the new Community Trigger outlined in 

the next chapter.

1.15  A third way that we are addressing these issues is through effective management of  cases through 

MARACs. These are action-oriented sessions where agencies come together to agree specific tasks to help 

protect the most vulnerable and stop ASB. They were initially developed as a way to deal with domestic 

violence, where different agencies were likely to be involved in supporting one family. A number of  areas 

have now realised their benefits in helping other high-risk or vulnerable victims of, for example, ASB or 

hate crime. These areas include Blackpool, Greater Manchester, Hastings and Ealing, as well as Avon & 

Somerset and Sussex (in Brighton & Hove) who used this approach as part of  the call handling trials. We 

want to encourage more areas to use this approach to managing cases. For example we have promoted 

them through the call handling report and will continue to demonstrate their benefits to areas through 

our work to highlight effective practice.

7 HMIC ‘The Crime Scene’ 2012.

Page 57



15

Case study: Addressing risk, harm and vulnerability – ASB and hate crime MARACs in 

Brighton & Hove

Brighton & Hove City Council has set up a new way of  managing its multi-agency response to the most 

vulnerable victims of  crime, hate crime and ASB. The aim of  the new process was to turn the existing 

regular ASB meeting into a victim-focused ‘tasking’ session, based on the domestic violence MARAC 

model. The agencies involved are community safety, environmental health (noise team), neighbourhood 

police, council housing, family intervention, housing providers, adult safeguarding/social care and youth 

offending.

At these monthly meetings, in addition to focusing on enforcement action, officers look in detail at the 

ten highest risk or most vulnerable victims (as identified across all agencies). The meetings are a chance 

to assess and review what is happening for those ten individuals, with each partner having to be clear 

about the actions being taken collectively and individually to reduce the harm to that person or household. 

This is supported by a new internet-based case management system which enables agencies to share 

information quickly, be clear about which different interventions had been used and how effective these 

have been. The meeting holds agencies to account and the objective is to reduce the levels of  harm and 

risk down through co-ordinated action and support to victims. 

To take one example, a neighbour of  an elderly man highlighted a series of  noise and ASB problems at his 

address. Further checks and a short investigation revealed that the alleged perpetrator was a 77 year man 

who lived alone. It was discovered that a daughter of  a housing association tenant in the same street and 

her associates had been exploiting his isolation by using his address as place to take drugs and as a party 

house, which was causing a range of  ASB concerns to residents. 

A vulnerability assessment was carried out which highlighted him as high risk. As a result a range of  

interventions were put in place which involved the housing provider (including warnings of  potential 

tenancy action against the housing association tenant), neighbourhood police, community safety and a 

vulnerable safeguarding alert was created. As a result, locks were changed and the girl has now stopped 

going to the property. The matter has now been down-graded to medium risk but continues to be 

monitored by agencies. 

FREEING UP PROFESSIONALS TO SUPPORT VICTIMS QUICKLY

1.16 Once victims of  ASB have been properly identified, it is important that we allow professionals the 

freedom they need to take the right action to stop perpetrators. To do this, we have got rid of  centrally 

mandated targets, action plans and centralised minimum standards on ASB, so that the needs of  victims 

in a local area can drive the actions of  local agencies, rather than officials in Whitehall. 

1.17  We want to support professionals in their decisions on how to deal with anti-social individuals to protect 

victims by giving them evidence on what works. Recent research commissioned by the Home Office8 

identified two key types of  perpetrator: a larger group whose ASB was ‘transitional’, committed when 

the individual was adapting to a specific life change (e.g. adolescence, moving out of  the family home, 

following a divorce); and those whose behaviour was persistent and ‘entrenched’, partly as a result of  

underlying factors such as substance abuse, mental health issues or a dysfunctional family background. 

8 Clarke et al. 2011. Describing and assessing interventions to address anti-social behaviour

Page 58



16

1.18 Evidence shows that early intervention, informal interventions, such as through restorative and reparative 

approaches are successful in stopping the ASB committed by the vast majority of  perpetrators. For 

example, a recent HouseMark survey showed that 76% of  ASB cases dealt with by social landlords were 

resolved through early intervention9. One tool that can be used early is an Acceptable Behaviour Contract 

(also known as an Acceptable Behaviour Agreement) which gets the individual to acknowledge their 

behaviour and its effect on victims, with the aim of  stopping it quickly. Acceptable Behaviour Contracts 

are informal, voluntary agreements between an individual who has committed ASB, and a local agency 

(and also sometimes involving the local community). In addition, verbal or written warnings can be very 

effective at stopping people behaving anti-socially at an early stage. 

1.19  By giving professionals a means of  challenging all unacceptable behaviour immediately, rather than 

going through a formal court process, these informal tools can establish clear standards of  behaviour 

and reinforce the message that ASB will not be tolerated. In many cases, awareness of  the impact of  

the behaviour on their neighbours, and the threat of  more formal enforcement tools, can be a sufficient 

incentive for an individual to change their behaviour. It is for local areas to decide when and how to use 

these approaches, not Whitehall, but we would like to encourage professionals to use informal methods 

where they deem them to be appropriate.

1.20 It is much harder to stop the second type of  perpetrator committing ASB – for example, the National 

Audit Office research found that 7% would not desist even after three interventions10. These individuals 

need tough and effective powers to stop their behaviour quickly, and tackle the root causes of  their 

problems. This is one of  the key problems with the current formal powers as they impose stringent 

conditions to stop future ASB, but don’t address underlying causes. This may partly explain the high 

breach rate for ASBOs, showing that these tools do not change behaviour and so fail to protect victims 

and communities in the long-term. This is something we are addressing in our reforms, outlined in 

chapter three and Annex B.

IMPROVING OUR UNDERSTANDING OF THE NEEDS OF VICTIMS

1.21 In order to be able to put victims first, we need to understand more about victims of  ASB, and the 

impact ASB has on their lives. Some of  this is obvious but there are other perhaps more surprising 

results. We know that there are some people that are more likely to be victims: people living in less 

affluent urban areas particularly those living in social housing; and people who report a disability and 

long-term health condition. But, despite common perceptions, young people are just as likely as older 

people to identify ASB as a local problem11. 

1.22 Understanding victims, and the harm that ASB causes, is vital if  agencies are to respond in the right way, 

and stop the problem quickly and effectively. However, experience of  ASB cannot easily be measured 

in the same way as experience of  crime, as it is sometimes not possible to specify who the ‘victim’ is (as 

it may, for example, be the community as a whole) or to identify one specific ‘incident’. As a result, the 

Crime Survey for England & Wales12 (CSEW) has measured perceptions of  ASB for a number of  years, 

9 Housemark, ASB benchmarking survey 2009/10

10 National Audit Of#ce: The Home Of#ce: Tackling Anti-Social Behaviour 2006

11 Taken from research conducted for HMIC by Cardiff University (building on Crime Survey for England & Wales data): Re-thinking the policing of anti-

social behaviour (Innes and Weston, 2010).

12 The survey was previously called the British Crime Survey, and the name was changed from 1 April 2012 to better re"ect the coverage of the 

survey.

Page 59



17

using ‘proxy’ questions about how much of  a problem a range of  different types of  behaviour are in the 

local area (for example, ‘teenagers hanging around on the streets’ or ‘abandoned cars’). 

1.23 Our understanding of  the needs of  victims is hampered by the fact that these questions do not provide 

detailed information of  the actual experience of  victims of  ASB. To address this, we developed and 

piloted new questions which have been included in the CSEW from April 2011. These explore the 

public’s actual experiences of  ASB. The new questions will provide a richer source of  contextual 

information on people’s experiences of  ASB, their interaction with police and local authorities and the 

impact the behaviour has had on their quality of  life. This will help local agencies to understand better 

the problems in their areas and how to tailor their services to meet the needs of  their communities, and 

allow the public and directly elected Police and Crime Commissioners to hold them to account. 

1.24 Results from the first 12 months of  interviews will be available for publication later in 2012. 

Responsibility for the publication of  Crime Statistics has now passed to the Office for National Statistics 

and they will give consideration to when and how such data will be published.

SUMMARY:

The starting point for all our actions here, and throughout the White Paper, is to ensure that all agencies 

and individuals focus on the need of  victims. This is the key shift to ensure ASB is dealt with more 

effectively, with agencies looking to the needs of  victims rather than Whitehall in deciding their response. 

In particular, we will ensure our approach to tackling ASB focuses on the needs of  victims by:

 Ensuring agencies identify vulnerable and repeat victims of  ASB more quickly through improvements 

in call handling, case management, incident recording and encouraging agencies to adopt the MARAC 

model to put the victim at the heart of  the process;

 Giving professionals more discretion to be able to respond to the needs of  the victim in the most 

appropriate way by getting rid of  centrally driven targets and minimum standards, and sharing 

evidence on the effectiveness of  informal tools such as Acceptable Behaviour Contracts; and

 Giving local areas a better understanding of  victims’ experience of  anti-social behaviour by 

introducing new questions into the Crime Survey for England & Wales.

Page 60



18

2. Empowering communities: 
Protecting victims

2.1  Individuals and communities themselves know exactly what problems they face, and so can often be the 

most effective actors in establishing what is and isn’t acceptable in their neighbourhood, and challenging 

behaviour that crosses the line. We want to do all we can to devolve control of  public services to 

individuals and communities, and support them to hold the various agencies to account. As a result, this 

chapter outlines a range of  initiatives to help victims, communities and businesses get involved in dealing 

with the issues that matter to them. It also outlines our final policy proposals on a new Community 

Trigger, which will act as a backstop to ensure victims and communities are not ignored even once new 

victim-focused approaches are in place.

GIVING VICTIMS AND COMMUNITIES THE RIGHT TO DEMAND THAT AGENCIES TAKE ACTION

2.2 Identifying and supporting victims and empowering communities will help ensure that agencies respond 

effectively to their needs. Many police forces, councils and housing providers are already working hard 

to deal with the issues that really matter locally, but there are still too many horror stories of  victims 

reporting the same problem over and over again, and getting no response. These long-running problems 

– and the sense of  helplessness that goes with them – can destroy a victim’s quality of  life and shatter a 

community’s trust in the police and other agencies. The Government is determined to give the public the 

power to make agencies take them seriously.

2.3 That’s why we have proposed introducing a Community Trigger as part of  our reforms to the tools for 

tackling anti-social behaviour. The trigger would give victims and communities the right to demand that 

agencies who had ignored repeated complaints about anti-social behaviour (ASB) take action. Many 

respondents to the consultation agreed that agencies need to do more to protect repeat or vulnerable 

victims of  ASB. 41% of  the public, the very people who this is aimed at supporting, said the trigger 

would improve the way ASB is dealt with in their area, compared with only 16% who thought it would it 

would make things worse. As one member of  the public commented: 

“The degree of  accountability guaranteed by the trigger is the most welcome of  all the new 

proposals. Police and local authorities will now be compelled to act upon reasonable requests by the 

communities they serve. I believe that the public knowing that their complaints are listened to and 

acted upon will greatly improve confidence amongst communities.”

A more detailed summary of  the feedback from the consultation is in Annex A.

2.4 As a result, and with many respondents agreeing that the importance of  protecting repeat and vulnerable 

victims outweighs the various practical issues raised by some agencies, our final proposal is for a high 

level duty on local authorities, police and health13 to deal jointly with complaints raised by members of  

the community regarding ASB14 where no action has previously been taken. Private registered providers 

of  social housing would also have a duty to cooperate with this group, as they play a key role in tackling 

ASB in local areas. Authorities would be able to reject those complaints deemed vexatious or malicious.

2.5 We do not propose to spell out in legislation exactly how local areas should implement the trigger. 

Instead, relevant authorities (at district council level or above) will be required to decide and publish the 

thresholds, criteria, process (including a single point of  contact) and reporting mechanism they intend 

13 This would currently be the Primary Care Trust, but will be replaced by Clinical Commissioning Groups once the relevant section of the Health and 

Social Care Act 2012 is enacted.

14  De#ned as causing ‘harassment, alarm or distress’ to members of the public.

Page 61



19

to use locally. There would be a role for the directly elected Police and Crime Commissioner to ensure 

democratic accountability. We envisage existing processes and channels of  communications being used 

where possible to minimise bureaucracy and would ensure that areas could join up across local authority 

boundaries if  they wanted to.

2.6 In addition we will specify that the trigger can be initiated by a third party (e.g. carer, family member) in 

the case of  vulnerable victims, and that it will also be open to use by businesses as well as individuals. 

2.7 Framing the duty in this way will ensure agencies can design the process to suit local circumstances and 

focus on local priorities. Given the perennial difficulties that agencies face in sharing information, we will 

also emphasise in the legislation that relevant authorities have a duty to share information, and also to 

publish data on how often the trigger has been used and the outcomes in order to aid transparency.

2.8 We are working with a number of  leading areas, including Manchester, West Lindsey and Brighton & 

Hove, to test the trigger on the ground, as we did with the call handling trials. Testing the trigger like 

this before we apply it nationwide will be key to ensuring that our reforms work without imposing 

unnecessary bureaucracy or, for example, unanticipated burdens on responsible local businesses. 

Manchester City Council, Greater Manchester Police and a range of  other partners are keen to see how 

they can work together to improve the service they offer to victims and communities suffering persistent 

anti-social behaviour, and will test the Community Trigger across the whole of  the City of  Manchester.

The threshold for the trigger will be behaviour causing “harassment, alarm and distress”, based on either: 

 three or more complaints from one individual about the same problem, where no action has been 

taken; or 

 five individuals complaining about the same problem where no action has been taken by relevant 

agencies.

Victims will be able to activate the trigger through a simple online form (accessible on all relevant 

authorities’ websites), by letter or by telephone, describing the anti-social behaviour they are experiencing, 

and when it was previously reported. They will receive an acknowledgement within 24 hours, setting out a 

clear timeline for the response.

If  the complaint meets the threshold, a single lead professional will pool information from all the relevant 

authorities to build up a full picture of  the case and identify any action that could resolve the problem, 

including support for the victim(s). The Chair of  the Community Safety Partnership will then reply to the 

complainant, setting out what agencies propose to do to. 

DEMONSTRATING THE HARM CAUSED TO COMMUNITIES BY ANTI-SOCIAL BEHAVIOUR

2.9  Sometimes it can be difficult for agencies to show the impact that ASB is having on a whole community. 

To help social landlords, and others, to do this more effectively, the Chartered Institute of  Housing were 

funded by the Department of  Communities and Local Government to work with key housing partners 

including the Social Landlord Crime and Nuisance Group (SLCNG), a selection of  social landlords, 

Page 62



20

the police and solicitors to develop Community Harm Statements for use in the County Court15. The 

guidance on these can be found on the Chartered Institute of  Housing website (www.cih.org).

2.10  The Community Harm Statement provides a recognised template to present evidence of  harm on 

communities to court in a consistent way. It gives a stronger voice to communities by helping ensure 

that the damage inflicted by ASB is properly demonstrated when landlords take legal action. For 

example, it can show judges the impact that ASB is having on a whole community, to balance alongside 

considerations of  the rights of  the perpetrator.

2.11  It can also be used to support non-judicial actions, casework and partnership working. For example, ASB 

officers can use statements to show the cost of  ASB to an organisation in increased repairs, increased 

calls for service and higher staff  costs (e.g. if  officers have to work in pairs for safety). This enables 

them to demonstrate that swift action to stop ASB quickly will save money in the long run as well as 

protect victims. Statements can also be used by one agency to demonstrate to another why increased 

activity is needed. For example, a housing association could show that residents in one area were regularly 

experiencing ASB at specific times, and use this to get foot patrols increased by neighbourhood policing 

teams. This all helps to ensure that partnership working results in actions which make a visible difference 

to victims and communities, rather than just meetings.

Case study: Taunton Deane Borough Council’s effective use of a Community Harm 

Statement to protect victims and stop anti-social behaviour 

The Community Harm Statement was used to deal with ASB caused by a tenant and his ex-partner in 

a small block of  flats. Residents in the block complained of  shouting, screaming, general verbal abuse 

and items being thrown out of  the windows. The verbal arguments and the banging of  doors between 

them were so loud that they could be heard throughout the flat complex. Police attended on numerous 

occasions and often found the tenant and his ex-partner to be drunk. The tenant also made complaints to 

the police about his ex-partner but the police found that he had invited her into the property. 

The statement was used to help collate information on harm to the community. It showed that the block 

was a small community which had a neighbourly feel, where all the residents looked out for each other. 

However, they felt isolated by the ASB and did not venture outside their front doors at night for fear of  

meeting the tenant or his ex-partner when they were drunk, as they would then subject residents to abuse 

and threats. 

Analysis of  incidents indicated that there was only nuisance and annoyance to other residents when the 

tenant’s estranged partner visited the property. She had no “rights” to be at the property. The issues in the 

statement were explained to the tenant who, having been confronted with clear evidence of  the impact of  

his behaviour, agreed to sign an Acceptable Behaviour Agreement that he would not invite his estranged 

partner into the property and he would not do anything to annoy or be a nuisance to his neighbours. At 

the time of  preparing the case study the ASB had stopped and the agreement had not been breached. 

15  In some areas, Community Impact Statements are used in a similar way in criminal proceedings, to inform the court of the concerns and priorities 

of a speci#c community over a set time period.

Page 63



21

HELPING COMMUNITIES AND BUSINESSES TO TACKLE ANTI-SOCIAL BEHAVIOUR AND 

PROTECT VICTIMS

2.12 Many communities and activists are already leading the way in standing up to anti-social behaviour and 

making their neighbourhoods better places to live. However, too often, the old top-down approach 

made it harder, not easier, for people to make a difference. We are exploring new ways for the public to 

get involved and to shape the approach to the issues that really matter in their area. We have also made 

more information available through the national crime mapping website, www.police.uk, so they know 

what those issues really are and what agencies are doing about them. For example, by October 2012 we 

will produce court-by-court details of  the number of  Anti-social Behaviour Orders (ASBOs) issued. We 

will also explore the feasibility of  separately showing breach of  ASBO criminal offences on the website 

and will work to ensure these types of  data are also available on the new ASB tools once they come into 

force.

2.13  In addition, some communities are already working together to challenge local agencies to deal with ASB 

in the way that they think is most appropriate. For example, young people in some communities have 

challenged the use of  ‘mosquito’ devices which seek to disperse teenagers by emitting a high-pitched 

tone which only children and young people can hear. They have successfully challenged local authorities 

to take a more constructive approach to ASB by young people. The case study below demonstrates the 

effect of  one such example of  locally driven action.

Case study: Young people in"uencing how ASB is tackled locally 

Following a successful campaign led by Harrison Carter, the member of  the UK Youth Parliament for 

Sheffield, the Cabinet of  Sheffield City Council voted unanimously in January 2011 to end the use of  

mosquito devices on all council buildings. It also recommended that partners such as the police do likewise 

and refuse to endorse the use of  mosquito devices across Sheffield. 

Sheffield’s Safer Neighbourhood Teams work with local providers to challenge the behaviour of  the small 

minority of  young people who have been identified as causing, or at risk of  causing anti social behaviour. 

This has made a major contribution to the lowest levels of  reported anti-social behaviour for three years. 

Other authorities that have taken similar action against the mosquito device include Lancashire (May 

2007), Knowsley (June 2007), Kent (June 2008) and Kirklees (September 2010) – all as a result of  

successful campaigns by young people.

2.14  Some businesses are also working closely with local agencies to tackle anti-social behaviour. For example, 

some local authorities have established voluntary landlord accreditation schemes to help private landlords 

provide a better service to tenants, including tackling ASB. Local authorities encourage landlords to sign 

up by offering incentives such as direct support from council officers to help deal with problem tenants, 

as well as public recognition that a landlord and letting agent is responsible and maintains good standards 

in their properties. This partnership working helps landlords to provide a better service to their tenants, 

and also makes it easier for them to work with the local authority to deal with ASB and protect victims.

2.15 Other areas have introduced mandatory ‘selective licensing’ to ensure private landlords take responsibility 

for dealing with the behaviour of  their tenants. In an area of  selective licensing the local authority can 

introduce licensing for all privately rented properties. Private landlords must then pay for a license and 

Page 64



22

have to show they can manage their properties properly, including taking action against nuisance tenants. 

This ensures that landlords take action to deal with anti-social tenants, providing respite to victims and 

communities suffering as a result of  neighbours from hell. Selective licensing operates in a number of  

areas including Salford, Manchester, Middlesbrough, Gateshead, Burnley, Bolton, Blackburn, Leeds, 

Hartlepool, Sunderland and London Borough of  Newham. In addition to these partnership approaches, 

our proposals in chapter three including new powers of  eviction and a new injunction, will tackle ASB in 

the private rented sector to protect victims and communities.

GIVING VICTIMS AND COMMUNITIES A SAY IN NEIGHBOURHOOD JUSTICE

2.16 Restorative Justice is a vital tool for giving victims and communities a say in how an offender should 

make amends for the crime they have committed and getting the offender to face up to the consequences 

of  their actions. Restorative Justice is used in both the youth and adult justice systems and is most 

effective when it is locally driven and therefore responsive to tackling ASB, crime and disorder in the local 

area.

2.17  We want to get community representatives more involved in delivering Restorative Justice, and one of  

the ways we are doing this is by working with a number of  local areas to set up and test Neighbourhood 

Justice Panels. Panels can be used to deal with low-level crime and ASB, which does not require a formal 

criminal sanction, but which is having a detrimental impact on local communities and causing harm 

to victims. Facilitated by representatives of  the local community, panels bring those who have caused 

harm face to face with their victims, and all parties work together to reach an agreed outcome including 

reparation to the victim. We are trialling Neighbourhood Justice Panels in a number of  areas across 

England and Wales to test these approaches and understand how panels enable the community to be 

more involved in Restorative Justice.

SUMMARY:

We will empower communities to protect victims and hold agencies to account by:

 Giving communities, including businesses, the power to ensure action is taken through the Community 

Trigger;

 Making it easier to demonstrate the harm caused to victims and communities by anti-social behaviour 

through the Community Harm Statements; and

 Giving victims and communities a say in how anti-social behaviour and low level offending which 

affects them is dealt with, by trialling Neighbourhood Justice Panels in a number of  areas across 

England and Wales.

Page 65



23PUTTING VICTIMS FIRST  MORE EFFECTIVE RESPONSES TO ANTI-SOCIAL BEHAVIOUR

3. Swift,  effective action: Giving professionals 
the tools they need to protect victims

3.1  Practitioners have told us what works16 in tackling anti-social behaviour (ASB). They know that a balanced 

response, incorporating elements of  both enforcement and prevention is essential in stopping ASB, 

especially for the most persistent perpetrators. As outlined in chapter one, it is vital that professionals 

have discretion to use informal approaches such as Acceptable Behaviour Contracts to tackle ASB, as the 

evidence shows that this is often the right response to protect victims. 

3.2  However, there will always be a minority of  cases where the informal approach will not work, and 

where high-end, formal interventions are needed to stop the dangerous and yobbish behaviour of  

some individuals who make victims’ lives a misery. These individuals need tough action to prevent them 

behaving anti-socially, and need to know that there will be swift and effective sanctions if  they fail to stop. 

3.3  Our consultation proposed changes to streamline the existing system of  having a specific tool for every 

type of  behaviour, to more flexible tools available to professionals from a range of  organisations (e.g. 

social landlords, local authorities and police officers). The aim of  our proposals is to provide high-end 

formal tools to help agencies take action quickly and prevent problems from re-occurring. We also want 

to build support into the system to change behaviour, thus protecting victims in the long-term by getting 

lasting change. Our changes will mean that we are cutting the existing alphabet soup of  unwieldy powers, 

replacing 19 complex existing powers with six simple, flexible and adaptable new ones.

3.4 As we are proposing simplification of  a wide range of  existing law, we want to consider all the detailed 

issues fully in order to get it right first time. Rather than introducing reactive initiatives and narrow 

powers one after another, like the last Government, we know we need to involve the experts who will use 

these powers in their development. As a result we will publish our legislative proposals as part of  a draft 

Bill for pre-legislative scrutiny. We will continue to work closely with victims, communities, businesses 

and practitioners to shape the legislation so that it offers the best possible protection to the public and 

reflects the likely impacts across the wide range of  groups affected by anti-social behaviour. 

3.5  These proposals will apply in England and, where relevant, in Wales. Whilst most of  the issues covered 

in this White Paper are not devolved, the Welsh Government does have an important role in community 

safety so we are working with them on implementing these reforms in Wales.

Consultation response

3.6 Overall, the reaction to the proposals in the ASB consultation has been positive, with a great deal of  

support for our overall aim of  simplifying the current system. For example, the Association of  Chief  

Police Officers (ACPO) called them “practical, positive, reasonable and balanced.”

3.7 57% of  stakeholder consultation respondents (e.g. local authorities, police, Community Safety 

Partnerships, housing providers, judiciary, and the voluntary sector) were in favour of  simplification 

of  the tools and powers, with only 9% against the proposals. Of  the public respondents, 40% felt the 

proposals would improve the response to ASB and only 9% felt they would be less effective than the 

current system. Annex A gives a detailed summary of  responses to our consultation on each of  the 

proposals, and Annex B provides a table which summarises the tools being repealed and what they will be 

replaced with. 

16 Clarke et al. 2011. Describing and assessing interventions to address anti-social behaviour. And the ASB Consultation: More effective responses 

to anti-social behaviour.

Page 66



24

SIMPLIFICATION: FROM 19 TO 6

People

Places

Police powers

ASBO ASBO on 
conviction

Drink 
Banning 
Order

ASB 
Injunction

Individual 
Support 
Order

S.30 
Dispersal 
Order

S.27 
Direction to 
Leave

Intervention 
order

Litter 
Clearing 
Notice

Street Litter 
Clearing 
Notice

Defacement
Removal Notice

Community 
Protection 
Notice

Community 
Protection Order 
(public space)

Community 
Protection Order 
(closure)

Premises 
Closure 
Order

Crack House 
Closure 
Order

Noisy 
Premises 
Closure Order

Designated 
Public 
Place Order

Gating
Order

Dog 
Control 
Order

S161 
Closure 
Order

Drink Banning 
Order on 
conviction Criminal 

Behaviour 
Order

Directions 
Power

Crime 
Prevention 
Injunction

DEALING WITH ANTI-SOCIAL INDIVIDUALS – PROTECTING THEIR VICTIMS

3.8 Much of  what is described as ASB is criminal (e.g. vandalism, graffiti, dangerous dogs, street drug dealing 

and people being drunk and disorderly), but civil powers to deal with anti-social individuals can also be 

useful as they give the police an alternative to criminal charges in cases where it is difficult to prove that 

an offence had been committed or where victims are afraid to give evidence. If  used effectively, they 

can also help to stop the kind of  sustained harassment directed at vulnerable victims seen in some high-

profile cases. 

3.9 We consulted on proposals to create a purely civil order (i.e. with sanctions under the civil, rather than 

criminal law) that agencies can secure quickly, in a matter of  days or even hours, to stop an individual’s 

anti-social behaviour and protect victims. Following consultation, we propose introducing the Crime 

Prevention Injunction, which would be a purely civil injunction available in the County Court for adults 

and the Youth Court for 10 to 17 year olds. This would be faster to use than the Anti-Social Behaviour 

Order (ASBO) and could be used at an earlier stage and secured using the civil burden of  proof  (i.e. on 

the balance of  probabilities rather than beyond reasonable doubt). Breach would be contempt of  court 

and carry serious penalties, including custody.

3.10 Our injunction will build on the success of  the ASB Injunction, which social landlords use effectively 

to stop problems and protect victims, and which is faster and easier to use than the ASBO. We will 

Page 67



25

improve the ASB Injunction by broadening out the range of  agencies who can apply for it (for example 

including NHS Protect who deal with anti-social behaviour against hospital staff) and ensuring it can be 

used in a wider range of  circumstances (for example against nightmare neighbours in the private rented 

sector). Use of  the injunction would need to be proportionate and the impact on vulnerable individuals 

considered.

3.11 Another new feature of  the injunction will be that it could include both prohibitions on behaviour and 

positive requirements to address underlying issues and change behaviour in the long term. Including 

positive requirements addresses a major flaw of  the ASBO – that by focusing solely on prohibitions 

and enforcement, the order fails to change the behaviour of  the perpetrator, and therefore fails to 

stop breaches and protect victims. More detail on how the Crime Prevention Injunction would work is 

outlined in Annex C.

3.12 The following examples demonstrate how the new Crime Prevention Injunction will enable agencies to 

protect victims more quickly and more effectively than the current system:

 Example 1: An individual who repeatedly calls an ambulance after feigning chest pain in public places 

and is regularly drunk and aggressive to paramedics on route to hospital. Under the current system, 

hospital authorities must persuade the police or local authority to apply for an ASBO, which takes 

many months and which must then be enforced by others. Under the new system, NHS Protect, the 

body responsible for protecting NHS staff, property and resources against crime and disorder, will 

be able to apply direct for an injunction to immediately protect staff, and will be able to enforce and 

manage the injunction themselves.

 Example 2: An individual renting a property in the private rented sector who was regularly using 

abusive language towards their owner occupier neighbours and threatening them. Under the current 

system local agencies could take months to apply to the courts for an ASBO, during which time the 

neighbours would continue to suffer as a result of  the individual’s increasingly threatening behaviour. 

Under the new system, local agencies could, in a matter of  hours, apply to the civil courts to get an 

injunction on the individual, providing respite to their neighbours and preventing the behaviour from 

escalating.

 Example 3: An individual who had allowed and encouraged their dogs to intimidate people, causing 

distress to others in their local community and preventing others from using a local park. Under the 

current system that individual could be banned from the park through an ASBO (though this would 

usually take months to secure). Under the new system, an injunction could be secured very quickly to 

ban the individual from the park, but also to require them to always have their dog muzzled and on a 

lead in public, and to attend dog training classes so that they understood how to control their dog. 

3.13 To give agencies and communities what they need to deal with the hard-core of  persistently anti-social 

individuals who are also engaged in criminal activity17 we consulted on introducing a new civil order 

available alongside a conviction. Following consultation we propose introducing the Criminal 

Behaviour Order, which would be available alongside a conviction for any criminal offence and in any 

criminal court. The order would have tough criminal sanctions on breach, with a maximum sentence of  

17 For example, in 2006 the National Audit Of#ce found in a sample of 606 cases in six areas that 80% of those being given an ASBO had a previous 

criminal conviction, and this group of individuals had an average of 50 criminal convictions each. 

Page 68



26

five years in prison, to ensure that there were serious consequences if  an individual failed to change their 

behaviour and continued to make their victims’ lives a misery. 

3.14 The court could use the order to ban an individual from certain things to prevent future ASB e.g. 

going to specific places or being out at certain times. Crucially, it would also allow the court to require 

the individual to undertake positive activities to address underlying issues that may be driving his or 

her behaviour, or to deal with problems such as irresponsible dog ownership. It would also allow the 

individual to pay to attend an approved course to address the causes of  their behaviour, as currently 

happens in relation to drink driving. By addressing the causes of  an individual’s behaviour, we would 

expect breach rates to fall in the long term.

3.15 We will give the police flexibility to deal with a first breach to determine its seriousness and, where it 

is sufficiently minor, to deal with it immediately either by informal measures (for example reparative 

approaches where appropriate) or a formal out-of-court disposal. This builds on evidence which suggests 

that the longer the gap between action (i.e. breach) and consequence (i.e. court appearance), the lower the 

likelihood that the potential consequence will deter the individual in the first place. By taking all breaches 

seriously, and enabling the police to deal with them quickly, we will demonstrate to individuals that 

breaching an order has consequences and protect victims by preventing future breaches.

3.16 The following examples demonstrate how the new Criminal Behaviour Order will enable agencies to deal 

more effectively with ASB than the current system:

 Example 1: A persistent beggar and street drinker convicted of  being drunk and disorderly who 

had been harassing passers by asking for money and being abusive to members of  the public. Under 

the current system they could be given order alongside the conviction which prevented them from 

approaching people to ask for money in a specific area, but nothing could be done to address their 

alcohol problem. Under the new system, they could still be prevented from begging in a specific area 

and could also be required to attend alcohol treatment, awareness, or advice and support programmes, 

which would in the long term reduce the likelihood of  them breaching the order.

 Example 2: A young person convicted of  criminal damage after having broken the window of  an 

elderly person’s house following an ongoing campaign of  harassment. Under the current system, they 

could be prevented from going near their victim’s house, but under the new system, the same order 

could also require them to make good the damage to the victim’s window and engage with a mentoring 

programme to address the reasons why they were harassing the victim.

 Example 3: An individual being convicted for riding an unlicensed mini-moto on a road and of  

causing nuisance to their local community because of  the noise. Under the current system that person 

could be given an order to prevent them from owning a mini-moto in the future, but under the new 

system, they could also choose to pay to attend a locally available driver awareness course, which would 

show them the impact of  their behaviour on others and reduce the likelihood of  breach.

PROTECTING COMMUNITIES – IMPROVING QUALITY OF LIFE

3.17 Everyone wants to live in a safe, secure and welcoming environment and not to be a victim of  ASB 

in their neighbourhoods. We consulted on proposals to simplify, consolidate and strengthen the tools 

available to deal with environmental and place-based ASB through a ‘Community Protection Order’. 

Page 69



27

This approach shifts the emphasis from having a specific tool to deal with every type of  behaviour, 

often only available to individuals with a particular specialism, to ensuring a wider range of  professionals 

can respond effectively to a wide range of  problems. As that range of  problems will include anti-social 

behaviour caused by irresponsible businesses, we will work with business forums to ensure our new 

approach imposes minimal burdens on responsible businesses, in agreement with the Government’s 

independent economists on the Regulatory Policy Committee.

Protecting local neighbourhoods

3.18  Following the feedback received in the consultation we propose introducing a Community Protection 

Notice, issued to an individual or responsible person within a business or other organisation, to deal with 

a particular problem negatively affecting the community. It could be used to tackle the impacts of  a range 

of  anti-social behaviour (for example graffiti, littering, dog fouling or using a skateboard somewhere 

inappropriate). The notice would be issued to stop persistent, unreasonable behaviour that is detrimental 

to the amenity of  the locality or is having a negative impact on the local community’s quality of  life. The 

notice would replace Litter Clearing Notices, Street Litter Control Notices and Defacement Removal 

Notices.

3.19 This notice is not designed to be issued for a single incident – guidance would make it clear that informal 

measures (as well as low-level sanctions such as a Fixed Penalty Notice where appropriate) should be used 

at first to try to elicit a change in behaviour. Only where such measures have proved ineffective would a 

notice be used – by which time the subject would have been given ample warning that the behaviour was 

unacceptable and have chosen to continue regardless. 

3.20 The notice could be used in a variety of  other situations not addressed by the powers it is directly 

replacing, allowing areas to respond flexibly to local issues as they arise. For example, relatively low-

level, but persistent, neighbourhood noise can be one of  a number of  behaviours that, when combined, 

can have a significantly detrimental effect on a community.18 Noise is currently the preserve of  local 

authorities, yet many members of  the public call the police when they are a victim of  noise nuisance (for 

example, the police were called out to deal with noise 88,317 times in 2008/09). Our proposals would 

enable the police to issue a notice to stop the behaviour, with criminal sanctions if  the individual failed to 

comply, rather than simply attending or taking a call and referring on, as is currently the case. This would 

extend the powers the police have to deal with noise problems (as they currently only have some limited 

powers to control noise from road vehicles)19. 

3.21 Examples of  where the notice could be used, and how this differs from the current system, include:

 An individual who regularly allows their dog to foul in a communal garden (this situation is not covered 

by current notices);

 A group regularly taking the same route home late at night whilst drunk, making noise and waking their 

neighbours (this is behaviour not covered by the statutory nuisance regime); and

18 The statutory nuisance regime under the Environmental Protection Act 1990 would take precedence, and we will also ensure that the changes do 

not have any unintended implications for the planning system, including the enforcement of planning permissions.

19 The onus would still be on the local authority to take the lead on noise as they would still be the only authority empowered to use the statutory 

nuisance powers under the Environmental Protection Act 1990.

Page 70



28

 A takeaway which persistently allows its customers to drop litter on the pavement outside and causes 

noise nuisance late at night, being required to put bins outside the shop and to ensure that customers 

leave quietly after 10pm (current notices can only be used to deal with one type of  behaviour).

3.22 Community Protection Notices could be issued by a range of  professionals including the police and 

designated private registered providers of  social housing, although we anticipate that most will be issued 

by local authorities. It would be for the local authority to work with private registered providers of  social 

housing to agree which (if  any) of  them should be given the power to issue notices in their area and for 

all the relevant competent authorities to ensure the necessary liaison arrangements are in place to avoid 

duplication of  effort or complaints falling between the gaps. 

3.23  A notice could only be issued where the behaviour is occurring without reasonable excuse, and we 

propose having a defence on breach if  all practical measures have been taken to avoid or prevent the 

problem. For example, someone may find a baby crying in the night has a negative impact on their quality 

of  life, but it would not be reasonable for an agency to serve a notice on someone to stop a baby crying 

so the notice couldn’t be used. 

3.24 Non-compliance (or ‘breach’) would be a criminal offence, punishable by a fine of  up to £2,500, or 

£20,000 for businesses. Practitioners would have the option of  issuing a Fixed Penalty Notice, rather 

than pursuing prosecution, where appropriate. Where requirements to ‘make good’ were not carried 

out, the local authority could complete the works and charge the individual responsible a reasonable 

amount to cover this – strengthening the powers local areas currently have to deal with graffiti and other 

defacement. The police and local authority could obtain a warrant from the court to be able to enter an 

individual’s premises to confiscate items used to breach the notice.

Protecting public places – the local authority

3.25 Following the consultation, we propose giving local authorities a flexible power to put in place local 

restrictions to address a range of  ASB issues in public places, and prevent future problems, called a 

Community Protection Order (public space). This would replace Dog Control Orders, Gating Orders, 

and the Designated Public Place Order (designed to tackle public drinking), but again covers a much 

wider range of  problem behaviours, including those currently covered by the ‘good rule and governance’ 

byelaws20. The order would be issued by the local authority (in consultation with the police and the 

directly elected Police and Crime Commissioner) either to deal with existing problems or to prevent 

future ones.

3.26 Examples of  where the order could be used include:

 To prevent groups from using a public square as a skateboard park and to discourage drunken anti-

social behaviour in the same place by making it an offence not to hand over containers of  alcohol 

when asked to do so;

 To prevent dogs fouling a public park or being taken into a children’s play area within that park; and

20 Under Section 235 of the Local Government Act 1972

Page 71



29

 To restrict public access to any public highway, whether for 24 hours a day or only at certain times 

of  day or night, in order to prevent crime or ASB from occurring. For example by gating an alleyway 

running between two blocks of  flats on an estate where there has been a lot of  ASB caused by non-

residents loitering in the alleyway causing noise nuisance late at night and using the alley to take drugs.

This would be different to the current situation as one order would be able to cover all of  these issues, 

rather than needing to follow separate processes for each. This would reduce bureaucracy for local 

authorities, and make it easier for local businesses and communities to influence restrictions in place in 

their areas.

3.27 Given that the order affects use of  public space, the local authority would be required to consult the local 

community and the directly elected Police and Crime Commissioner before making the order, and to 

publicise it. Failure to comply with the restrictions would be a criminal offence, with a maximum fine of  

£1,000 on conviction. Again, practitioners would be able to issue a Fixed Penalty Notice as an alternative 

to prosecution.

3.28 In keeping with the Government’s desire to devolve powers to local areas, the order would allow local 

authorities to make decisions without the burden of  having to go through central Government. This 

provides more local discretion than current byelaws which require Secretary of  State sign-off. Instead, 

the local community, the Police and Crime Commissioner and the police would have oversight. Guidance 

on consultation and publication of  these orders, which aims to strike the balance between flexibility and 

fairness, will follow legislation.

Protecting public places – the police

3.29 We also consulted on giving the police a new power to disperse individuals causing or likely to cause ASB 

in public which combines the most effective elements of  the various current powers into a single, less 

bureaucratic police power. A significant limitation in current police powers to disperse individuals causing 

ASB is that they have to be agreed in advance and can only be used in a pre-arranged area. In a fast 

moving situation, where groups can quickly convene to cause ASB or disorder and then move to different 

areas, the current powers are ineffective. 

3.30  Following the consultation we propose introducing a new flexible police power which combines the most 

effective elements of  the various current dispersal powers into a single, less bureaucratic power. This 

would enable police officers or Police Community Support Officers (PCSOs)21 to require a person who 

has committed, or is likely to commit, anti-social behaviour22 to leave a specified area and not return for 

up to 48 hours. There would be no need to designate an area in advance. The power could operate in any 

public place, and in common areas of  private land with the landowner’s consent. This means the police 

could quickly deal with emerging troublespots, providing immediate respite to victims. 

3.31 We would retain the current power for the police to return children under 16 home or to a place of  

safety if  acting anti-socially and not accompanied by a responsible adult after 9pm. We will use the 

accompanying guidance to mitigate the risks raised by children’s charities such as Barnardo’s, that this 

21 If designated the power (or elements of it) by their Chief Constable.

22 The test would be that the constable has reasonable grounds for suspecting that the person’s behaviour is contributing or is likely to contribute to 

anti-social behaviour or crime or disorder in the area and that the direction is necessary’

Page 72



30

could increase the risk to vulnerable children (e.g. by returning them to an abusive home environment). 

We are also protecting children who are vulnerable to abuse or exploitation through our wider 

safeguarding work to deliver our commitments in the Child Sexual Exploitation Action Plan (including 

for example work with ACPO on training for police officers to ensure they recognise the signs of  child 

sexual exploitation).

3.32 A police officer would be able to require an individual to hand over items causing or likely to cause anti-

social behaviour (e.g. alcohol). Any confiscated items would need to be held at the police station for a set 

period of  time (e.g. 28 days) to enable the individual to reclaim it. A constable may also refuse to return 

the item to an individual under 16 unless they are accompanied by a parent or other appropriate adult, to 

enforce parental responsibility. 

3.33 Failure to comply with the direction would be a criminal offence and would carry a maximum penalty of  

a £2,500 fine and/or three months imprisonment. Failure to hand over confiscated items would also be a 

criminal offence and would have a penalty of  a £1,000 and/or one month imprisonment. These sanctions 

are in line with current equivalent powers, and will ensure there is a serious consequence to failing to 

comply.

3.34 As a safeguard to ensure that the power is used proportionately and to protect civil liberties, we propose 

that data on its use would have to be published locally. Police and Crime Commissioners would have a 

key role in holding forces to account on this to ensure that officers are using the power proportionately. 

Publication of  data locally would also help highlight any ‘hot-spot’ areas that may need a longer-term 

solution (e.g. diversionary activities for young people or introduction of  CCTV cameras to help ‘design 

out’ crime and ASB).

3.35  This power could be used in a range of  situations to disperse anti-social individuals and provide 

immediate respite to a local community. For example, if  someone was riding a mini-moto on an estate 

and causing distress to others as a result of  the noise, they could be asked to move on and their mini-

moto could be confiscated, and if  they were under 16 and it was after 9pm, they could be taken home. Or 

if  a group of  individuals were using their dogs to intimidate and harass others in a public park, they could 

be asked to leave and not return for up to 48 hours. At the moment, agencies would have to go through 

the process of  designating the area as a dispersal zone – a process that can be very slow – before they 

could deal with problems such as these, leaving victims at the mercy of  the ASB for months.

Protecting local neighbourhoods – closing properties used to carry out criminal or anti-social 

behaviour

3.36 In some communities there are particular premises that are a constant focus for severe ASB, making the 

lives of  those living nearby a misery. Although there are existing powers to close these properties, they 

are very similar and overlap in a number of  ways, which is confusing for those who use them, and for 

the victims they were designed to protect. We propose consolidating four of  those powers (Section 161 

Closure Notices; Local authority temporary closures for noise nuisance; Crack House Closure Orders; 

and ASB Premises Closure Orders) into a single order.

Page 73



31

Community Protection Order (closure)

3.37 The new, simpler, closure powers would allow the police or local authority to protect victims quickly 

by issuing an order to temporarily close any property, including licensed premises, businesses and 

private residences for up to 48 hours if  there is a public nuisance or if  there is or is likely imminently 

to be disorder and if  the closure is necessary. The police or local authority would have to apply to the 

Magistrates’ Court as soon as reasonably practicable after the order comes into force for the court to 

consider the order and any extension. The habitual resident, owner or landlord would still be able to 

enter a property subject to a closure for less than 48 hours. Breach of  the 48 hour closure would carry a 

maximum fine of  £5,000 fine for individuals, a maximum fine of  £20,000 fine for businesses and/or up 

to three months in prison.

3.38 The notice could be used in a range of  situations related to both licensed and other premises, including:

 Closing a nightclub, where the police have intelligence to suggest that disorder is likely in the 

immediate vicinity on a specific Friday night; and

 Closing a property where loud music is being played at unsociable hours in a residential area, where 

negotiation had failed to resolve the issue.

3.39 The test for continuing the closure of  the property for longer than 48 hours would be higher than the 

initial test: that a person has engaged in disorder, anti-social or criminal behaviour on the property, and 

that the premises is associated with disorder or serious nuisance. A property subject to such an order 

could be completely closed for up to three months initially, and up to a maximum of  six months in 

total. Breach of  the longer closure order would carry a maximum fine of  £5,000 fine for individuals, a 

maximum fine of  £20,000 fine for businesses and/or up to six months in prison.

3.40 Examples of  where a longer closure order might be sought are:

 A premises used for drug dealing, associated with serious anti-social behaviour in the immediate 

vicinity;

 A premises where the persistent behaviour of  the residents (e.g. visitors coming and going at all hours, 

frequent loud parties, harassment and intimidation of  neighbours) is associated with serious anti-social 

behaviour in the immediate vicinity.

EVICTING NIGHTMARE NEIGHBOURS

3.41 Those who abuse their tenancies should expect to face the consequences. Making neighbours’ lives a 

misery through anti-social or criminal behaviour is not acceptable. The Government recognises that 

eviction should be used only exceptionally and when other interventions have been tried and failed. 

Too often however, where private or social landlords seek possession as a last resort in order to provide 

respite to communities and as a serious sanction, the process can take far too long.

3.42  A recent Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG) consultation proposed 

introducing a new mandatory route to possession for anti-social behaviour, as a way of  significantly 

reducing the length of  the possession process and providing faster relief  to victims and communities. 

Page 74



32

This could be used by social landlords and private landlords. They could choose to use this mandatory 

route where serious housing-related anti-social behaviour had already been proven by another court. 

Where they did so the court would, subject to the landlord following the correct procedure and 

considerations of  proportionality (where the landlord is a public authority), be required to grant 

possession. The Welsh Assembly Government has also consulted on introducing this new mandatory 

route to possession in Wales. 

3.43  Following the widespread rioting of  August 2011, the DCLG consultation was extended to seek the views 

of  consultees on broadening landlords’ existing powers to seek possession on discretionary grounds to 

include convictions for riot-related offences, committed beyond as well as in the locality of  the property.

3.44  Responses to the consultation showed a roughly even split of  opinion in relation to this latter proposal. 

There was widespread support, particularly from landlords, for the introduction of  a new mandatory 

route for possession, though also a strong emphasis on the need to look at whether to use the mandatory 

route on a case by case basis and to ensure proper protections for tenants.

3.45  In the light of  consultation responses our final proposals in England are to:

 Extend the existing discretionary ground for possession to cover convictions of  tenants or members 

of  their household for offences committed at the scene of  a riot wherever that took place in the 

United Kingdom. Those offences would include violent disorder and affray and provocation of  

violence and include violence against property as well as people and theft;

 Introduce a new mandatory route to possession, modelled on the process for bringing introductory 

tenancies to an end for local authority landlords and on existing mandatory grounds for possession (for 

example for rent arrears) for private registered providers of  social housing and landlords in the private 

rented sector;

3.46 Landlords could choose to use a mandatory route to possession rather than existing discretionary 

grounds, where one of  the following four ‘triggers’ applied: 

 A tenant, member of  their household or visitor to the property had been convicted of  a violent or 

sexual offence, an offence against property, supplying drugs, or production with intention to supply 

drugs, where the offence was indictable and committed in the locality of  the property in the previous 

12 months;

 A court had determined that a Crime Prevention Injunction obtained by or in consultation with the 

landlord had been breached by a tenant, member of  their household or visitor to the property within 

the previous 12months;

 The property had been closed as a result of  a court granting a Community Protection Order (closure) 

for more than 48 hours;

 A tenant, member of  their household or visitor had been convicted by a court for breach of  a noise 

abatement notice, in respect of  the tenant’s property, under the statutory nuisance regime. 

Page 75



33

3.47 These triggers should provide a good basis for ensuring that the mandatory route of  possession is ring-

fenced to serious proven anti-social behaviour or crime that is causing harm to the local community or 

individuals within it. In these limited circumstances, where a court had already determined that serious 

anti-social behaviour or criminality had occurred, we think it is right that an expedited eviction process 

should be available to private and social landlords. 

3.48 A summary of  responses to this consultation and more detail on final proposals in the light of  

consultation responses can be found on the Department for Communities and Local Government 

website. 

SUMMARY:

We will give professionals the tools they need to protect victims effectively by:

Cutting the existing alphabet soup of  unwieldy powers by over two thirds, replacing the 19 complex 

existing powers with six simple new ones. The six tools we are introducing are:

1. T he Crime Prevention Injunction – an injunction available to a wide range of  agencies, which can 

be used quickly to protect victims by dealing with anti-social behaviour by private tenants and owner 

occupiers, as well as social tenants (addressing a criticism of  the existing ASB Injunction)

2. T he Criminal Behaviour Order – an order available on conviction for any criminal offence which will 

allow courts to attach positive requirements to ensure perpetrators deal with the underlying issues that 

are driving their behaviour (addressing a criticism of  the ASBO), as well as including prohibitions to 

immediately protect victims.

3. T he Community Protection Notice – designed to deal with particular anti-social behaviour impacting 

on a community’s quality of  life (for example to deal with noise, litter or graffiti).

4. T he Community Protection Order (public space) – a locally determined order which could impose 

controls on behaviour in public places, for example controlling drinking in public as well as preventing 

other behaviour which has an impact on quality of  life.

5. T he Community Protection Order (closure) – simplifying the current complex number of  powers 

available to close premises that are a magnet for trouble.

6. T he Direction Power – a simpler and less bureaucratic power to enable the police to disperse 

situations to protect victims without needing to go through a long and slow process to designate an 

area in advance.

Speeding up the process of  eviction for nightmare neighbours who make victims lives a misery. To do 

this we are introducing a new mandatory route to possession for anti-social behaviour for both private 

and social landlords, as a way of  significantly reducing the length of  the possession process and providing 

faster relief  to victims and communities.

Page 76



34

4. Long ter m solutions: Tackling the drivers of 
anti-social behaviour

4.1 Anti-social behaviour (ASB) cannot be addressed long term by dealing reactively with the behaviour of  

those who already have entrenched and serious behavioural problems. In line with the approach of  other 

initiatives, such as the Government’s recently published strategy for Social Justice, we must also prevent 

ASB from happening in the first place, for example by tackling the risk factors that can drive it across 

society: from early interventions in parenting and education to dealing with drug abuse and problem 

drinking. This chapter outlines the work being undertaken by Government and local agencies to address 

these issues. 

TACKLING PROBLEM DRINKING

4.2 Alcohol has been a major driver of  crime and disorder over the last decade. The link between alcohol 

and violence is well known, with almost half  of  violent crimes (i.e. around one million in 2010/11) being 

alcohol-related. Alcohol is also a key driver of  ASB, both in terms of  widespread drink-fuelled disorder 

in town centres, and also, for example, the more persistent, entrenched ASB committed by some street 

drinkers. According to the 2010/11 Crime Survey for England & Wales figures, around a quarter of  the 

public think people being drunk or rowdy in public places is a very or fairly big problem in their local 

area. 

4.3 Alcohol plays a key role in our economy, community and social life. However, untargeted regulation and 

a failure of  individuals, businesses, local agencies and ultimately Government to take responsibility for 

the harms associated with irresponsible drinking has led to a culture of  acceptance and tolerance of  

those excessively drunk in public and causing a nuisance to others. The Government has set out plans 

to change this in the new Alcohol Strategy and has legislated through the Police Reform and Social 

Responsibility Act 2011 to give more powers to the police and local communities to take action against 

irresponsible businesses. 

4.4 We are also tackling problem drinking through our reforms to the ASB tools and powers outlined in 

chapter three. Our proposed new powers to deal with anti-social individuals would enable the courts to 

require someone to stop drinking, as well as barring them from specific pubs. We are also improving the 

system for local authorities and the police to deal with ASB in public places. This means it will be easier 

for them to stop the nuisance and disorder caused by those excessively drunk in public, and to prevent 

problems from occurring by, for example, confiscating alcohol. In addition, we propose simplifying and 

consolidating powers to close problem premises, including licensed premises, which make the lives of  

those living nearby a misery.

4.5 In her third report as Government champion for active, safer communities, published in February, 

Baroness Newlove announced the creation of  a new £1m Alcohol Fund to support local communities 

tackle the crime and anti social behaviour caused by binge and underage drinking. The fund, which is 

administered by the Department for Communities and Local Government will be made available to 

local authorities to spend over a two-year period. Community groups, local residents, the police, health 

workers, retailers and educationalists are absolutely integral to identifying the problems, and delivering the 

solutions. 

4.6  The successful ten applicants for funding were announced earlier this month. They are Bury East, 

Chelmsford, Cornwall, County Durham, Lincoln, Maidstone, Moseley, Newcastle, Shropshire, Wakefield. 

Smaller innovative projects will also be funded. Over the next two years, Baroness Newlove will work 

very closely with these partnerships to ensure that local community-led action will drive down anti social 

Page 77



35

behaviour caused by problem drinking. She will encourage others to help, knock down the barriers to 

success and unnecessary red tape, and see that the best ideas are adopted more widely. More information 

is available from the Department of  Communities and Local Government website.

STOPPING ILLICIT DRUG USE

4.7 Illicit drug use can play a role in perpetuating ASB (e.g. as a contributing factor in troubled families or 

because of  the impact of  an individual’s own substance misuse on their behaviour). However, there are 

specific types of  ASB that are caused as a result of  illicit drug use itself. 

4.8  The most obvious of  these is the taking over of  a local property to sell and take illicit drugs, commonly 

known as ‘crack houses’, although this covers a wider range of  class A drugs. The disruption and anxiety 

caused to neighbouring properties can range from noise throughout the day and night and discarded 

drugs paraphernalia to threatening behaviour to prevent the ‘crack house’ being reported to the police. 

As outlined in chapter three, we reviewed ‘crack house’ closure powers as part of  our review of  the ASB 

legislation, and our plans for reform will keep the best elements of  them, whilst simplifying the number 

of  very similar powers available to close properties. 

4.9 The Government’s Drug Strategy is clear that illicit drug use undermines communities. Robust action 

delivered at a local level by the police in collaboration with local partners and the communities themselves 

is key to tackling these drug problems. One example of  how we are doing this in the Drug Strategy is 

through the £10 million Positive Futures programme, which will deliver prevention and diversionary 

activities that target and support vulnerable 10-19 year olds to stop them from becoming drawn into ASB, 

crime and substance misuse. Another is how, in local areas, the Drugs Intervention Programme continues 

to identify drug misusing offenders and divert them away from crime and into treatment and recovery 

support. In 2010-11, the Programme managed nearly 63,000 adult Class A drug misusing offenders into 

drug treatment.

ADDRESSING THE PROBLEMS CAUSED BY TROUBLED FAMILIES

4.10 The Government’s recent Social Justice Strategy23 sets out the importance of  the family as the first 

and most important building block in a child’s life. It describes how an increased emphasis on early 

intervention will help to ensure that families can access the support they need to prevent problems arising 

and tackle issues before they become embedded. The Department for Education provides funds worth 

more than £2.2 billion per year to local authorities – through the Early Intervention Grant – that can 

be used to fund early intervention and preventative services; and the Government is currently procuring 

an Early Intervention Foundation that will provide an overview of  ‘what works’ to local authorities 

and commissioners and act as a hub for existing expertise and services in the field. This is alongside 

investment already committed to provide relationship support for couples and parents to help them work 

together for the benefit of  themselves and their children. 

4.11 However, the Government recognises that even with this increased focus on early intervention, there 

will still be some families whose lives are blighted by crime, worklessness, substance dependency, low 

aspirations and educational failure. A dysfunctional family background and poor parenting are often 

associated with young people committing ASB and crime given so many of  the early influences on a 

23 [1][1] Social Justice: transforming lives, March 2012

Page 78



36

child relate to the family setting in which they grow up. Many professionals can quickly pinpoint the 

families who consistently cause problems in their neighbourhood. This is why the Government has 

committed to turning around the lives of  the 120,000 most troubled families in England by the end of  

this Parliament24.

4.12 This group of  families have a huge impact on the well-being of  those around them and cost the tax payer 

an estimated £9 billion per year, equivalent to £75,000 per family which is largely spent on reacting to 

problems such as dealing with their crime and ASB, as well as safeguarding children. Children who live 

in these families are 36 times more likely to be excluded from school and six times more likely to have 

been in care or to have been in contact with the police25. This is not a cost that we can afford to bear any 

longer – either financially or in wasted lives.

4.13 These families are not beyond help and their lives can be turned around with coordinated and intensive 

support. Many areas and services around the country are already working intensively with these families, 

such as through Family Intervention Projects (FIP), where families are assigned a key worker to work 

with them to take a grip of  their problems and to coordinate the involvement of  agencies engaged with 

them. The increased investment in intensive support is underpinned by evidence26 which shows that FIPs 

are effective in tackling entrenched problems faced by these families, including a 58% reduction in anti-

social behaviour and over 50% reduction in truancy, as well as significant improvements in other health 

and social problems.

4.14 A new Troubled Families Team based within the Department for Communities and Local Government 

and headed by Louise Casey, has been established to join up and drive forward efforts across Whitehall 

and to provide expert help. Their aim is to ensure that these families are supported into education and 

employment, that their crime and ASB are tackled. A total of  £448 million will be made available from 

the existing budgets of  six Departments to meet this commitment over the next three years. £420 million 

of  this will fund action and interventions in areas across England by local authorities and their partner 

agencies, and £28 million will be used to boost Department for Work and Pensions support for Troubled 

Families. 

ADDRESSING MENTAL HEALTH AND OTHER HEALTH NEEDS

4.15  There are strong links between anti-social or criminal behaviour and certain health needs. There is a high 

risk that once someone with those health needs comes into contact with the Youth or Criminal Justice 

System, they will become locked into a recurring cycle of  criminality and punishment. This cycle will have 

a significant impact on both their life chances, and on the people and community around them. This is 

recognised in No Health Without Mental Health, the Government’s mental health outcomes strategy for 

people of  all ages, which has the twin aims of  improving the population’s mental health and improving 

mental health services.

4.16  The Strategy recognises that mental health problems can also contribute to perpetuating cycles of  

inequality through generations. Intervening early, particularly with vulnerable children and young people, 

can improve lifetime health and wellbeing, prevent mental illness and reduce costs incurred by ill health, 

unemployment and crime. Such interventions not only benefit the individual during their childhood and 

24 See http://www.communities.gov.uk/communities/troubledfamilies/ for further information and case studies.

25 Social Exclusion Taskforce, Families at Risk Cabinet Of#ce 2007. 

26 Monitoring and Evaluation of Family Intervention Projects and Services to March 2011.

Page 79



37

into adulthood, but also improve their capacity to parent, so their children in turn have a reduced risk of  

mental health problems and their consequences. 

4.17  Like mental health problems, behavioural problems, including substance misuse, frequently start early in 

life. The approach adopted by the strategy focuses on promoting mental wellbeing, preventing mental 

illness and early intervention as soon as problems arise. For young people, for example, emotional and 

behavioural disorders are associated with an increased risk of  experimentation with, misuse of  and 

dependence on drugs and alcohol. Multi-systemic interventions that involve young people, parents, 

schools and the community have been shown to reduce conduct disorder, offending and anti-social 

behaviour improve family relationships and reduce costs to the social care, youth justice, education and 

health systems.

4.18 The Department of  Health is working with Department for Education and the Youth Justice Board to 

support local authorities and their health partners to develop evidence based interventions for young 

people on the edge of  custody or care, including Multisystemic Therapy (MST) and for continued 

research into outcomes for families and communities. There are currently 17 MST teams across England 

and it is planned to expand this to 30 teams by April 2013. Nine of  these teams have been part of  a 

Randomised Controlled Trial of  MST ‘START’ led by University College London.. This research trail is 

due to complete recruitment by summer 2012 and report in 2014.

4.19 The Department of  Health and Ministry of  Justice have also been working to develop a system of  

‘liaison and diversion’ which looks to balance the interests of  the victim and protection of  the public 

with the needs of  the offender. The principle of  liaison and diversion is to assess an offender’s health 

needs and any vulnerabilities as early as possible after they start to exhibit offending behaviour. This 

means that decisions about any treatment needed to address underlying issues can sit alongside decisions 

on appropriate punishment, with the ultimate aim of  preventing a pattern further of  offending and 

protecting the public.

4.20 We are currently developing a liaison and diversion service for adults and young people at a number of  

sites around the country. These pathfinder sites are being used to build up evidence of  the effect of  

these services on both health and reoffending outcomes, with the aim being to have services in place 

nationwide by November 2014. As part of  the work to develop a national model of  liaison and diversion, 

a number of  sites will be given development funding to explore ways of  intervening earlier. There are two 

sites that are receiving funding from April 2012 which will be exploring the potential for extending liaison 

and diversion to those young people who are known to be involved in ASB. This work will run for two 

years and will be evaluated.

TACKLING ANTI-SOCIAL BEHAVIOUR BY ENCOURAGING RESPONSIBLE DOG OWNERSHIP

4.21 There is strong evidence to show that over the past few years there has been a sharp rise in the problems 

associated with irresponsible dog ownership. For example, the total number of  adults sentenced for 

offences relating to dangerous dogs has increased by 39%, from 855 in 2009 to 1192 in 201027. Getting 

dog owners to take responsibility for their pets is key to tackling the growing problem caused to the 

public by dogs that are out of  control. Irresponsible dog ownership can cause ASB (as well as sometimes 

leading to violent attacks), and a number of  dog charities responded to our 2011 consultation, including 

27  Ministry of Justice

Page 80



38

Battersea Dogs and Cats Home, the Blue Cross, the Dogs Trust, the Kennel Club and the RSPCA. They 

all emphasised the importance of  animal welfare and focusing on supporting dog owners to look after 

their dogs responsibly as one of  the ways of  dealing with dog-related ASB. 

4.22 To help encourage responsible dog ownership there are a number of  local community-based projects in 

England and Wales operating in areas with high levels of  dog-related problems. These typically involve 

the local authority working with the police and dog welfare charities to engage with dog owners through 

a range of  events, for example workshops and activities in estates, youth clubs, schools, etc. Often free 

micro-chipping and neutering is offered to dog owners. Proactive action of  this kind often prevents 

dogs either becoming a nuisance or danger to the community or owners having to be prosecuted for dog 

welfare offences. The Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (Defra) is working with key 

welfare organisations to look at evaluation processes and ensuring a more joined up approach between 

local initiatives, to include the sharing of  good practice. 

4.23 For those owners who still fail to take responsibility for their dogs, the proposals set out in chapter three 

will give agencies the flexibility to deal with a wide range of  problems and protect victims: 

 Informal interventions such as Acceptable Behaviour Contracts can be used to nip emerging issues 

in the bud, where the owner recognises the impact their behaviour is having on the community, and 

understands that continuing will trigger more formal consequences;

 Where a more formal response is required on the spot, the Community Protection Notice will allow 

professionals to require an owner to stop behaviour they judge is affecting the community’s quality 

of  life. That could include, for example, requiring an owner to repair inadequate fencing if  their dog 

regularly escapes and attacks other dogs. In addition, the Directions Power will allow the police to 

move an owner on if, for example, their aggressive dog was frightening parents and children outside a 

school. 

 In the most serious cases, an irresponsible owner could be given a Crime Prevention Injunction very 

quickly which could prevent them taking their dog to certain locations at certain times, require them 

to muzzle their dog in public and require them to attend dog training classes. Or if  an individual is 

convicted of  having a dangerous dog, they could be given a Criminal Behaviour Order preventing them 

from owning a dog again in the future. 

4.24 This flexibility means we do not believe it is necessary to legislate for a dog-specific power, as may have 

happened in the past. However, we will continue to work with the Association of  Chief  Police Officers 

(ACPO) and a range of  groups representing the interests of  dogs and their owners to ensure our final 

proposals are of  maximum benefit in dealing with dog-related anti-social behaviour. 

4.25 In addition to using the new flexible ASB powers to protect victims of  dangerous dogs, the Government 

considers that the law on dangerous dogs needs changing to promote more responsible ownership of  

dogs and to reduce the number of  dog attacks. Defra is currently consulting on a package of  measures 

to do this. Included in the consultation are proposals for the compulsory micro-chipping of  puppies and 

extending the current law on dangerous dogs to cover private property as well as other plans to improve 

the standards of  dog ownership. The consultation can be found on the Defra website: www.defra.gov.uk.

Page 81



39

SUMMARY: 

We will tackle the drivers of  anti-social behaviour by:

 Reducing alcohol consumption and alcohol related crime and ASB through our improved and 

streamlined powers to tackle ASB, and through the measures introduced through the Alcohol Strategy 

and the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011.

 Tackling illicit drug use through our reforms to the tools and powers and through the Drug Strategy, for 

example through the £10m Positive Futures programme and the Drug Intervention Programme.

 Addressing the problems caused by troubled families through a new programme led by Louise Casey to 

turn around the lives of  the 120,000 most troubled families in England by the end of  this parliament.

 Addressing mental health and other health needs through trialling extending liaison and diversion to 

young people who are known to be involved in anti-social behaviour.

 Tackling ASB caused by dog-related problems by encouraging responsible dog ownership and getting 

tough on irresponsible dog ownership through our new streamlined ASB powers.

Page 82



40

Annex A
Summary of consultation responses

CONSULTATION RESPONSES ON THE COMMUNITY TRIGGER, INCLUDING RESPONSES TO 

SPECIFIC POINTS

A.1 Many respondents to the consultation agreed that agencies need to do more to protect repeat or 

vulnerable victims of  anti-social behaviour. 41% of  the public who responded said the trigger would 

improve the way anti-social behaviour (ASB) is dealt with in their area, compared with only 16% who 

thought it would it would make things worse. Views from agencies were more balanced, with 31% 

saying the trigger would improve how ASB was dealt with, and 33% saying it would make things worse. 

However, for many concern stemmed from a belief  that the thresholds and criteria suggested in the 

consultation document were too prescriptive and would not meet the needs of  people in their area. Some 

argued that more local flexibility was needed to ensure the trigger reached the people who needed it most.

Criteria

 We consulted on whether the criteria for the Community Trigger were right. This received a mixed 

response with some respondents deeming the threshold too low and so open to abuse by the ‘worried 

well’. Others felt they were too high and so would be less likely to be used by the most vulnerable 

victims. Of  those respondents that answered this specific question, 17% agreed with the proposed 

criteria, and 25% disagreed with the proposed criteria.

 Many felt that the proposed criteria were not flexible enough, and there were calls for the legislation to 

give local areas the scope to amend the criteria if  they did not appear to be working effectively.

 Several respondents felt that some reference needed to be made to the timescales in which the 

complaints were received as this would affect the priority level of  the cases.

 It was also suggested that there should be a clear definition of  ‘action’ as this should not necessarily 

mean ‘action that the complainant wants to be taken’.

Impact on particular groups

 In the consultation, we asked if  the proposal risked disadvantaging particular groups in a 

disproportionate way, and what safeguards could be put in place to mitigate this. 

 In general it was felt that the Community Trigger would impact equally on most groups. However, 

some respondents felt that unless the right thresholds were in place, some communities might try to 

use the trigger to stop young people ‘hanging around’.

 Several respondents suggested developing rigorous criteria to guard against unsubstantiated, frivolous, 

malicious or vexatious complaints to prevent individuals being unnecessarily targeted through this 

process. However, care must be taken to ensure that these are not so strict that the Trigger is never 

used (like the Councillor Call for Action). 

 It was also suggested that local areas develop clear examples of  differing lifestyles and what does and 

does not constitute ASB.

Page 83



41

 Others highlighted the need for regular reviews of  use of  the Trigger to determine any local trends, 

and adjustments to be made to criteria as appropriate. 

CONSULTATION RESPONSES ON THE CRIMINAL BEHAVIOUR ORDER, INCLUDING RESPONSES TO 

SPECIFIC POINTS 

A.2 The percentage of  stakeholder respondents that thought the order on conviction would be more effective 

in tackling ASB was 46%, with 19% thinking it would be less effective.

A.3 Positive requirements: 58% of  respondents welcomed the inclusion of  positive requirements in the Criminal 

Behaviour Order (CBO) and Crime Prevention Injunction (CPI), and a further 38% supported the idea 

but had concerns about how these would be funded locally. However, the majority agreed that this was 

not a reason to not pursue this option as the potential benefits in terms of  reduced reoffending and 

reduced downstream costs were seen to be substantial. 

A.4 Report on family circumstances: The majority of  respondents supported the idea of  including information on 

the family circumstances of  a young person when applying for an order. However, following discussions 

with practitioners who use current orders on conviction, it was felt that this broader contextual 

information on the young person and their family circumstances could be provided through the pre-

sentence report (given the order would be attached to a criminal conviction) and that a separate report 

required by statute would duplicate existing processes. 

In order to ensure the young person’s needs are taken into account, it was suggested that the Youth 

Offending Team (YOT) should be consulted before an order is made, and they could provide further 

information in situations where a pre-sentence report was not required (e.g. where a community order 

or custodial sentence is unlikely). We will also emphasise in accompanying guidance the importance 

of  taking the young person’s family circumstances into account, as well as any mental health issues or 

learning difficulties when applying for an order.

A.5 Other civil orders that could be included: In relation to other orders that could be included, the one most 

suggested by respondents who answered this question was the Drinking Banning Order. It was felt that 

it should be incorporated given its similarity to the Anti-Social Behaviour Order (ASBO) and our aims 

of  simplifying the process. Other specific orders suggested were Restraining Orders, Football Banning 

Orders and gang injunctions. We do not proposing rolling these into the CBO as well as they are aimed 

at different types of  behaviour (domestic violence, football-related violence and gang-related violence 

respectively).

A.6 Minimum and maximum terms: Again there were a variety of  responses to the question about minimum and 

maximum terms for the orders. In general it was felt that the current minimum term of  two years was too 

long, especially for young people. Opinion was divided on maximum terms, with some people thinking 

these were useful, and others arguing that in some cases orders until further notice were necessary. 

CONSULTATION RESPONSES ON THE CRIME PREVENTION INJUNCTION, INCLUDING RESPONSES 

TO SPECIFIC POINTS 

A.7 The percentage of  stakeholder respondents that thought the faster, more effective civil injunction would 

be more effective in tackling ASB was 42%, with 13% thinking it would be less effective.

Page 84



42

A.8 Test: We consulted on whether the test for the new injunction should be behaviour causing ‘harassment, 

alarm or distress’ (as with the ASBO) or ‘nuisance or annoyance’ (as with the ASB Injunction). There 

was mixed feedback on this, with social landlords in particular arguing for the latter, which is now clearly 

established in caselaw. This threshold was also seen as reducing evidence requirements and helping 

provide respite to communities more quickly. For example the National Bench Chairman’s forum stated, 

in relation to the threshold of  ‘nuisance or annoyance’ that “The advantages would be a significant saving 

in the extent of  evidence to be collated by the applicant and a reduction in protracted hearings before the 

court”. 

Some children’s charities and local authorities, on the other hand, argued that this threshold was too 

low. For example Liberty argued that “The CPI is effectively going to be a super-punitive ASBO which 

will be easier to obtain for even more broadly defined ‘behaviour’.” Overall, for those who answered 

this question, 64% opted for ‘nuisance and annoyance’, whilst only 25% wanted ‘harassment, alarm or 

distress’.

A.9 Courts: In the consultation, we asked whether the injunction should be heard in the County or Magistrates 

Court, and responses were mixed on this point citing arguments on either side. For over-18s, 46% 

said County Court, 32% said Magistrates Court, and 9% wanted CPIs heard in both courts. We had 

very strong feedback from social landlords, who were concerned at the prospect of  losing the current 

Anti-social Behaviour Injunction (ASBI), that the CPI should be heard in the County Court as they 

are more familiar with civil orders and have access to higher sentencing powers for contempt (two 

years imprisonment, rather than two months). Others also supported this position, for example one 

Community Safety Partnership (CSP) stated that “I would favour the County Court as their knowledge 

of  injunctions is likely to result in fewer applications that fail and they are more familiar with the civil 

evidence standard.” However the Magistrates Association stated that “these injunctions should be dealt 

with in Magistrates’ Courts and not in any other way.”

A.10 Injunctions on young people: As the current ASBI does not apply to young people, there was a question about 

where the new CPIs for young people should be heard. Children’s charities, for example the Children’s 

Commissioner and the Independent Commission on Youth Crime and ASB were keen that if  the CPI 

were to apply to young people, these cases should be heard in the Youth Court, as they are a more 

appropriate court venue for under-18s. There were also concerns raised in a number of  responses about 

the cost of  hearing youth cases in the County Court, because of  the need for litigation friends. Some 

argued that it would be preferable to hear youth cases in the same court as adults as this could save costs 

in a situation where a CPI was being applied for on a mixed age group. Overall, for those who answered 

the question relating to under-18s, 57% said the Youth Court, 15% said the County Court, 5% said the 

Magistrates Court, and 9% specified they should be heard in the same court as for over-18s to help deal 

with cases involving groups of  perpetrators.

A.11 Minimum and maximum terms: Again there were a variety of  responses to the question about minimum and 

maximum terms for the orders. As with the responses to the Criminal Behaviour Order questions, in 

general it was felt that the current minimum term of  two years was too long, especially for young people. 

As the CPI replaces the ASBI (which has no statutory minimum or maximum terms), and is designed to 

be used at an earlier stage, some respondents argued that it should mirror other civil injunctions, where 

the length of  the order is left to the discretion of  the courts and the applicant. 

Page 85



43

A.12 Breach sanctions: We asked whether respondents agreed with the proposed breach sanctions. Some 

respondents were concerned about the loss of  a criminal sanction on breach in the CPI. For example, 

once local authority commented “the sanctions need to be greater to add weight to the CPI”. Whereas 

others supported this because of  the advantages in a purely civil injunction being quicker to get, and as 

they would be able to take action themselves to address breaches of  injunctions they have applied for, 

thus having control of  the process from end to end. For example, the Law Society commented that 

“on balance, we prefer the use of  injunction-based remedies for anti-social behaviour, resulting in a 

civil penalty rather than a criminal conviction, and thus avoiding the mixing of  criminal and civil legal 

processes”. However, there were some concerns as to whether County Court judges have sufficient 

flexibility on sentencing for contempt of  court, especially as they do not have access to rehabilitative 

orders or community sentences.

For young people, 57% agreed with the CPI breach sanctions for under-18s, and only 22% disagreed, 

with a further 4% against any custody for under-18s. In relation to the question of  custody for under-

18s for breach of  a civil order, a number of  children’s charities were strongly against this, whereas the 

majority of  ASB practitioners across all sectors were supportive.

CONSULTATION RESPONSES ON THE COMMUNITY PROTECTION ORDER, INCLUDING RESPONSES 

TO SPECIFIC POINTS

A.13 Respondents have generally welcomed the move to rationalise existing powers to deal with the place-

specific anti-social behaviour that affects quality of  life, arguing that the number available at the moment 

creates confusion for professionals and the public alike. 51% of  stakeholders (local authorities, police, 

CSPs, housing providers, judiciary, and the voluntary sector) who responded stated that they thought 

the proposal would be better than the existing system, with only 11% saying that it would be worse. In 

particular, respondents have highlighted issues with the service provided to the public (e.g. the police can’t 

use current nuisance noise powers, but some local authority noise teams only work office hours). 

A.14 Some have also noted that the proposed Community Protection Order would fit with certain councils’ 

moves to reconfigure their services to provide better value for money, moving to delivery through cross-

functional neighbourhood teams rather than separate specialists. However, there were others who were 

concerned that opening out these powers to a wider range of  applicants could cause duplication or risk 

more than one notice being served on the same individual. This is a risk that we propose mitigating 

through the legislation and guidance. 

CONSULTATION RESPONSES ON THE DIRECTIONS POWER, INCLUDING RESPONSES TO SPECIFIC 

POINTS

A.15 The consultation responses on this proposal have generally been positive, with 60% of  respondents in 

favour of  the new approach, thinking that it would be more effective in reducing anti-social behaviour. 

Only 11% of  respondents felt that it would be less effective than the current dispersal powers. 

A.16 Many police officers welcome this power to act immediately to prevent escalation of  localised ASB, 

with the Association of  Chief  Police Officers (ACPO) response stating that “These proposals have 

received significant support as it strengthens police powers to remove people from public places for poor 

behaviour in general and not overly focusing on alcohol related disorder as it is at present. Both Section 

Page 86



44

30 and Section 27 Dispersal orders have proved to be very effective tools and combining these orders will 

simplify their administration and should reduce costs.”

A.17 Respondents liked the flexibility of  the new proposal, in particular, the ability to deal with cases such 

as individuals standing just outside a dispersal zone. Many also noted that the move would “remove 

the stigma of  labelling an area a dispersal zone”. However, some concerns were raised in relation to 

displacement, safeguarding and civil liberties, and more detail is outlined on these below.

A.18 Police Community Support Officers (PCSOs): The vast majority 78% of  respondents felt that PCSOs as well as 

police officers should be able to administer this power as they are often a fundamental contact point for 

the community. However, given the potentially confrontational elements of  some aspects of  the power 

e.g. confiscation, and their lack of  power of  arrest, we propose enabling Chief  Constable discretion on 

which elements of  the Directions Power (if  any) they wish to designate to PCSOs.

A.19 Displacement: There was some feedback that the new power would just result in the anti-social behaviour 

being displaced to another area. However, there was general agreement that existing dispersal powers 

are effective at diffusing situations and providing immediate respite for victims. One Community 

Safety Partnership stated that “Currently some of  the tools and powers take time to be sanctioned and 

implemented which can delay resolution of  some more simplistic elements of  ASB, allowing them to 

escalate”. The Direction Power is not intended to be a long-term solution and a longer term approach 

looking at the root causes of  problems should be used in cases of  repeated dispersals, either of  a 

particular perpetrator or from a specific area.

A.20 Safeguarding young people: Some interest groups, including Barnardo’s (who felt strongly about this and 

organised an email campaign which elicited around a hundred responses), and a few other respondents 

felt that the new power could increase the risk to vulnerable children (e.g. by returning them to an abusive 

home environment, or moving them from one area to another that was less safe). They felt that this 

risk could only be mitigated if  officers were undertaking full risk assessments when using the power. 

However, this applies as much to the existing regime as to our proposal, and addressing the issue in the 

legislation would be likely to undermine our aim of  reducing bureaucracy. As a result we plan to meet 

these concerns through the accompanying guidance and our wider safeguarding work to deliver our 

commitments in the Child Sexual Exploitation Action Plan (including for example work with ACPO on 

training for police officers to ensure they recognise the signs of  child sexual exploitation).

A.21 Oversight and monitoring: Many respondents commented that oversight and monitoring of  use of  the power 

would be an essential safeguard, especially with the removal of  the need to designate an area in advance. 

A.22  Confiscation: There was concern that confiscation would make this power an extension of  ‘stop and 

search’, and would be disproportionate. A few people mentioned that it would be difficult to prove that 

an item was going to cause anti-social behaviour before confiscating it. There were also some concerns 

raised about the practical implications of  this, for example what would be done with the confiscated 

items.

A.23 Partnership working: There was also a concern from Local Authorities and Community Safety Partnerships 

that many of  the benefits of  existing dispersal orders would be lost. “Many of  the benefits that derive 

from dispersal orders stem from the process of  seeking authorisation and the associated activities that 

Page 87



45

are triggered, rather than the powers as such. The authorisation process creates opportunities to enhance 

police community relations and provides openness and prior accountability.”

Whilst the Directions Power will enable the police to act alone to provide immediate respite to victims 

and communities, we would envisage a partnership approach to identify longer term solutions as 

appropriate including ‘designing out crime’ interventions to improve local areas and discourage anti-social 

behaviour.

Page 88



46

Annex B
Summary of new simpli#ed powers

DEALING WITH ANTI-SOCIAL INDIVIDUALS

Existing system Final proposals Bene#ts of the new system

1 Anti-social Behaviour Order 

(ASBO) on conviction
1 Criminal Behaviour Order 

– available on conviction for 

–  The new order contains support to 

change behaviour and help prevent 

2 Drinking Banning Order 

(DBO) on conviction 

any criminal offence, and 

including both prohibitions 

and support to stop future 

behaviour likely to lead to 

further anti-social behaviour 

or criminal offences.

re-offending, rather than simply 

prohibitions to stop the person 

from doing something (e.g. going 

to a particular place). The ASBO 

only included prohibitions on 

behaviour. 

3 ASBO on application 2 Crime Prevention –  The civil standard of  proof  

4 ASB Injunction Injunction – a purely civil 

order with a civil burden 

of  proof, making it much 

quicker and easier to obtain. 

The injunction would also 

have prohibitions and 

support attached and a 

range of  civil sanctions for 

breach.

– 

– 

– 

requires proof  ‘on the balance of  

probabilities’ rather than ‘beyond 

reasonable doubt’ which will make 

injunctions quicker to get. This 

means that problem behaviour can 

be addressed more quickly. 

 Police officers and other 

professionals can give evidence on 

behalf  of  the community, which 

protects vulnerable witnesses.

 The new injunction contains 

support to change behaviour rather 

than just stopping the person from 

doing something. This should help 

reduce re-offending.

 Sanctions for breach are civil 

not criminal, which prevents 

people getting a criminal record 

unnecessarily.

5 DBO on application

6 Individual Support Order

7 Intervention Order

Page 89



47

DEALING WITH ANTI-SOCIAL BEHAVIOUR IN THE COMMUNITY

Existing system Final proposals Bene#ts of the new system

1 Litter Clearing notice 1 Community Protection –  The notice can be used in a 

2 Street Litter Control notice Notice 

A notice designed to deal 

with particular problems 

which negatively affect the 

community’s quality of  

life which could direct the 

person responsible to stop 

causing the nuisance and/

or require them to ‘make 

good’.

– 

variety of  other situations not 

addressed by the powers it is 

directly replacing, allowing areas 

to respond flexibly to local issues 

as they arise. (for example, if  

an irresponsible owner is not 

controlling their dog properly).

 The notice will also extend the 

powers the police have to deal with 

noise nuisance – this is currently 

the preserve of  Local Authorities, 

many of  whom do not have out of  

hours services.

3 Defacement Removal 

Notices

4 Designated Public Place 

Order
2 Community Protection 

Order (public space) 

An order to deal with anti-

social behaviour in a public 

place, to apply restrictions 

to how that public space can 

be used.

– 

– 

 The order can be used in a 

variety of  other situations not 

addressed by the powers it is 

directly replacing, allowing areas to 

respond flexibly to local issues as 

they arise.

 The order allows local areas 

to make decisions without the 

burden of  having to go through 

central government, with oversight 

provided by communities and the 

Police and Crime Commissioner.

5 Gating Orders

6 Dog Control Orders 

7 Dispersal Order (s30 of  

ASB Act 2003)

the 3 Directions Power – a 

power to direct any 

individual causing or likely 

to cause crime or disorder 

away from a particular place, 

and to confiscate related 

items.

–  The new power will not require 

the police to designate a zone as a 

‘dispersal zone’. This will reduce 

bureaucracy for the police and 

mean they can act more quickly to 

address problems in an area.

8 Direction to Leave (s27 

of  the Violent Crime 

Reduction Act 2006)

9 Premises Closure Order 4 Community Protection 

Order (closure) – An order 

which could be used to 

close a premises temporarily, 

or for up to six months.

–  Bringing the premises closure 

powers together simplifies the 

system while keeping the benefits 

of  the existing system in providing 

respite to communities.

10 Crack House Closure Order

11 Noisy Premises Closure 

Order

12 Section 161 Closure Order

Page 90



48

Annex C
New Powers – Detailed Proposals

FINAL PROPOSALS: A COURT ORDER TO STOP ANTI-SOCIAL BEHAVIOUR QUICKLY  

TO PROVIDE IMMEDIATE RESPITE TO VICTIMS

C.1 The Crime Prevention Injunction would be a purely civil injunction available in the County Court for 

adults and the Youth Court for 10 to 17 year olds. The injunction would replace a range of  current tools 

including the Anti-social Behaviour Order (ASBO) on application, the Anti-Social Behaviour Injunction 

(ASBI), the Drinking Banning Order on application, intervention orders and individual support orders.

C.2  We would allow a wide range of  applicants in order to reduce the burden falling on any particular agency 

to make applications on behalf  of  others. The following agencies would be able to apply: the police 

(including the British Transport Police), local authorities, private registered providers of  social housing28, 

NHS Protect, Transport for London and the Environment Agency.

C.3 The only formal consultation requirement would be to consult with the Youth Offending Team (YOT) 

if  the order is on someone under-18, though the applicant would need to take into account the views of  

other agencies if  raised. We would also recommend in guidance that the young person is given the chance 

to express their views, in line with their rights under the UN Convention on the Rights of  the Child. 

Consulting young people would ensure that the applicant would understand their perception of  why 

they had behaved anti-socially and would help inform any decisions on positive requirements, though it 

wouldn’t mean that their views took precedence.

C.4 Interim orders can be given without notice and ex parte (i.e. in the defendant’s absence). There would be 

no requirement to consult for an interim order.

C.5 The test to get the injunction would be that the person has engaged in conduct which is capable of  

causing nuisance or annoyance to any person and that it is just and convenient to grant the injunction. 

This is in line with the current Anti-social Behaviour Injunction which is used effectively by many private 

registered providers of  social housing and local authorities (in relation to their housing management 

function) to stop Anti-social Behaviour (ASB) quickly.

C.6 The injunction would be ‘tenure neutral’, so could be used to deal with any anti-social individual, 

regardless of  where they lived.

C.7 A power of  arrest could be attached to the injunction if  the individual had used or threatened violence, 

or if  there is risk of  significant harm to the victim.

C.8 The order could include any prohibitions or requirements that assist in the prevention of  future anti-

social behaviour. The requirements would be designed to deal with the causes of  their behaviour, thus 

reducing breach rates in the long term;

C.9 Before making any requirement, the court must be sure that it is available and enforceable, and that it 

does not duplicate or conflict with any other orders (e.g. a community sentence).

C.10 There would be no minimum or maximum terms set out in the legislation, in line with the majority of  

existing injunctions. However, as feedback in this area was mixed in the consultation, we will continue to 

consider whether there should be a statutory maximum term for these injunctions as part of  the process 

of  pre-legislative scrutiny.

28 Also known as registered social landlords in Wales.

Page 91



49

C.11 Breach by an adult would be contempt of  court, punishable in the usual way for the County Court by up 

to two years in prison or an unlimited fine, as outlined in the Contempt of  Court Act 1981;

C.12 Breach by someone aged 10 to 17 would result in a curfew, activity or supervision requirement, or as a 

very last resort, repeated breach causing serious harm could result in custody for up to three months 

for someone aged 14 to 17 years old. Questions were raised in the consultation as to whether it is 

proportionate to have a custodial penalty for breach at all. As a result, we will continue to seek the views 

of  individuals and organisations as to whether a custodial sentence should be available for breach of  a 

Crime Prevention Injunction by a young person29. The government is committed to ensuring the judiciary 

have tough powers at their disposal on breach, but also that custody is used in a proportionate way. This 

is something we will return to as part of  the process of  pre-legislative scrutiny.

FINAL PROPOSALS: A COURT ORDER TO PREVENT FUTURE ANTI-SOCIAL BEHAVIOUR BY 

INDIVIDUALS WHO HAVE A CRIMINAL CONVICTION

C.13 The Criminal Behaviour Order would be a civil order, available following a conviction for any criminal 

offence and in any criminal court. This would replace the Anti-social Behaviour Order (ASBO) on 

conviction and the Drinking Banning Order on conviction.

C.14 The order could be applied for by the prosecutor, either at the initiative of  the prosecutor, or following a 

request from the police or the relevant local authority. We would also allow local authorities to publish the 

number of  requests they had made, and how many had been taken forward at court, in order to improve 

transparency.

C.15 The only formal consultation requirement would be for the police or local authority to consult with the 

Youth Offending Team (YOT) if  the order is on someone under-18, though the prosecutor should be 

made aware of  and take into account the views of  other agencies if  raised. We would also recommend in 

guidance that the young person is given the chance to express their views, in line with their rights under 

the UN Convention on the Rights of  the Child. We suggest that this could be done either by the YOT at 

the time that the Pre Sentencing Report (PSR) is produced, or by the judge interacting directly with the 

young person at the time of  the application. Consulting young people would ensure that the court would 

understand their perception of  why they had behaved anti-socially and would help inform decisions on 

positive requirements, though it wouldn’t mean that their views took precedence.

C.16 An interim order would be available at conviction (if  court was adjourned for sentencing).

C.17 The court would have the power to proceed to make an order in the defendant’s absence if  the defendant 

had previously been warned by the court that this could occur.

C.18 The test to get the order would be that the order will assist in the prevention of  harassment, alarm 

or distress being caused to any member of  the public. There would be no need to prove specific past 

behaviour (this is in line with other orders on conviction).

C.19 The order can include any prohibitions or requirements that assist in the prevention of  future anti-social 

behaviour, and could be related to wider (relevant) behaviour than that proved through the criminal 

29 As breach by an adult would fall under long-standing Contempt of Court procedures.

Page 92



50

conviction the order would be attached to. We will state that the court may consider evidence led by 

the prosecution and the defence, including that which would have been inadmissible in the criminal 

proceedings in which the offender was convicted.

C.20 Before making any requirement, the court must be sure that it is available and enforceable, and that it 

does not duplicate or conflict with any other orders (e.g. a community sentence) or conflict with the 

European Convention on Human Rights.

C.21 We are also exploring the possibility of  the individual being able to choose to attend an ‘approved course’ 

in order to have the length of  their order reduced and to address the underlying causes of  their behaviour 

to further drive down breach rates. This aspect of  the order would only be applicable to those aged 16 or 

over.

C.22 The minimum term would be one year for under-18s and two years for adults, and the maximum term 

would be three years for under-18s and indefinite for adults.

C.23 Breach of  the order would be a criminal offence, with a maximum sentence of  five years in custody. This 

would demonstrate to the offender and the community the seriousness of  breach, and, as it is an order 

on conviction, there is no risk of  criminalising someone for the first time for breach of  a civil order. 

FINAL PROPOSALS: A NEW POLICE POWER TO DISPERSE INDIVIDUALS CAUSING OR LIKELY TO 

CAUSE ANTI-SOCIAL BEHAVIOUR

C.24 The police Directions Power would enable officers to require a person who has committed, or is likely to 

commit, anti-social behaviour to leave a specified area and not return for a specified period of  up to 48 

hours. No advance designation or consultation would be required.

C. 25 The test would be ‘that the constable has reasonable grounds for suspecting that the person’s behaviour is 

contributing or is likely to contribute to anti-social behaviour or crime or disorder in the area and that the 

direction is necessary’.

C.26 Police officers would have access to all elements of  the power, and Police Community Support Officers 

(PCSOs) could have access to different elements of  the power at the discretion of  the Chief  Constable.

C.27 The ability to return children under the age of  16 home or to a place of  safety if  not accompanied 

by a responsible adult after 9pm would be retained. Concerns were raised as part of  the consultation, 

and particularly by children’s charities such as Barnardo’s, that this could increase the risk to vulnerable 

children (e.g. by returning them to an abusive home environment). We plan to mitigate this risk through 

the accompanying guidance and our wider safeguarding work to deliver our commitments in the Child 

Sexual Exploitation Action Plan (including for example work with the Association of  Chief  Police 

Officers (ACPO) on training for police officers to ensure they recognise the signs of  child sexual 

exploitation).

C.28 The direction would have to be given in writing, stating the name of  the individual(s) being dispersed to 

ensure they are clear where they are being dispersed from, and in case the direction is later challenged. 

The police could also take photographs of  the person without their consent, again to assist with 

enforcement and monitoring.

Page 93



51

C.29 The power could operate in any public place, and in common areas of  private land with the landowner’s 

consent.

C.30 A police officer would also be able to require an individual to hand over items causing or likely to cause 

anti-social behaviour (e.g. alcohol).

C.31 Failure to comply with the direction would be a criminal offence and would carry a maximum penalty of  

a level four fine and/or three months imprisonment. Failure to hand over confiscated items would also 

be a criminal offence and would have a penalty of  a level three fine and/or one month imprisonment. 

These sanctions are in line with current equivalent powers, and will ensure there is a serious consequence 

to failing to comply.

C.32 Any confiscated items would need to be held at the police station for a set period of  time (e.g. 28 days) to 

enable the individual to reclaim it. A constable may also refuse to return the item to an individual under 

16 unless they are accompanied by a parent or other appropriate adult to enforce parental responsibility. 

C.33 As a safeguard to ensure that the power is used proportionately and to protect civil liberties, we propose 

that data on its use would have to be published locally. Police and Crime Commissioners would have a 

key role in holding forces to account on this to ensure that officers are using the power proportionately. 

Publication of  data locally would also help highlight any ‘hot-spot’ areas that may need a longer-term 

solution (e.g. diversionary activities for young people or introduction of  CCTV cameras to help ‘design 

out’ crime and ASB).

FINAL PROPOSALS: THE COMMUNITY PROTECTION NOTICE

C.34 The Community Protection Notice is intended to deal with particular, ongoing problems or nuisances 

which negatively affect the community’s quality of  life by targeting the person responsible. 

C.35 The notice will direct the individual, business or organisation responsible to stop causing the problem and 

it could also require the person responsible to take reasonable steps to ensure that it does not occur again. 

C.36 This notice is intended to replace current measures such as litter clearing notices, defacement removal 

notices and street litter control notices. It is not meant to replace the statutory nuisance regime or 

interfere with the planning regime – and where the behaviour is such as to amount to a statutory nuisance 

under section 79 Environmental Protection Act (EPA), then it should be dealt with as such.

C.37 The power to issue a notice should be available to the police (and PCSOs), authorised persons within 

the local authority and staff  of  registered providers of  social housing (as designated by the relevant local 

authority)

C.38 The test will be that the authorised person ‘reasonably believes that the behaviour is detrimental to the 

amenity of  the locality and/or is having a negative impact on the local community’s quality of  life without 

reasonable excuse. 

C.39 We would want the authorised person, before issuing a notice, to inform such agencies or persons as they 

consider appropriate (a person’s landlord, or the local authority) to avoid duplication. 

Page 94



52

C.40 The notice should clearly state: what the behaviour or action (or inaction) is that is having a negative 

impact on the local community or is otherwise detrimental to the amenity of  the locality; what action is 

required; and the consequences of  not complying.

C.41 The requirement(s) set out in the notice could include: a requirement to desist from a specified action 

or behaviour; a requirement to make reasonable efforts to make good any outstanding issues within a 

specified period of  time; a requirement to take reasonable steps to prevent future occurrence of  the 

behaviour or problem.

C.42 Breach of  any requirement in the notice, without reasonable excuse, would be a criminal offence, subject 

to a Fixed Penalty Notice or prosecution. On summary conviction an individual would be liable to a fine 

not exceeding level four on the standard scale. A business, organisation, statutory undertaker, Crown 

authority or education authority is liable to a fine not exceeding £20,000. On conviction, we would also 

envisage the Magistrates’ Court having the power to order forfeiture and destruction of  any item used in 

the commission of  the offence.

C.43 An alternative to prosecution would be for the relevant agency to make good itself, and recover the costs 

of  doing so from the person.

FINAL PROPOSALS: COMMUNITY PROTECTION ORDER (PUBLIC SPACES)

C.44 The Community Protection Order (public spaces) is intended to deal with a particular nuisance or 

problem in a particular area that is detrimental to the local community’s qualify of  life, by imposing 

conditions on the use of  that area which apply to everyone. We would also envisage that the order could 

be used to deal with likely future problems.

C.45 Only a local authority could issue the order, and before doing so, they must consult with the chief  officer 

of  police, the Policing and Crime Commissioner and any representatives of  the local community they 

consider appropriate. 

C.46 The test for issuing the order will be that the local authority reasonably believes that the behaviour is 

detrimental to the local community’s quality of  life, and that the impact merits restrictions being put 

in place in a particular area. The behaviour must also be ongoing or persistent (or there must be a 

reasonable belief  that future behaviour will be ongoing or persistent). 

C.47 The order should clearly state: what behaviour the order is seeking to prevent; what the prohibitions 

or requirements are in the specified area (which the local authority reasonably believes will remedy the 

problem); the specified area itself; and the consequences of  not complying

C.48 The order must be in writing and it must be published. There would also a requirement that reasonable 

signage is put up in the areas affected. 

C.49 The order could last for up to three years and could be renewed before the three year time period 

expired.

Page 95



53

C.50 Breach of  the order, without reasonable excuse, would be a criminal offence, subject to a Fixed Penalty 

Notice or prosecution. On summary conviction, an individual would be liable to a fine not exceeding 

level three on the standard scale.

C.51 Any person who breached an order prohibiting the consumption of  alcohol in a public place could be 

required to hand over, to any person who can issue a Fixed Penalty Notice any containers or item they 

reasonably believe to contain alcohol. Failure to comply would be a criminal offence which on summary 

conviction means an individual is liable to a fine not exceeding level two on the standard scale. If  alcohol 

is confiscated, it can also be disposed by the person who confiscates it. 

FINAL PROPOSALS – COMMUNITY PROTECTION ORDER (CLOSURE)

C.52 The Community Protection Order (Closure) would consolidate various existing closure powers related to 

licensed and all other premises which are causing anti-social behaviour. 

C.53 We envisage this power being available to the police (officers of  the rank of  Inspector and above) and the 

local authority (LA) (persons designated by the Chief  Executive). 

C.54 Within 24 hours of  the order being issued, it must, in order to continue to be valid, be signed off, in the 

case of  a police order, by an officer of  at least Superintendent rank and, in the case of  a LA order, by 

either the Chief  Executive or a person designated by them. 

C.55 Before issuing the order, the police or local authority must consult any person or agency they consider 

appropriate, as well as informing the owner, landlord, licensee and anyone who appears to be residing in 

the premise.

C.56 The test for issuing an order will be that the police or local authority reasonably believes: that there is 

a public nuisance or there is or is likely imminently to be disorder in the vicinity of  and related to the 

premises; and that the order is necessary in the interest of  preventing the occurrence or reoccurrence of  

such disorder or behaviour.

C.57 The order would have effect for up to 48 hours – although to last for longer than 24 hours, senior 

sign off  would be required. The order should clearly state: that access to the premises by any person 

other than someone who habitually resides in the premises or the owner of  the premises is prohibited; 

that failure to comply is an offence; details as to when and where the order will be considered by the 

Magistrates’ Court; and information about relevant advice providers (e.g. persons and organisations in the 

area which provide advice about housing and legal matters)

C.58 In guidance we will make it clear that the police or local authority must take into account any special 

considerations arising from the presence or likely presence of  any children or vulnerable adults on the 

premises.

C.59 We would envisage authorised persons having a power of  entry to the premises, using reasonable force if  

necessary, to serve the order.

C.60 If  the police or local authority wants to extend the order beyond 48 hours (up to three months), they 

should apply to the Magistrates’ Court as soon as reasonably practicable after the order comes into 

Page 96



54

force The court can continue the order beyond 48 hours if  it is satisfied that: a person has engaged in 

disorder, anti-social or criminal behaviour on the premises; the use of  the premises is associated with the 

occurrence of  disorder or serious nuisance to members of  the public; and that the order is necessary in 

the interested of  preventing the occurrence or reoccurrence of  such disorder or behaviour.

C.61 Before the time specified in the order expired, the police or local authority could apply to the Magistrates’ 

Court for a further extension of  the order if  this was deemed necessary. The maximum period an order 

could last overall would be six months.

C.62 Breach of  the order, without reasonable excuse, would be a criminal offence. On summary conviction, a 

person would be liable to a fine not exceeding level five on the standard scale and/or up to three months 

imprisonment if  in breach of  an order which lasted up to 48 hours and up to six months imprisonment 

if  in breach of  an order which lasted more than 48 hours. Organisations and businesses would be subject 

to a higher maximum fine of  £20,000. 

Page 97



55

Annex D
Overview of the consultation process

D.1  The consultation document was published on 7 February 2011. It outlined proposals to radically 

streamline the toolkit available to tackle anti-social behaviour. It presented a number of  questions across 

five key policy proposals which were:

 The Criminal Behaviour Order

 The Crime Prevention Injunction

 The Community Protection Order

 The Directions Power

 The Community Trigger.

D.2  The consultation took place over a fourteen week period. The consultation was made available on the 

Home Office website, www.homeoffice.gov.uk/asb-consultation as a PDF document. It was provided in 

English and Welsh. We also produced a public facing version of  the consultation document. Responses 

to the consultation could be completed anonymously online, submitted via email or posted to the Home 

Office in written form.

D.3 To support the consultation process six days of  regional events were held to canvass opinions from 

frontline practitioners, including local authority, police, social landlords, youth offending teams and 

representatives from the voluntary sector. Key themes from the workshops and details of  the discussions 

were noted and have been reflected in the summary of  responses below. 

D.4  We received a total of  547 responses to the stakeholder consultation document (232 posted or emailed in 

and 315 online comments) and have grouped these by sector (e.g. police, local authority, social landlords, 

judiciary, voluntary sector etc). We also received a total of  425 responses from members of  the public, 

the majority of  which were received via the online form, and received 102 emails as part of  a campaign 

organised by Barnardo’s. 

D.5 We are grateful to the significant number of  organisations across a number of  sectors and individuals 

who took the time to respond to this consultation. We have not listed all the individuals who responded 

to the consultation but a list of  organisations who responded is included at the end of  this document. 

D.6 We have now considered all the responses received. 

Page 98



56

D.7  1,074 responses were received from stakeholders and members of  the public. The table below sets out 

the full breakdown of  the origin of  responses:

Type of respondent Number of responses

Community Safety Partnership 48

Housing Provider 103

Justice 35

Local Authority 147

Miscellaneous 80

Police 39

Police Authority 3

Voluntary and Community Organisations 42

No organisation given 50

Members of  the Public 425

Barnardo’s email campaign 102 

1,074

D.8 Not all respondents replied to each question and a number of  responses either did not follow the 

structure of  the questions or expressed equivocal views. Therefore, the calculations for each statistic have 

been based on the number of  respondents to the relevant questions.

Page 99



Published by TSO (The Stationery Office) and available from:

Online

www.tsoshop.co.uk

Mail, Telephone, Fax & E-mail

TSO

PO Box 29, Norwich, NR3 1GN

Telephone orders/General enquiries: 0870 600 5522

Order through the Parliamentary Hotline Lo-Call 0845 7 023474

Fax orders: 0870 600 5533

E-mail: customer.services@tso.co.uk

Textphone: 0870 240 3701

The Parliamentary Bookshop

12 Bridge Street, Parliament Square

London SW1A 2JX

Telephone orders/General enquiries: 020 7219 3890

Fax orders: 020 7219 3866

Email: bookshop@parliament.uk

Internet: http://www.bookshop.parliament.uk

TSO@Blackwell and other Accredited Agents

Page 100



 

 1

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1 SUMMARY 
 

1.1 This report provides members of the Strategic Group with details of the arrangements for 
provision of the Community Safety Fund for 2012/2013.  The attached document represents 
the formal notification of grant agreement to the London Borough of Bromley from the Mayor’s 
Office for Policing and Crime. 

 
2 RECOMMENDATION 
 

2.1 The Strategic Group is asked to 
 

• Note the allocation of £140,753 as the Community Safety Fund for 
2012/2013. 

 

 
Meeting:   Safer Bromley Partnership Strategic Group 
 
Date:    28 June 2012 
 
Subject:   Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime Grant 2012/2013 
 
Author:  Colin Newman, Head of Community Safety 
  colin.newman@bromley.gov.uk 
 

Agenda Item 14

Page 101



Page 102

This page is left intentionally blank



Page 103



Page 104



Page 105



Page 106



Page 107



Page 108



Page 109



Page 110



Page 111



Page 112



Page 113



Page 114



Page 115



Page 116



Page 117



Page 118



Page 119



Page 120



Page 121



Page 122



 

 1

PUBLIC PROTECTION & SAFETY 
PORTFOLIO PLAN 2012/2013 

Foreword 

 
I am proud of the fact that we live in a safe borough and the Council has continued to play a leading 
role in maintaining community safety and supporting residents and businesses.  I understand at first 
hand the impact that crime and antisocial behaviour can have on people’s lives and this continues 
to be one of my absolute priorities.  
 

In the past year levels of total crime have continued to fall, making Bromley one of the safest 
boroughs in London.  I am immensely proud of the work that the Council has been able to deliver in 
making the borough a safer place both as the primary delivery agent and leading on the 
development and implementation of crime reducing partnership activities.  Even more so, I am 
proud of the determined effort delivered by local residents and businesses to maintain the 
borough’s proud record of crime reduction.  The challenge for 2012/2013 is the continuation of 
reductions in levels of crime and anti social behaviour and increased community engagement in 
making the borough a safer place. 
 

As Portfolio Holder I believe I have a lead role to focus our activities on some of the most vulnerable 
in our society whether they be elderly residents, young people who are striving for a successful 
future, or local traders who we support in developing and sustaining successful businesses.  We 
know only too well the threats posed by illegal activity and we remain committed to keeping the 
borough safe.  As a cross cutting Portfolio, all Departments and other Portfolios within the Council 
have a part to play in reducing crime and disorder and maintaining the borough’s position as a safe 
and pleasant place to live.  By ensuring that all our plans are delivered against the following 
priorities, we are confident that, working together, we can deliver a safer borough. 

 

Priorities for 2012/2013 
 

§ Supporting businesses in Bromley to trade successfully within the law. 
§ Providing advice, guidance and support to older members of the community. 
§ Encouraging young people to achieve their potential by rejecting crime and anti social 

behaviour. 
§ Provide clear advice, guidance and communication that supports crime prevention and 

reinforces the confidence in the borough as a safe place to live, work and enjoy 
recreation. 

 

As a Portfolio we continue to be committed to working in Partnership.  Not only will we maximise the 
opportunities to reduce crime and disorder by engaging with other departments and teams within 
the Council but we will work hard to continue to develop supportive and productive partnerships with 
other agencies such as the Police, Fire Brigade and Probation Service to maximise the opportunity 
to reduce crime and disorder.  Ultimately, we will also seek to further develop and build on the 
excellent work of our residents and communities in tackling crime and disorder.  

 

Councillor Tim Stevens JP 
Portfolio Holder for Public Protection and Safety 

 
 

Agenda Item 16a

Page 123



 

 2

 

Public Protection and Safety Portfolio Plan 2012 – 2013 
 

Service Area: Public Health Nuisance & Housing Enforcement 

Service Lead: Jackie Goad  E-Mail: jackie.goad@bromley.gov.uk 

 

Service Outline: 

 
The Public Health Nuisance Team investigate all statutory nuisances including noise arising from domestic 
and commercial premises including licensed premises, accumulations of rubbish on private land, smoke and 
ash nuisance from domestic and commercial bonfires, obtrusive lighting, filthy and verminous premises and 
incidences of fly tipping on private land.  
 
The Housing Enforcement Team are responsible for investigating and resolving all service requests relating to 
housing disrepair, overcrowding and unsatisfactory conditions mainly relating to rented property, to inspect 
and licence all mandatory licensable Houses in Multiple Occupation within the Borough and to investigate and 
action all other HMO’s found or notified. 
 

 

2012 – 2013 Priorities: 

 
The priorities for the Public Health Nuisance & Housing Enforcement Service area are as follows: 

 

• Investigate, disrupt and take formal action in partnership with the police and other agencies 
against revellers gaining unauthorised access and holding unauthorised events in vacant 
buildings in the borough. 

• Investigate, disrupt and take formal action against those persons involved in both the carriage of 
and the illegal disposal of controlled waste whilst offering advice and assistance to landowners 
targeted by fly tipping to prevent further incidents. 

• Inspect and licence all mandatory licensable Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMO’s) within the 
Borough. 

 

Measuring Success: 

 Target 2011/2012 
Baseline 

2012/2013 
Target 

Comment 

1.1 Establish an agreed written joint working protocol with 
the police on tackling unauthorised events within the 
Borough. 
 

n/a Sept 2012 To present at the  
PDS Committee 

1.2 Issue Fixed Penalty Notices where persons carrying 
waste are unable to provide evidence that they are 
registered licensed waste carriers. 

Nil 8 Number of notices 
will include those 
issued by the 
police. 

1.3 Offer advice and assistance to owners of land 
subjected to fly tipping on taking preventative 
measures and where appropriate part fund the 
provision of physical barriers to target hotspot areas 
such as private alleyways and service roads. 
 

Nil 10  

1.4 SmartWater domestic and commercial waste 
believed to be at risk of being illegally discarded. 

Nil 20  

1.5 Licence/relicence Houses in Multiple Occupation. 
 

20 20 
 

 

Page 124



 

 3

 

Public Protection and Safety Portfolio Plan 2012 – 2013 
 

Service Area: Trading Standards 

Service Lead: Rob Vale E-Mail: rob.vale@bromley.gov.uk 

 

Service Outline: 

 
The main aim of the Trading Standards service is to protect the public, in particular older or otherwise 
vulnerable consumers, and ensure there is a fair, safe and genuine trading environment in Bromley.   
 
 

2012 – 2013 Priorities: 

 
Priority 1: Tackling Rogue Traders  
Carry out a range of preventative and enforcement activity against traders who cause the most harm to 
Bromley’s residents and businesses, particularly those traders who target vulnerable consumers. 
 
Priority 2: Promote Health and Consumer Well-Being 
Tackle the sale of age restricted products, particularly alcohol and tobacco; protect vulnerable consumers 
from scams and bogus callers; ensure goods in the market place are safe and genuine. 
 
Priority 3: Respond to Consumer Needs on a Priority Basis 
Through criminal investigations and civil sanctions, by way of advice and intelligence led enforcement.  
 
Priority 4: Support Local Business 
Through advice and education and improving compliance by tackling problem traders, particularly those 
who operate in the informal economy. 
 

 

Measuring Success: 

 Target 2011/2012 
Baseline 

2012/2013 
Target 

Comment 

2.1 Referrals of doorstep crime incidents from banks 
and adult safeguarding partners. 

23 30 Continue to form and 
maintain demonstrable 
links with partners. 

2.2 Number of rapid response interventions resulting 
in a real saving to consumers. 

96 /£380k 100 /£150k Savings based on 
average savings since 
2002. 

2.3 Number of test purchase operations to detect the 
sale of age restricted products. 

15 10 Reduction subject to 
business support 
project. 

2.4 Number of judicial disposals in relation to traders 
causing consumer detriment. 

103 100 Prosecutions, formal 
cautions, assurances 
and warnings. 

2.5 Number of educational talks to consumer groups. 38 30 Likely to target 
partners as a priority. 

 

Page 125



 

 4

 

Public Protection and Safety Portfolio Plan 2012 – 2013 
 

Service Area: Food, Safety and Licensing  

Service Lead: Paul Lehane E-Mail: paul.lehane@bromley.gov.uk 

 

Service Outline: 

 
The main aim of the food, safety & licensing team is to support Bromley businesses to provide safe & 
healthy food, workplaces and standards of animal health & welfare and to operate with the appropriate 
licences and permissions. 
 

2012 – 2013  Priorities: 

 
Food and Health & Safety function 

• Undertake planned risk based inspections 

• Provide an appropriate response to complaints, work related accidents and cases / outbreaks of 
infectious disease.   

Licensing function  

• Administer the statutory licensing schemes delegated to the Public Protection Division to provide a 
high quality, effective, timely and cost effective service.  

Enforce licensing conditions and investigate complaints relating to unlicensed activity.     
 

Measuring Success: 

 Target 
 

2011/2012 
Baseline 

2012/2013 
Target 

Comment 

3.1 Run the Best Bar None scheme in house for up to 
30 businesses. 

18 Up to 30   

3.2 Produce 4 editions of Business Matters. 
 

0 4  

3.3 Develop and implement a pilot project to support 
small businesses who may be subject to late night 
violence. 

 Up to 20  
businesses in 
1 ward. 

 

3.4 Provide support for small food businesses through 
free Safer Food Better Business (SFBB) Workshops 
– and free SFBB coaching visits to zero and one 
hygiene-rated businesses - under the national Food 
Hygiene Rating Scheme (FHRS). 

9 12 SFBB  
workshops  
(8 Plus 4 by  
FSA grant).   
30 SFBB  
coaching visits  
(funded by FSA  
grant). 

 

3.5 Reduce the number of businesses scoring Zero 
under the Food Hygiene Rating Scheme based on 
the ratings at 1 April 2012. 
Target a minimum of two visits at each business 
with a FHRS score of Zero. Business whose scores 
remain unchanged will be subject to formal action in 
keeping with the enforcement policy. 

Zero Star 
95% 
 
 

2 inspections 
leading to 75% 
improvement in 
FHRS score or  
appropriate 
enforcement. 
 

 

3.6 Pilot the investigation of campylobacter food 
poisoning in high risk groups. 
 

N/A 25% of high risk  
cases 

 

 

Page 126



 

 5

 

Public Protection and Safety Portfolio Plan 2012 – 2013 
 

Service Area: Environmental Protection 

Service Lead: Jim McGowan E-Mail: jim.mcgowan@bromley.gov.uk 

 

Service Outline: 

 
The Environmental Protection and Housing Improvement service ensures that environmental and quality 
standards are maintained relating to air quality, water quality, drainage, land contamination, stray/abandoned 
dogs and pest control.  The service also manages Bromley’s Housing Improvement Services (disabled 
facility grants and empty property programme), CCTV service and Bromley’s element of the Coroners 
service. 
 

2012 – 2013  Priorities: 

 
Coroner and Mortuary Services – To re tender the contract for Bromley’s mortuary services and achieve 
best value for money. To consolidate the move for all of the Coroners Service into the Bromley Civic Centre. 
Scientific services – Consolidate and expand the service for the investigation and reporting on asbestos in 
LBB properties and develop the related income generation services into the private sector.  
Drainage and Pest Control – to tender the service for pest control in conjunction with LB Bexley providing a 
joint contract, achieving the best value for money.  To carry out all investigations and enforcement in relation 
to pest control and drainage problems on private land. 
Stray & Abandoned dogs. To re tender the service in order to achieve best value for money for the service 
and to find and develop a site to build and run a kennel for Bromley, in conjunction with a contractor and 
other Local Authorities  
Emergency Planning – to set up a system of cover and reporting to meet the demands of the 2012 
Olympics. 
CCTV – to set up a system and procedures for income generation from the mobile CCTV systems in 
conjunction with local Registered Social Landlords and to introduce joint contracts and management 
systems with London Borough of Lewisham for the operation of a joint CCTV service. 
 

Measuring Success: 

 Target 2011/2012 
Baseline 

2012/2013 
Target 

Comment 

4.1 Retender the contract for the Bromley mortuary 
services. 

n/a 
 
 

December 
2012 
 

 

4.2 Set up a joint service and contract for pest control 
for the Boroughs of Bromley and Bexley. 
 

n/a  July 2012  

4.3 To find and develop a site to build and run a kennel 
for the Bromley stray dogs service. 
 

n/a March 2013  

4.4 To set up a service for the delivery of mobile CCTV 
surveillance and sound insulation testing for 
Registered Social Landlords. 
 

n/a Ongoing 
2012/13 

 

 

Page 127



 

 6

 

Public Protection and Safety Portfolio Plan 2012 – 2013 
 

Service Area: Community Safety and Anti Social Behaviour Team 

Service Lead: Colin Newman E-Mail: colin.newman@bromley.gov.uk 

 

Service Outline: 
 

It is very important to acknowledge the Portfolio’s role in making the Borough a safer place.  The Portfolio 
Holder for Public Protection and Safety plays a vital role in ensuring that the Council delivers firm and 
decisive leadership in reducing crime and disorder.  Moreover, the Portfolio Holder’s role as Chairman of 
the Safer Bromley Partnership ensures delivery and accountability in the Partnership’s key targets of 
reducing crime and disorder. 
 

2012 – 2013 Priorities: 

We are proud of the progress that has been made in reducing levels of recorded crime across the 
borough but, as the challenges of increases in acquisitive crime demonstrate, we cannot afford to be 
complacent in our work to maintain reductions in crime and disorder.  We remain committed to a 
programme of work that will secure continued reductions in levels of crime.  We will work with our partners 
committed to secure continued improvements and reductions in levels of crime and anti social behaviour.  
In particular we are committed to delivering reductions in crimes against the person, a reduction in crimes 
against property and a reduction in the levels of anti social behaviour and disturbance caused within 
communities. 
 

As a Portfolio, we acknowledge the fact that anti-social behaviour plays a significant part in people’s 
perception of safety and we remain committed to addressing the types of behaviour that gives rise to 
concern.  We will continue to make effective use of the legislative options available to us such as Anti-Social 
Behaviour Orders and Acceptable Behaviour Commitments and we are confident that we are well placed to 
respond to anticipated changes in legislation.  
 

Fear of being a victim of crime or anti-social behaviour can have a very serious affect on quality of life. We 
and our partners aim to ensure people can go about their day to day lives free from concerns about their 
safety. 
 

Measuring Success: 

 Target 2011/2012 
Baseline 

2012/2013
Target 

Comment 

5.1 Reduce number of most serious violent crimes per 
1,000 population. 

0.78 0.76 2% reduction on 
2011/2012 figures 

5.2 Reduce number of serious acquisitive crimes 
(including robbery and burglary) per 1,000 
population. 

23.02 22.79 1% reduction on  
2011/2012 figures 

5.3 Maintain conviction rate for Domestic Abuse in 
cases managed by Domestic Abuse Advocates. 

63.7% 63%  

5.4 Percentage of applications for ASBOs made to 
court resulting in ASBO imposed. 

98% 95%  

5.5 Ensure that 90% of young people referred are 
matched with an appropriate mentor within 3 
weeks of referral. 

n/a 90%  

5.6 Deliver a minimum of four multi agency operations 
to ensure the legal and appropriate management of 
licensed premises within the borough. 

n/a 4  

 

Page 128



 

 7

 

Public Protection and Safety Portfolio Plan 2012 – 2013 
 

Service Area: Partnership and Cross Portfolio Issues 

Service Lead: Colin Newman E-Mail: colin.newman@bromley.gov.uk 
 

Service Outline: 
 

Working in close cooperation with our lead partners ensures that the Public Protection and Safety Portfolio 
remains at the forefront of making Bromley a safer place.  Our priorities and focus for action extend across 
a wide remit of issues such as keeping young people safe, safeguarding vulnerable adults and providing 
excellent services to reduce the harm caused by substance misuse.   
 

The Portfolio has a key responsibility in engaging with and overseeing a range of partnership activity and, 
in many cases, holding delivery agents responsible for their activity.  Examples of these priority areas 
included reducing anti-social behaviour, reducing offending amongst young people and ensuring the 
safety and well-being of vulnerable adults who may be at risk of abuse. 
 

2012 – 2013 Priorities: 
 

The Portfolio Holder for Public Protection and Safety occupies a key role as the Chairman of the Safer 
Bromley Partnership Strategic Board.  The priorities for the Partnership in 2012/2013 continue to be: 
 

• Reducing levels of anti-social behaviour. 

• Reducing levels of crimes against the person. 

• Reducing levels of crimes against property. 

• Increasing public confidence in the work of the Partnership to reduce crime and disorder. 
 

The Council has a key role in leading on these developments and in generating meaningful partnerships 
with other key agencies to ensure delivery of these common priorities. 
Clearly, each member of the Partnership brings different skills, formal powers, and levels of staffing in 
delivering these objectives.  One of the key achievements of the Partnership in recent years has been the 
expansion of contributions from individual partners that draws on the particular expertise and specialism in 
pursuit of commonly agreed goals.  The challenge for the future is for each partner agency to look at its 
contribution and set challenges within their organisations to further build on reductions in crime levels 
across the borough. 
 

Measuring Success: 

 Target 2011/2012 
Baseline 

2012/2013
Target 

Comment 

6.1 Reduce year on year by 2% the number of first 
time entrants to youth justice system 

51% 
reduction 

2% 
reduction 

 

6.2 Reduce the number of young people within the 
Youth Justice System receiving a conviction in 
Court who are sentenced to custody. 

7% 5%  

6.3 Increase the number of Problematic Drug Users in 
effective treatment. 

420 TBC  

6.4 Percentage of problematic drug users who 
completed treatment successfully and in a planned 
way. 

40% TBC  

6.5 Increase the number of participants in London 
Borough of Bromley Domestic Abuse Training for 
professionals. 

n/a 350  

 

Page 129



Page 130

This page is left intentionally blank



Safer Bromley Community Champions are true local 
heroes, and we salute them!

Champions boost
community spirit

They always go that extra mile, perhaps 

giving up valuable free time in order to make 

Bromley even safer and ever more special for 

the rest of us.

The people we’re talking about may belong 

to a local residents group or sit on a safer 

neighbourhood panel, friends group, lead a 

scouts group, coach sport, or work for one 

of the key agencies that make up the Safer 

Bromley Partnership.

Whatever their role, they’re often ordinary 

people doing extraordinary things that help 

make Bromley a really great place to live, 

relax and do business.

Once a year the Partnership thanks publicly 

these untiring volunteers through the Safer 

Bromley Awards. The Partnership values 

everyone’s contribution. Get involved in your 

neighbourhood today … and you could be a 

champion of tomorrow!

Beat the rogue traders 
If you see anything suspicious or are 
targeted yourself contact the Trading 
Standards team straight away.

Trading Standards rapid response 
07903 852090

Tried and trusted 
The Trader Register 
was set up by the Safer 
Bromley Partnership to 
help you fi nd a suitable 
local trader. Those 
registered have committed 
to offering excellent standards of work 
and customer service. 

Visit www.traderregister.org.uk

Neighbourhood Watch

Check out your local ‘watch’, or join 
the growing band of volunteers in your 
neighbourhood or simply discover what 
you can do in your area. Visit: www.
ourwatch.org.uk

Bromley Police
now Tweeting 
A new Twitter feed from Bromley Police can 
keep you in touch with policing of the borough 
with new information going out during the 
daytime. 

Local borough Twitter accounts have been set 
up to inform the public of Metropolitan Police 
related news. 

Topics covered will include: operational updates, 
appeals for information and advice on protecting 
yourself. But please do not try to report crime 
using Twitter. 

Bromley Police - @MPSBromley

Proud of the 
Partnership
At the end of an 
eventful year 
as Partnership 
Chairman I look back 
with pride at the many 
successes we have 
achieved – together.

We made good 
progress around the priorities I set 
a year ago. I introduced a campaign 
to help older people feel safer. We’ve 
cracked down on antisocial behaviour 
– noise, drugs and underage drinking. 
We’re also helping young people make 
the right choices in life.

Looking ahead, I’m delighted to 
announce a programme of events for 
young people right through the summer. 
Watch out for the fun in a park near you!

Cllr Tim Stevens
Chairman, Safer Bromley Partnership

The Safer Bromley Partnership 
includes Bromley Council, Police, Fire 
Service, Health, Probation and Housing 
Associations working together to keep 
Bromley safe

Safer Bromley News – 
if you’d like to receive our 
e-newsletter please email 
community.safety@bromley.gov.uk 

Who to contact – useful 
websites and numbers
Bromley Police
Find contact numbers for 
Bromley Police’s Safer Neighbourhood 
Teams www.met.police.uk/bromley 

Bromley Community Engagement Forum 
holds the Partnership to account for 
community safety. Visit www.bcef.org.uk

Bromley Council 
You can now report, apply and pay for 
more online, visit www.bromley.gov.uk

Keep up with events, follow us on 
 @LBofBromley

Bromley Fire Brigade Advice
Details of fi re safety precautions and fi nd 
out about fi re safety visits 
www.london-fi re.gov.uk

Golden rules 

Don’t give out personal information such 
as your address or phone number

Don’t open emails or attachments from 
people you don’t know

Don’t become ‘friends’ on social media 
with people you don’t know

Make sure you have appropriate privacy 
settings

Never arrange to meet in person 
someone who you’ve met online

If anything you see or read online worries 
you, report it.

Advice on internet safety is at 
www.safe.met.police.uk

Combating 

online bullies

Advice from the 
Safer Bromley Partnership 
Top tips to safeguard you and your family

Remember: always lock your UPVC doors from the inside to 
be completely secure. Burglars fi nd ways to push the handle 
and enter your house if you don’t take this precaution every 
time you close the door. You should close the door, pull the 
handle up and then use the 
key to lock the handle in place. 

Don’t forget to make sure you know where the key is should 
you need to leave the house in an emergency, but store them 
out of sight.

Our top tips to help beat the burglars:

•  Mark or etch property with your postcode, house number 
or fi rst three letters of your house name.

• Register items with a serial number at: 
 www.immobilise.com

• Don’t leave car keys near doors, letterbox or windows

•   Always check who’s at the door, don’t open it if you feel 
anxious

•  Close and lock all doors and windows, even if you go out 
for a few minutes

• Keep your valuables out of sight

• Leave some lights on if it will be dark before you get home

• Install a visible burglar alarm

• Always keep sheds and outbuildings locked

•  Cancel deliveries such as milk if you are away for any 
length of time.

Safe as houses 

Have you been a victim of burglary or feel at risk 
of a break-in? Victim Support may be able to 
help. You could benefi t from a visit by the Safer 
Bromley Van to survey your home and provide 
crime prevention advice.

The project is sponsored by the Safer Bromley 
Partnership and managed by Victim Support. 
The van can provide Bromley residents with 
advice on door and window security for their 
homes.  

Please call 
020 8776 7071 
to fi nd out more. 

news
News and information from the Safer Bromley Partnership    Summer 2012

A
genda Item

 16b

P
age 131



Want to mentor?

Jenny is among a growing band of 
volunteers who  – with support from the 
Safer Bromley Partnership – have much to 
offer young people. Visit 
www.bromleyebp.org.uk for more 
information or email 
ebp.admin@bromley.gov.uk

Bromley Police are cracking down on burglary. A dedicated 

Burglary Squad working with local Safer Neighbourhood 

teams, forensic squads, and rapid entry teams are investigating 

burglaries, monitoring the activities of known burglars to both 

prevent further occurrences and to catch perpetrators. This will 

involve increased policing patrols, especially in the areas that 

are experiencing high numbers of burglaries.

However, don’t forget that many break-ins are opportunistic 

– an open window easily accessed or an unobserved side 

entrance are signs that you are not at home and, surprisingly, 

UPVC doors not correctly and securely locked. Taking a few 

simple precautions can help prevent your home becoming 

another burglary statistic. You’ll fi nd more help and advice on 

our back page.

Older people in Bromley will perhaps feel 
a little safer as a result of an enjoyable 
afternoon spent at the Ma Kelly theatre 
production, courtesy of the Safer Bromley 
Partnership.

A dramatised production demonstrates 
how easy it could be to be conned by 
unscrupulous traders calling at your door. 
But wily old Ma Kelly is wise to the ways of 
the criminals and knows that honest people 
will not mind waiting, giving her time to 
check their credentials.

The production reached several audiences 
totalling more than 300 people in Bromley 
borough and more productions are planned. 

You are not alone
Domestic abuse is not just violence and 
can affect anyone regardless of age, gender 
or sexuality. Many survivors believe there 
is nowhere to turn, or are too ashamed to 
speak up, and some individuals experience 
up to 30 violent assaults before getting the 
help they need.

No-one should have to experience 
domestic abuse. Help is at hand through 
Bromley Council, the Police and specialist 
organisations. For advice call Victim Support 
on 020 8776 7071, text 07963 479 602 
or contact Bromley Women’s Aid on 
020 8313 9303 or visit 
www.bromley.gov.uk/domesticabuse

Relaxing over a drink in one of Bromley’s 
fully-licensed pubs, clubs or restaurants is 
a great way to spend an evening with family 
or friends.

Or you might pick up a bottle from an off-
licence to share later on.

Sensible drinking helps everyone to enjoy 
themselves. However, alcohol can cause 
problems for drinkers themselves and 
others in the community, and that is why our 
licensing laws are in place. They promote 
proper management of premises and help 
protect everyone from alcohol related crime 
and disorder.

Bromley Council and Police regularly visit 
pubs, newsagents, off-licences and  shops 
to ensure that licence conditions are met 
and alcohol is not sold to young people. They 
take a tough line on problem premises and 
antisocial behaviour. At the same time they 
check that other age restricted products 
such as knives and cigarettes are not 
crossing the counter into the wrong hands.

If you become aware of under-age sales call 
020 8313 4785. Or if you suspect the terms 
of a licence are being broken, call 020 8464 
3333 in confi dence and ask for ‘Licensing’.

A friend indeed
Mentoring for Bromley means 
befriending a young person who can 
profi t from your knowledge and wisdom. 
Mentors themselves also gain from the 
experience. 

Jenny Wait has mentored for Bromley for 
more than 10 years.

You could talk to her for hours. However, 
her soothing voice and calm demeanour 
mask a steely determination to improve 
the life chances of young people.

A good conversationalist, Jenny is an 
even better listener. This, plus her ability 
to mete out ‘tough love’ when required, 
made her a perfect candidate for Bromley 
Council’s team of volunteer mentors.

Like a proud parent Jenny talks of one 
lad she mentored for many years. “I stuck 
by him through thick and thin,” she says. 
“Now he has left school and shown he 
can hold down a job, and with a steady 
girlfriend by his side things are looking 
up.”

So what’s the secret? “I never ask 
questions about family, but concentrate 
on what the young person can achieve,” 
Jenny explains. “I convince them they can 
do well, and try to provide a cornerstone 
in lives that can sometimes be chaotic.

“I’m more a friend, not an offi cial. I 
offer them potential, not punishment. I 
ask what they want out of life – a good 
job, nice car, to be healthy and safe. 
This is where I can really identify with 
them, recounting what I’ve been through 
myself.”

Her main 
‘mentee’ has 
now moved 
on, and Jenny 
is starting 
again with a 
new group of 
teenagers. 
They will be 
fortunate to 
number her 
among their 
friends! 

 

Bully off 
Bromley’s Youth Council Chair listened 
intently during a lively debate on bullying with 
the emphasis on the ‘new kid on the block’ – 
cyber bullying.

More than a third of the young people 
present, who were chosen to represent their 
schools in recent youth elections, admitted 
to having been bullied in this way. Few report 
their experiences, citing not knowing who 
to turn to and fear of reprisals as the key 
reasons. It also emerged that young people 
are less  aware of social media privacy 
settings than  might be expected. 

Bullying is the number one priority for 
the Youth Council and the main topic of 
discussion at this fi rst event. The Youth 
Council plans to work up proposals on how to 
help tackle cyber bullying in the borough.

Turn to the back page for advice on online 
safety. 

Fired up for Life

Young people sometimes need help to 
make the right choices in life and that’s 
the focus of an innovative programme run 
by Bromley Fire Brigade. 

Students from local schools are put 
through their paces as trainee fi re fi ghters 
in an intensive fi ve-day ‘Life programme’ 
designed to give them life skills that will 
help them into adulthood. 

Taking responsibility for the management 
and maintenance of a fi re engine, fi re 
fi ghting equipment, the fi re station and 
their own personal protective equipment, 
the young people have the opportunity to 
work together and fi nally demonstrate 
their achievements to family and friends. 
As well as the hands-on experience of 
working as a team, they also take part 
in lively workshops on fi re safety, fi rst 
aid and the consequences of deliberately 
starting fi res.

Lock up to beat the burglars 
Bromley is a very safe place to live and work and crime is generally low. 
However, from time to time a particular type of crime begins to escalate and 
right now it’s burglary! 

Remember:  UPVC doors can be easily opened from the 
outside if they are not locked with the key from the inside!

Picture courtesy of ATTIC Theatre Company 020 8640 6800, 

email: info@attictheatrecompany.com or visit 

www.attictheatrecompany.com

Ma Kelly’s doorstep wisdom
Bromley Trading Standards was one of the fi rst  
teams in the UK to recognise the important 
role local banks play in protecting older and 
vulnerable adults from doorstep crime. For the 
past 10 years they have maintained relationships 
with all the banks and building societies in the 
borough through annual visits with training 
events and useful keepsakes detailing the 
rapid response service provided by the team. 
The protocol encourages bank staff to look 
out for signs of older customers who may be 
victims of scams or frauds, in particular when 

they are seeking to withdraw large amounts 
of cash. Last year the banks’ protocol was 
relaunched to remind all bank staff to call 
Trading Standards immediately if they suspect a 
customer is a victim of a fraud. In the past year 
alone, 18 referrals from banks have resulted in 
direct savings of £135,000 belonging to elderly 
residents and prison sentences for convicted 
perpetrators.

Trading Standards Rapid Response 

07903 852090

Banking on success
Anyone can fi nd themselves a victim of bogus callers and doorstep rogue traders, 
but many older and vulnerable adults are often easier prey for these criminals. 
Rogue traders and bogus callers demand large amounts of money for unnecessary 
repairs or shoddy workmanship. Isolated and pressured into paying, these victims 
are often driven to their bank or building society or post offi ce to withdraw money 
or transfer it electronically. On some occasions this has led to them losing their life 
savings.

Help stop these wasters
Householders and businesses could 
inadvertently be at risk of prosecution and 
liable for fi nes of up to £5000, simply by 
choosing an illegal waste carrier or skip hire 
company to dispose of building rubble and 
other trade waste. 

The advice from Bromley Council is to ask for 
a waste carrier registration and check it with 
the Environment Agency. If they don’t produce 
it – don’t use them.

•  If you have information about this or 
fl y tipping, report it online at 
www.bromley.gov.uk

Jenny Wait (seated) with 
Bromley’s Mentoring Co-ordinator Jane Belding

Licensed to be safe

Summertime …

and the living is easy
The long days of summer can seem a bit too 
long for some young people who have run out of 
things to do. 

This year Bromley Youth Support Programme 
is working with the Safer Bromley Partnership 
to host nearly 60 different activities and sports 
spread across every single area of the borough. 
While not every event will be available in every 
location, there should be something to interest 
most people close to their homes. The fun 

begins at the end of July and 
goes on right through to 

early September with 
activities ranging from 
sports to more unusual 

events involving space 
hoppers and BMX 
bikes. For those 
interested in arts 

and crafts, jewellery-
making might appeal 

or a visit to the 
music bus.

Don’t miss out. 
Details of times 

and locations are 
being fi nalised right 

now, so watch Bromley 
Council’s website for more 
information. 

P
age 132



BCEF YOUTH CONFERENCE – FRIDAY 23 MARCH 2012 

 

The BCEFs 4
th

 annual Youth Conference was held on Friday 23 March 2012, to which all LBB 

Secondary Schools were invited to send six of their Year 8 students to attend.  The event was held at 

the Education Development Centre in Princes Plain, Bromley.  12 Schools attended - 72 students. 

On the agenda for the young people and their teachers were three workshops focussing on Mutual 

Respect, Cyber Bullying and Alcohol Awareness, along with an opportunity for attendees to 

question the Boroughs top leaders from Policing, Fire and the Council on a variety of issues and gain 

an understanding about how decisions are made.  

The subjects raised in the question and answer session ranged from reasons/causes for police 

arrests; body piercing legislation in the borough; affordable or free activities for young people to 

keep them off the streets such as a skate park; better street lighting; youth involvement in decision 

making by getting involved in youth panels.  Students also queried why when schools finish early for 

half day security staff prohibit them entering some of Bromley’s shops.   

Our thanks to the following people for their help on the day:  Ian Smith, Brenda Thompson, 

Mahmood, Nell Riehl, Michael and Joy Lever, Alf and Linda Kennedy, Jennie Clark, Julian Hurst, 

Amanda Evans and everyone mentioned below:  

 

The facilitators were:  

 

Mutual Respect workgroup - Danie Gordon  and Charles Fisher from  Bromley Youth Support   

Alcohol Awareness Workshop - Jason Carty from KCA Bromley Young Persons' Alcohol and 

Substance Service  

Cyber Bullying workshop - PS Ian Mann’s Team (Bromley Youth Partnership Unit)  – PC Dean 

Stanhope, PC Julia Carter, PC Sophia Walker  

The Conference is dependent on the part the facilitators play in encouraging the students to fully 

engage in the activities and we thank them for their help and support.  They are key to the success 

of the day. 

The VIP Panel for youths to ask questions were:  Cllr Stephen Carr (leader of the council), Chief 

Superintendent Steph Roberts (Police), Cllr Tim Stephens (Portfolio Holder for Community Safety), 

Graham Elder (Fire Brigade), Ray Bell (Street Pastors), Elaine Beadle (Road Safety), Laurie Grasty 

(Environmental Health), Dave Prebble (Police - Borough Partnership Manager)    

 

Our thanks to everyone involved in making this event so successful. 

 

Borough Commander Steph Roberts: Our young people are enthusiastic, energetic and care about 

their future and the Youth Conference was a fantastic opportunity to ensure that their voice 

is heard. The question and answer session at the end of the day was a chance for our 

young residents to discuss the issues that they feel impacts on their every day lives with leaders 

from across the borough.  It was an absolute delight to be able to do this with them. 

  

Ian Smith, BCEF Chairman:   All the students were an absolute credit to their schools and fully 

participated in all the workgroups – we were all very impressed with their involvement.  The 

students took the opportunity to ask questions to some of Bromley’s leaders at the end of the day 

and we will ensure their questions will be followed up.  Thank you to everyone who participated.   

Agenda Item 16c

Page 133



The Aim of the Youth Conference:  

· Workgroup topics reflect student/school concerns and through an open question session 

with partner representatives further issues are addressed.  

· To raise awareness amongst young people of important community safety issues  

· To encourage young people to pass on the day’s messages to their peers.  

 

Feedback: 

 

Glebe School: 

The students that represented Glebe school at the conference on Friday, have just finished 

presenting their issues, that they raised, and the feed back that they received from the VIP panel to 

the whole school. 

It was extremely encouraging for the students and staff to learn of the upcoming activities booked 

for the summer and the various initiatives throughout the borough that were being addressed. 

One student was  gratified that his issues in his road were acted upon so promptly. 

The students ended the assembly with a message that outlined the whole day ,which was that the 

concerns and the voice of the young people in the borough of Bromley were listened too and acted 

upon by Bromley council.  

Best regards  

Anne Woolsey 

Transition Coordinator 

 

Bullerswood School: 

 

One of our students has written a diary entry of the day and it is going to be put with a photo of the 

students in the Bullers Bulletin which will be available in hard copy and online. 

 

A student  ended the day by saying “I definitely agree that I had a great time there and I wanted to 

come there for next year”. 

 

I gave the students certificates in assembly to recognise their involvement and excellent behaviour 

and spoke about the day. 

 

Thank you for including us. 

 

Karen Lubbock 

 

 

PTO  for the day’s questionnaire findings  

Page 134



BROMLEY YOUTH CONFERENCE 23 MARCH 2012 

QUESTIONNAIRE  (71 questionnaires completed) 

1.    Did you find today useful                Yes        No  

  71          0 

2.    Were you happy with the 3 workgroups: 

  Cyber Bullying          61              8      

  Mutual Respect              69              2      

  Drug Awareness            57              7      

 3.      Are there any other workgroups you would have liked us to include?    

   Yes        No  

    15              52      

(if yes, please specify): 

Peer pressure (12) 

Abuse in the home (2) 

Road safety (3) 

4.  If you could change anything about today, what would it be? 

More interaction in the workgroups (17) 

Make the day longer (6) 

Half day rather than full day (4) 

 

5. Do you feel drunk and rowdy behaviour is a problem in Bromley? 

   Yes        No  

    45              22        

6. If you had a choice, what problem area would you like the Police or Council to deal 

with?  

 

Anti social behaviour (55);  

trouble on buses  (18); 7 specified  Saturdays & after school ; 3 specified route 358; 1 specified 227; 

Police and Glades security guards to be more approachable to young people (6)  

Better street lighting (3) 

Page 135



Page 136

This page is left intentionally blank



111

Bromley

Borough Commander’s

Newsletter
June 2012

1111111111111111111111111 1111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111 11111111111111111111111111111 1111111111111

TOTAL POLICING

Welcome to June’s newsletter.

Preparations are in their final stages as the Metropolitan Police Service readies itself to police the Queen’s
Diamond Jubilee at the start of June, followed by the arrival of the Olympic Torch in London on 21 July and
then the Olympic Games. Across London however, normal policing will continue with officers on patrol and
responding to calls from the public.

If you are intending to travel into London for the Diamond Jubilee Celebrations or the Olympics, there is plenty
of safety advice and general information available on the Metropolitan Police Service’s website
www.met.police.uk to assist you. You can also receive free community updates via the MPS’s Neighbourhood
Link community messaging service and I urge you to sign up to receive these messages. Neighbourhood link
provides news and information about policing activity or initiatives, crime prevention advice and major incidents,
both pan-London and locally to your own borough. Registration is free and easy to follow, so please visit
www.neighbourhoodlink.met.police.uk and sign up.

Last month was a busy month with the Queen’s first visit to Bromley since 1986 as part of her Diamond Jubilee
celebrations, along with the MPS Commissioner Bernard Hogan-Howe visiting a number of venues across the
borough before holding his evening Roadshow for residents to hear his vision for policing London and ask
questions of him.

I also held my Borough Commander’s Commendation ceremony, where sixteen Police Officers, Police Staff
and members of the public from Bromley were honoured for their acts of professionalism, teamwork, bravery,
courage and dedication to duty.

This month again we’ve had some fantastic results, making some great arrests in respect of burglaries and
robberies. The suspects are currently making their way through the Criminal Justice System. One case that
has now gone through the Courts concerns a number of men arrested as part of Bromley Police’s Operation
Alkes, an operation set up to target Class A drug dealers in the Penge and Beckenham areas of the borough.
Sixteen men have been sentenced to in excess of 45 years imprisonment after being caught supplying drugs to
undercover police officers. A great result!

Finally, as no doubt you are aware, the Olympic torch relay has begun and our Torch Security Team are
protecting it as it travels around the country. This marks the beginning of our Olympic operations which will see
officers and staff work incredibly hard and show the World just how good a police service we are. The Team will
be arriving in London with the torch on 21st July and on Monday 23rd July it passes through the borough of
Bromley. One of our Bromley officers – Sergeant Alex Baldwin – is part of the team and making this once in a
lifetime opportunity even more special, he’ll be celebrating his birthday whilst protecting the torch. You can
read more about Alex in next month’s newsletter, to tie in with the torch arriving in the capital.

Steph Roberts
Borough Commander

Agenda Item 16d

Page 137



22 2

Bromley

Borough Commander’s

Newsletter
June 2012

22222222222222222222 22222222222222222222222222222222222222222222222222222222222 222222222222222222222222222222222222222222222222222222222222222222222222222222222222 222222222222222222222222222222222222222222222 222222222222222

TOTAL POLICING

Sixteen jailed for 45 years after undercover drugs operation

Sixteen men have been sentenced to in excess of 45 years imprisonment after being caught supplying drugs in
an undercover police operation.

The men, aged between 18 and 44, were arrested as part of our Operation Alkes, an operation set up to target
Class A drug dealers in the Penge and Beckenham areas of the borough.

In total sixteen people were arrested and charged with offences relating to supplying controlled drugs and
firearms offences. 1 Kg MDMA crystal (street value £40,000), 250 rocks of Crack Cocaine (street value £2,500),
1050 wraps of cocaine (street value £52,500), one handgun, ammunition, sawn off shotgun and a CS canister
were recovered, along with £10,000 cash.

The message that we’re sending out is clear and unequivocal: Bromley Police are committed to tackling those
people involved in the supply of illegal drugs and will continue to target such offenders and proactively seek to
disrupt their criminality. If you sell drugs in Bromley, prepare to be arrested at any time.

Page 138



333

Bromley

Borough Commander’s

Newsletter
June 2012

3333333333333333333333333333 33333333333333333333333333333333333333333333333333333333333333333 33333333333333333333333333333333 333333333333333

TOTAL POLICING

The Queen’s visit to Bromley

The Queen was given a wonderful welcome when she visited Bromley on 15 May, as crowds of well wishers
lined the streets for her first visit to Bromley since 1986.

Around 30,000 people turned out, despite the weather. Our police cadets were out in force, assisting officers
with controlling the crowds. Happily there were no arrests during the visit, it all passed off very peacefully and
was a very memorable day for everyone involved.

War on economic crime launched

At the end of May we held an operation tackling financial crime against businesses and the public, as part of the
latest operation in our Total War on Crime.

Operation Stimtone was the largest day of action the MPS has ever put together focussing on economic crime.
Over 300 separate operations took place across London throughout the day to target those involved in money
laundering, identity fraud, handling stolen goods, conspiracy to defraud and those who target the vulnerable and
elderly sections of our community.

People who steal from businesses or their employers are also on our radar and can expect a visit from officers.

Economic crime costs businesses and the taxpayers of London tens of millions of pounds every year. We are all
victims of this type of crime - either directly as victims of theft or fraud, or indirectly through higher prices in
shops, higher insurance premiums and taxes to cover the cost of what is being stolen. It affects all law-abiding
members of the public.

Over the last few years there has been a massive growth in online business. Many people routinely order
products over the internet. As technology has advanced, criminals have found new ways to steal and get their
hands on expensive goods. The MPS will be working closely with the British Retail Consortium to catch and
arrest people who hijack online shopping accounts for their own gain.

Operation Stimtone is about taking the profit out of crime and letting criminals know that, together with partners,
the MPS will pursue them to recover their criminal gains.

In the last 12 months alone the MPS seized over £15 million in cash from criminals. We have successfully
obtained proceeds of crime restraint orders to stop criminals from hiding or disposing of assets worth in excess
of £61 million. Following successful convictions, secured confiscation orders from courts have also totalled in
excess of £28 million; these are orders saying that criminals have to give up monies and assets gained through
their crimes.

We are determined to make sure crime does not pay but criminals do. We want to show communities criminals
who comfortably live off the proceeds of their crimes are being brought to justice.

Page 139



44 4

Bromley

Borough Commander’s

Newsletter
June 2012

44444444444444444444 44444444444444444444444444444444444444444444444444444444444 444444444444444444444444444444444444444444444444444444444444444444444444444444444444 444444444444444444444444444444444444444444444 444444444444444

TOTAL POLICING

Commissioner’s Bromley Roadshow

On 16th May residents from across Bromley were able to meet the Commissioner, Bernard Hogan-Howe, and
question him about what was happening in the Met as well as in our borough.

Residents heard first hand from the Commissioner about his vision for policing in London at an evening
Roadshow. He then spent over an hour addressing questions from the public which ranged from Safer
Neighbourhood officer numbers to how the Olympics would effect policing in their boroughs. The feedback
from those attending the event has been very positive, with people commenting that the event was well worth
attending and a good opportunity to find out what the police are doing in their borough.

Throughout the day the Commissioner had attended a programme of events across Bromley, meeting residents
and school children for informal chats. The Commissioner started off at the Charles Darwin School, taking the
time to hear the issues that most concerned the pupils and which impacted on their everyday lives. He had an
interesting conversation with a group of pupils from the School who asked challenging questions regarding the
Olympics, last summer’s disorder, dispersal zones, the Met-Track athletics scheme, budget cuts, privatisation of
police services, protecting celebrities and the relationship between the police and young people.

Page 140



555

Bromley

Borough Commander’s

Newsletter
June 2012

55555555555555555555555555555555555555555555 555555555555555555555555555555555555555555555555555555 55555555555555555555555555555 55555555555555

TOTAL POLICING

The Commissioner next attended Ringlands Riding Stables in Darwin ward, at a Saddle and Tack marking
event to see firsthand the local police team’s innovative solution to deal with the theft of saddles and other tack
in the area. This gave the Commissioner a chance to see how we address people’s real life local issues around
crime in the more rural wards of the capital.

The Commissioner then moved on to the Glebe Housing Association’s Adams Hall in West Wickham to speak
to some of the borough’s older residents. The Commissioner gave an enthusiastic audience his views on Total
Policing and Total Victim Care, and told them that that he hoped to replicate the crime successes that he had
whilst in charge on Merseyside across London whilst serving as MPS Commissioner.

Throughout the day there was a great range of questions asked of the Commissioner and the level of
interaction at the venues he attended across Bromley was fantastic. The Commissioner’s message that that he
wants a total war on crime making the Metropolitan Police the best Police Service was very well received by
everyone we spoke with.

The Commissioner stated "Meeting Londoners face to face is very important to me and supports my vision for
better communication with communities. I'm looking forward to continuing the events across the boroughs and
making myself accessible to more of London's residents."

Page 141



66 6

Bromley

Borough Commander’s

Newsletter
June 2012

6666666666666666666 666666666666666666666666666666666666666666666666666666666 66666666666666666666666666666666666666666666666666666666666666666666666666666666666 6666666666666666666666666666666666666666666 666666666666666

TOTAL POLICING

Commendation Ceremony

This month I honoured sixteen people from Bromley for their acts of professionalism, teamwork, bravery,
courage and dedication to duty my Borough Commander’s Commendation Ceremony.

Six officers were commended for their involvement in an undercover operation targeting drug dealers in the
Penge and Beckenham areas of Bromley, which resulted in the arrest of the nine people, along with the
recovery of 13 Kilos of Amphetamine, 50 rocks of Crack Cocaine, 150 wraps of Heroin and 10 wraps of
Cocaine - with a combined street value of £155,150 - and £33,000 cash. Prison sentences totalling in excess
of twenty seven years have been handed down the nine people arrested.

Two officers were commended for apprehending a naked drug dealer armed with a shotgun, during which one
officer suffered a broken rib.

One officer was commended for an investigation leading to violent armed burglar being captured and jailed.

Two members of public, a father and son, received a commendation for detaining two burglars they saw leaving
scene of burglary. Both burglars received significant custodial sentences. The grateful victim’s belongings were
recovered.

Four officers and a member of police staff received commendations for a complex investigation into a series of
burglaries against the elderly and vulnerable committed across Bromley and the Home Counties, which resulted
in the burglar being jailed for eight years and his accomplice wife for two years,

The Mayor of Bromley Councillor Michael Turner and myself commending Mr Mark Birch and his son
Joe, who detained two burglars they saw leaving the scene of a burglary in Bromley

Page 142



777

Bromley

Borough Commander’s

Newsletter
June 2012

777777777777777777777777777777777777777777777777777 7777777777777777777777777777777777777777777777777777777777777777777 77777777777777777777777777777777 7777777777777777

TOTAL POLICING Page 143



88 8

Bromley

Borough Commander’s

Newsletter
June 2012

8888888888888888888 8888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888 88888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888 88888888888888888888888888888888888888888888 88888888888888

TOTAL POLICING

Contact numbers for Bromley Police’s Safer Neighbourhood Teams

Bickley 07920 233 852
Biggin Hill 07880 783 736
Bromley Common & Keston 07920 233 855
Bromley Town 07887 826 502
Chelsfield & Pratts Bottom 07920 233 857
Chislehurst 07920 233 850
Clock House 07920 233 847
Copers Cope 07766 804 406
Cray Valley East 07880 788 942
Cray Valley West 07920 233 851
Crystal Palace 07920 233 858
Darwin 07920 233 859
Farnborough & Crofton 07920 233 856
Hayes & Coney Hall 020 8649 3548
Kelsey & Eden Park 07920 233 846
Mottingham & Chislehurst Nth 07880 781 483
Orpington 07766 804 412
Penge & Cator 07843 065 880
Petts Wood & Knoll 07920 233 853
Plaistow & Sundridge 07920 233 849
Shortlands 07920 233 848
West Wickham 07920 233 854

Internet Address: www.met.police.uk/bromley

Non emergency contact number 101 In an emergency always dial 999

Bromley Community Engagement Forum 020 8658 7168

***Sign up now to regularly receive information from the Police***

Neighbourhood Link

Neighbourhood Link is a free service that enables you to regularly receive information from the police about

crime and safety in the areas you sign up to. It will also be used by the Metropolitan Police Service to keep
you informed in the event of a major incident impacting on London.

To register please visit www.neighbourhoodlink.met.police.uk.

Page 144



Agenda Item 20

Page 145

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Page 184

This page is left intentionally blank


	Agenda
	3 MINUTES OF LAST MEETING / MATTERS ARISING
	6 PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT REPORT (FULL YEAR - 2011-2012)
	7 PERFORMANCE TARGETS 2012/2013
	8 A MULTI-AGENCY APPROACH TO TACKLING GANGS IN BROMLEY (PART 1)
	9 TACKLING TROUBLED FAMILIES PROGRAMME
	10 ARSON REDUCTION STRATEGY BROMLEY BOROUGH 2012
	11 PUTTING VICTIMS FIRST - MORE EFFECTIVE RESPONSES TO ANTI-SOCIAL BEHAVIOUR
	SBP 280612 Putting Victims First Appendix

	14 MAYOR'S OFFICE FOR POLICING AND CRIME GRANT 2012/2013
	SBP 280612 Mayors Office for Policing and Crime Grant 201213 Appendix

	16a LBB PUBLIC PROTECTION AND SAFETY PORTFOLIO PLAN 2012/2013
	16b NEWS SHOPPER SAFER BROMLEY PARTNERSHIP 'WRAP'
	16c BCEF YOUTH OUTREACH DAY REPORT
	16d BOROUGH COMMANDER NEWSLETTER
	20 A MULTI-AGENCY APPROACH TO TACKLING GANGS IN BROMLEY (PART 2 - EXEMPT)

